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Summary of Results

Scottish Re Group Limited (“SRGL”, the “Company”’wé&”, “our” and “us”) is a holding company
incorporated under the laws of the Cayman Islantts eur principal executive office in Bermuda.

For the year ended December 31, 2009, SRGL repoédncome attributable to ordinary shareholddrs o
$2,305.3 million, or $10.56 per diluted ordinaryash as compared to a net loss attributable tonardli
shareholders of $2,710.3 million, or ($39.63) piérted ordinary share, for the prior year period.

The $2,305.3 million of net income attributableaw@inary shareholders in 2009 was driven by théofahg
significant events:

Sale of the Company’s ING individual life reinsurare business to Hannover Re

The sale to Hannover Life Reassurance CompaAynerica (“Hannover (America)”) and its affilmHannover
Life Reassurance (Ireland) Limited (“Hannover @med)” and, together with Hannover (America), “HaneioRe”)
of the block of individual life reinsurance busieequired by the Company in 2004 from Securite laf Denver
Insurance Company (“SLD”) and Security Life of Denunternational Limited (“SLDI” and, together witBLD,
the “ING Companies”) was completed on FebruaryZim9, with an effective date of January 1, 200%ie ain
associated with the sale was principally attriblgab $1,468.7 million of assets transferred to htarer Re, offset
by $1,902.9 million release of reserves for fufpodicy benefits and $269.4 million decrease in ptiet liabilities.
The release of liabilities in excess of assetssteaned generated a pre-tax gain of $703.6 millive. recorded an
additional $49.8 million income tax expense from ianrease in our valuation allowance as a resulthaf
transaction. The increased valuation allowancelweasuse the remaining deferred tax liabilitiesrditisupport the
full recoverability of our deferred tax assets.

Discounted purchases of Stingray pass-through ciéetites and subsequent consolidation of the Stingfanding
arrangement

Beginning in the third quarter of 2009, then@pany began purchasing, initially through privateégotiated
transactions and subsequently through a cash tefféerthe 5.902% Pass-Through Certificates (fhass-Through
Certificates”) issued by the Stingray Pass-Throlighst. As of December 31, 2009, the Company hadlissd,
$226.7 million of the outstanding $325.0 Pass-ThtoGertificates for a total consideration of $5miflion.

These acquisitions represented reconsiderat@nts under Financial Accounting Standards B@drASB”)
Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) Subto@t0-10 (“FASB ASC 810-10"). The Company completed
primary beneficiary analysis and concluded thdgative October 8, 2009, it was the primary benafic of the
Stingray funding arrangement and, therefore, wasired to consolidate the arrangement under FASB B80-10.

The initial consolidation of the Stingray fling arrangement, including applying fair valuesthe Pass-
Through Certificates held by third parties and iheerest rate swap associated with the Stingraydifn
arrangement, resulted in a gain of $249.0 millidabsequent acquisitions of the Pass-Through Qextifs resulted
in a further gain of $4.9 million. A revaluatiofi the Pass-Through Certificates held by third partit December
31, 2009 resulted in a loss of $22.1 million.

Discounted repurchases of PATS securities priomaturity

During the first quarter of 2009, the Compamginguished, primarily through negotiated repases, the $100
million unsecured funding agreement payment okbgatdue on March 12, 2009 (the “Maturity Date™),riespect
of the Premium Asset Trust Series 2004-4 (“PATIhe extinguishment of PATS securities acquired ugio
negotiated repurchases and the settlement of thaiméng funding obligation in respect of all PAT&carities not
repurchased prior to the Maturity Date were congulefor a total consideration of $46.5 million congzhto the
$100 million par value of the PATS. Consequentye Company recorded a gain of $53.5 million on the
extinguishment of the PATS debt.



Summary of Results (Continued)

De-consolidation of Ballantyne Re

Ballantyne Re plc (“Ballantyne Re”) is a spégurpose vehicle incorporated under the lawslrefand.
Effective January 1, 2009, Ballantyne Re no lonigeconsolidated within the Company’s financial staénts.
Pursuant to the purchase agreement for the satbeofNG individual life reinsurance business, HareroRe
assumed the Company’s obligation to absorb moytebk related to all recaptures of business froafidtyne Re
under the related reinsurance agreement. Disyiystiie Company of the variable interest to absbib rnortality
risk constituted a reconsideration event relatetthéoconsolidation of Ballantyne Re under FASB ABD-10. The
Company subsequently completed a primary benefi@aalysis and concluded that it no longer wasptfiemary
beneficiary of Ballantyne Re as defined within FASBC 810-10 and, as a result, no longer is conatiid
Ballantyne Re into the financial statements of @@mpany. The de-consolidation of Ballantyne Reuced the
Company’s consolidated total assets and liabilitigspproximately $885 million and $2,035 milliaespectively,
and resulted in a non-cash gain on de-consolidatidi,150 million.

Net Realized and Unrealized Gains

In addition to the one-time events highlighted aldhe market value of the Company’s invested asadtich
primarily consist of fixed income securities, betesf from the recovery in the global credit markétsing 2009.
The total net realized and unrealized gains foryter were $243.0 million. The gains principalhe aeversals of
prior year unrealized losses.

Excluding the significant events highlighted abarel the market value increases of the Companyasied
assets, net income attributable to ordinary shaglen®would have resulted in a net loss.

While most of the items giving rise to the $2,30Blion of net income attributable to ordinary sélaolders
did not generate cash flows, the unrestricted asseSRGL and Scottish Annuity & Life Insurance Gmany
(Cayman) Ltd. (“SALIC”) increased in 2009. The esiricted assets of SRGL and SALIC represent asgdth
are not held in trust accounts. As of December2BD9, SRGL and SALIC had a combined $138.8 millidn
unrestricted assets, compared to $57.7 millionedenber 31, 2008. These assets were availablecaniber 31,
2009 to meet the obligations of SRGL and SALIC. efehcan be no assurances that the amount of ucredtr
assets held by SRGL and SALIC will not decreasmfperiod to period.



Report of Independent Auditors

The Board of Directors and Shareholders of ScoRislGroup Limited

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balaheets of Scottish Re Group Limited and
subsidiaries as of December 31, 2009 and 2008thencklated consolidated statements of income)(loss
comprehensive income (loss), shareholders’ (defecjuity, and cash flows for each of the yearshim t
period ended December 31, 2009. These finana&rsents are the responsibility of the Company’s
management. Our responsibility is to express aniap on these financial statements based on our
audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with audstagdards generally accepted in the United States.
Those standards require that we plan and perfoenatidit to obtain reasonable assurance about whethe
the financial statements are free of material rateshent. We were not engaged to perform an auliteof
Company's internal control over financial reporti@ur audits included consideration of internaltoan
over financial reporting as a basis for designingdita procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of exprgsamopinion on the effectiveness of the Company's
internal control over financial reporting. Accordln, we express no such opinion. An audit alsoudek
examining, on a test basis, evidence supportingatheunts and disclosures in the financial statespent
assessing the accounting principles used and &ignifestimates made by management, and evaluating
the overall financial statement presentation. \Aleele that our audits provide a reasonable basieur
opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referredabove present fairly, in all material respechs t
consolidated financial position of Scottish Re Grduwmited and subsidiaries at December 31, 2009 and
2008, and the consolidated results of their opamatand their cash flows for the each of the tlyesgs

in the period ended December 31, 2009, in confgrmiith U.S. generally accepted accounting
principles.

The accompanying financial statements have begraprd assuming that Scottish Re Group Limited will
continue as a going concern. As more fully desdriimpeNote 2, the Company is operating the business
under an Amended Order of Supervision with the ale Department of Insurance and has a
shareholders’ deficit at December 31, 2009. Theseditions raise substantial doubt about the
Company’s ability to continue as a going concermanibement’s plans in regards to these matters are
also described in Note 2. The 2009 consolidateginfiral statements do not include any adjustments to
reflect the possible future effects on the recdwditp and classification of assets or the amousntsl
classification of liabilities that may result fraitme outcome of this uncertainty.

/s! Ernst & Young LLP

Charlotte, North Carolina
April 30, 2010



SCOTTISH RE GROUP LIMITED
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(Expressed in Thousands of United States Dollars xEept Share Data)

December 31, December 31,

2009 2008
ASSETS
Fixed maturity investments, trading at fair valle...............ccccciiiiiiiiiieeeeee, $ 2,988,164 $ 3,781,104
Preferred stock, trading at fair Value.......oooooo oo 77,410 9,767
Cash and cash equUIVAIENTS ...t 390,025 824,613
Other INVESIMENTS ...ttt et e e e e e e e e e e e e bbb e e e e e e e e eaeaeaaaans 282 22,772
Funds Withheld @t INTEIEST.........ciiiiiiiceeeeeeiiiee e e e e e e e e e e 608,500 1,748,768

TOtAl INVESIMENES ...ttt e e et e e e e st e e e e e s abbbeeeaeenn 4,085,581 6,457,024
Accrued iNtereSt rECEIVADIE ... e 24,422 35,473
REINSUIANCE DAIANCES. .....ciiiiiiiiiiie e s ettt e st e e e et bee e e e e e neeees 161,977 353,579
Deferred aCqUISItION COSES ....uuuuiiiiiiiiiierrreneeeireeeeeee e e e e e e s e s es s rreeeeeaeeeeeeesessnnnnnnnnnes 296,822 375,475
Amount recoverable from FEINSUIEIS ......... o iiriiiiee ettt e iiieee e e sbreeee s serreeeeeaaee 606,347 71857
Present value of in-fOrce DUSINESS ..o s 38,316 0,405
L0 1 g [=T = TS £ R PR PTPPPPPPP 67,185 41,750
Current iNCOME taXx rECEIVADIE ......... .. i 12,762 8,811
DIETEITEO tAX BSSEL 1. vveeteeeeeeeeeeeeee et ccmaem et e et e et e et e et e e et e e et e et eaeee et e et e neee st eenneeeneeeas 3,922 3,061

TOLAI ASSELS ..ottt sememes et $ 5297334 $ 8,026,854
LIABILITIES
Reserves for future policy benefitS.......ccccccee e $ 1,542,639 $ 4,068
Interest sensitive contract IAbIlItIES ... eereeeiieiiii e 1,518,365 ,025,554
Collateral finance facilities ....... ..o e 1,300,000 3,000,000
Accounts payable and other liabilities .........ccooii s 68,921 3
Embedded derivatives at fair ValUE ......... oo 35,732 347,519
Reinsurance balances payable ... 137,597 8465
Deferred tax ability..........oooii e , 503 221
Long term debt at fair VAIUE ..........uviiiieeeee et e e e 55,068 -
LONG TEIM AT ...ttt ettt et et e et et et e et e et e eaeeteese et e eteeteeneeneeseenas 129,500 129,500

QI t= U L= o 11T PSPPSRI 4,837,965 9,874,185
MEZZANINE EQUITY
Convertible cumulative participating preferred gsafliquidation preference $716.2 million) 555,857 555,857
Commitments and contingencies (Note 21)

EQUITY
Ordinary shares, par value $0.01:

Issued 68,383,370 shares (2008 — 68,383,37.0)...ccccceiiiuuiiiieeeiiiiiieeeeeiiiieeeessniieeeee e 684 684
Non-cumulative perpetual preferred shares, parevéiOl:

Issued: 5,000,000 shares (2008 — 5,000,000 ccumme.ervrereeiiiirrirreeiiinirereessasrneeesssneneees 125,000 125,000
Additional Paid-in CAPITAL .......ccoiiiiiii ettt 1,217,535 1,216,878
[ TE] r= 1 (=10 [0 [ {11 | SRR (1,447,375) (3,752,716)

Total Scottish Re Group Limited shareholders’ defic............ciiiiiiiiiiiiceeee (104,156) (2,410,154)
Noncontrolling interest 7,668 6,966

Total deficit ........cocoeverereerenenn, (96,488) (2,403,188)

Total liabilities, mezzanine equity and total d&fiC................c.ccoueiveriiiceiece e, $ 5,297,334 $ 8,026,854

See Accompanying Notes to Consolidated FinancetkeStents



SCOTTISH RE GROUP LIMITED
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME (LOSS)
(Expressed in Thousands of United States DollarExcept Share Data)

Year Ended
December 31, December 31, December 31,
2009 2008 2007

Revenues
Premiums earned, Net.........cccuveeeeiiiieeennniiieeeeeens 451,800 1,651,106 3,338
Fee and other inCome.........ccccooiiiieiieiincciieeeee e 6,996 8,803 14,917
Investment iNCOME, Net.........occvvveiiiiiceeen e, 176,923 377,304 86329
Net realized and unrealized gains (losses) ........... 242,990 (1,895,895) (92D)
Gain on de-consolidation of collateral finance

FACHIILY ©eveeeeiiieie e 1,150,114 - -
Gain on consolidation of funding arrangement...... 253,824 - -
Change in value of long term debt at fair value..... (22,125) - -
Gain on extinguishment of debt.. 53,545 19,437 20,043
Change in value of embedded der|vat|ves net....... 311,787 (216,041) (43,627)

TOtal FEVENUES.......evviieeieieeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee e 2,625,854 (55,286) 1,378,130
Benefits and expenses
Claims and other policy benefits........ccccoceeeeeeennnn. (22,926) 1,579,412 7B463
Interest credited to interest sensitive contract

HADIlILIES .. 59,959 75,581 135,366
Acquisition costs and other insurance expenses,.net 133,782 559,933 359,761
Operating EXPENSES ....ccvvviiiiiieeeeee e i s cceenreeaeaaea e 53,781 137,98 128,198
Collateral finance facilities expense .......cccceeeee.... 39,410 257,912 2880
INtErESt EXPENSE ..o.vvveeeeeeeeeeeee e eemeeee e ae e 6,274 9,902 18,161

Total benefits and expenses .. . 270,280 2,620,721 2,404,147
Income (loss) from continuing operatlons before

INCOME tAXES......cceeeeeennriniieerees s aee e 2,355,574 (2,676,007) (1,026,017)
Income tax (expense) benefit.............cocoeeeernnn. (49,531) 6,836 157,259
Income (loss) from continuing operations............. 2,306,043 (2,669,171) (868,758)
Loss from discontinued operations, net of related

BAXES 1.ttt mmnne et - (43,001) (26,323)
Consolidated income (10SS)........ccccovvvviiiiccciieeennn, 2,306,043 (2,712,172) (895,081)
Net (income) loss attributable to noncontrolling

1) (=] 1] SRR (302 1,855 (661)
Dividend declared on non-cumulative perpetual

preferred Shares............ueeeeeeeiiiiiii o - - (9,062)
Deemed dividend on beneficial conversion feature

related to convertible cumulative participating

preferred ShareS...........ococveveeeeee e - - (120,750)
Net income (loss) attributable to ordinary

Shareholders..........coovveveeeeeeeeeeees e $ 2305341 $ (2,710,317) $§  (1,025,554)
Amounts attributable to ordinary shareholders:
Income (loss) from continuing operations.............. $ 2,305,341 (2,667,316) (869,419)
Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of

related taxes .......oooevevciiviiinie e - (43,001) (26,323)
Dividend declared on non-cumulative perpetual

preferred Shares........ccocveveeeieieei e e - - (9,062)
Deemed dividend on beneficial conversion feature

related to convertible cumulative participating

preferred Shares...........ococoveveeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeenn - - (120,750)




Net income (loss) attributable to ordinary
shareholders $ 2,305,341 $ (2,710,317) $ (1,025,554)

Income (loss) per ordinary share attributable to
ordinary shareholders:

Basic income (loss) per ordinary share

Income (loss) from continuing operations.............. $ 33.23 $ (39.00) $ (12.92)
Loss from discontinued operations...........cccceeevoe. - $ (0.63) $ (0.39)
INCOME (I0SS) ..o emmees e enen e enenennans $ 3323 $ (39.63) $ (13.31)
Net income (loss) attributable to ordinary

Shareholders...........coveveveeveeeeeeeeeeee e $ 33.23 $ (39.63) $ (15.24)
Diluted income (loss) per ordinary share
Income (loss) from continuing operations.............. $ 1056 $ (39.00) $ (12.92)
Loss from discontinued operations...........cccceeevoe.. - $ (0.63) $ (0.39)
INCOME (I0SS) v.veveveeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee s emmes e $ 10.56 $ (39.63) $ (13.31)
Net income (loss) attributable to ordinary

Shareholders.........ccooveveeieieicee e $ 10.56 $ (39.63) $ (15.24)
Weighted average number of ordinary shares

oUtStaNding — DASIC........cveveveeeeeeeeeeeeecereeeeeren, 68,383,370 68,383,370 67,303,066
Weighted average number of ordinary shares

outstanding — diluted...........cccceviiiiiiiiiiiee, 218,383,370 68,383,370 67,303,066

See Accompanying Notes to Consolidated FinancatkStents



SCOTTISH RE GROUP LIMITED
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LO SS)
(Expressed in Thousands of United States Dollars)

Net income (loss) attributable to ordinary

Shar€hOIdErS. .....veeeeeeeee e, $

Other comprehensive income (loss):

Unrealized depreciation on investments ...............

Reclassification adjustment for net realized and
unrealized gains (losses) included in net income
(IOSS) ettt

Net unrealized (depreciation) appreciation on
investments, net of income taxes and deferred
acquisition costs of $nil, $11,937 and $(31,657) ..

Cumulative translation adjustment ...........cccee.......
Benefit plans ...

Other comprehensive (loss) income...................

Year Ended
December 31, December 31, December 31,
2009 2008 2007
2,305,341 $ (2,710,317) $ (895,742)
. - (739,353)
- (26,514) 785,741
- (26,514) 46,388
- (24,590) 1,764
- 2,344 518
- (48,760) 48,670

Comprehensive income (l0SS) ......ccoovvveeeiiniieeennnnnn. $

Change in net unrealized appreciation (depreciation
attributable to the noncontrolling interest ...........

2,305,341 $ (2,759,077) $ (847,072

- 204 (454)

Comprehensive income (loss) attributable to

ordinary shareholders............cccocvvvveveerricccnnnnnns $

2,305,341 $ (2,758,873) $  (847,526)

See Accompanying Notes to Consolidated FinancatkeStents



SCOTTISH RE GROUP LIMITED
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS' (DEFICIT) EQUITY

(Expressed in Thousands of United States Dollars)

Share capital:
Ordinary shares:
Beginning of Period .............uuiiiiiii e
Issuance to holders of HyCUs on conversion of paselcontracts
Issuance to holders of restricted stock awards
T I} 1= o o SRR
Non-cumulative perpetual preferred shares:
Beginning and end of period.............ooovceeee e
Additional paid-in capital:
Beginning of Period ...
Option and restricted StOCK UNit EXPENSE ...ceeeeemeiiiiiiiiiiicciiiiiiiieeeeeeeeeenn
Issuance to holders of HyCUs on conversion of paselcontracts..............
Beneficial conversion feature related to conveetiflimulative participating
preferred shares
Accretion of beneficial conversion feature related¢onvertible cumulative

participating preferred Shar€sS ..........ovvcceccee e e

(O 1 0= PSPPSR PO RPPRR PRSP
3T I} 1= o o SRR
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss):
Unrealized appreciation (depreciation) on investmets net of income
taxes and deferred acquisition costs
Beginning of period
Change in period
ENd Of PEIIOM ...t
Noncontrolling interest
Beginning Of PEHOQ .......ovviiiiieie e
Change in period (Net Of taX) ......cccvvveeeieeiie e e

ENd Of PEIIOU ..o
Cumulative translation adjustment
Beginning of Period .............uuiiiiiiie e
Change in period (net of tax)
End of period
Benefit plans
Beginning of PEHOQ .......uvviiiiiiiiii e
Change in period (net of tax)
ENd Of PEIIOM ...t
Total accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)
Retained deficit:
Beginning of Period .............uuiiiiiiii e
Adoption of FASB ASC 740-10 on January 1, 2007..ccc....cccccuvvviirrimaaennn.
NEt INCOME (I0SS) «eeiiieieeiei e et
Dividends declared on non-cumulative perpetualguretl shares................
ENd Of PEIIOM ...ttt
Total Scottish Re Group Limited shareholders’ (deftit) equity ....................
Noncontrolling interest:
Beginning of PEHOQ .......ueeiieiiiiiii e
NEt INCOME (I0SS) .ottt e e e e e e
Unrealized (depreciation) appreciation - changgenod (net of tax)...........
T I} 1= 4 o o

Total shareholders’ (defiCit) eqUItY..........ooooiiiiiiiiiiie e

See Accompanying Notes to Consolidated FinancatkeStents
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Year Ended
December 31, December 31, December 31,
2009 2008 2007
684 $ 684 $ 606
- - 74
- - 4
684 684 684
125,000 125,000 125,000
1,216,878 1,214,886 1,050,860
657 1,992 20,067
- - 143,675
- - 120,750
. - (120,750)
- - 284
1,217,535 1,216,878 1,214,886
- 26,514 (19,874)
- (26,514) 46,388
- - 26,514
- (204) 250
- 204 (454)
- - (204)
. 24,590 22,826
- (24,590) 1,764
- - 24,590
- (2,344) (2,862)
. 2,344 518
- - (2,344)
- - 48,556
(3,752,716) (1,042,399) (119,614)
- - (17,981)
2,305,341 (2,710,317) (895,742)
R - (9,062)
(1,447,375) (3,752,716) (1,042,399)
(104,156) $ (2,410,154) 346,727
6,966 9,025 7,910
702 (1,855) 661
. (204) 454
7,668 6,966 9,025
(96,488) $ (2,403,188) 355,752




SCOTTISH RE GROUP LIMITED

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(Expressed in Thousands of United States Dollars)

Operating activities
Net income (loss) attributable to ordinary shardbm ................ccooeeevvvvicee.
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to rmethcused by operating
activities:
Net realized and unrealized (gains) I0SSES ..........uvvveiieiiiimmmiiiiiiieiieeeeee
Gain on de-consolidation of collateral finance f&Ci...........cccccco
Gain on consolidation of funding arrangement............ccccoovveiceeeeeeiieeeneennn,
Change in value of long term debt at fair value................cccocooieeiiiiiiiiiines
Gain on extinguishment of debt..........ooo e
Changes in value of embedded derivatives, Net.........ccccooeiiiiceciiiiiiiiiiiies
Amortization of discount on fixed maturity investnte and preferred stock.....
Amortization of deferred acquisition COStS ....ccceeeeeiviiiiiiicicemreeeeeeeee e,
Amortization and write down of present value offdmee business...................
Write-Off Of fiIXed ASSELS.......uuviiiiiiiiiee e
Amortization of deferred transaction COSES .. rrerieiiiiiiiimmiiiieee i
Depreciation Of fiXed aSSetS ......cc.uuuuiiicemeeme e
OPLON EXPENSE ..ot eeeeemr ettt et e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e bbb e e e aeeeeaeeeeees
Net income (loss) attributable to noncontrollintei@st.................ccciviiiitn,
Changes in assets and liabilities:
Accrued interest receivable .............uuieeeee e,
Reinsurance balances and risk fees receivable................cccoceeiiii.
Deferred acquISition COSES ....oiiviiiiiiiii e
Deferred tax asset and liability............ceeeeeveciiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieceeeee,
OthEr BSSETS ..uviiiiiei ittt cmrree ettt e e e
Current income tax receivable and payable ..coeeeeeevovveeeieeiicc
Reserves for future policy benefits, net of amouetoverable from
=TT ] (=T € PR
Funds withheld at iNterest ...t
Interest sensitive contract liabilities.......
Accounts payable and other liabilities
Embedded derivatives at fair value......cccceeeeeeiiiiiiiiiiee

Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities..............cccc.uvicemeinininnnee.

Investing activities

Purchase of fixed maturity iNVeStMENtS.....cecceeevveeeeeeeeie e e
Proceeds from sales of fixed maturity investments..............cccccccvveeneeeeneeeenn.
Proceeds from maturity and return of capital oééxmaturity investments.........
Purchase of preferred StoCK ...........oooi i
Proceeds from sale and maturity of preferred Stock.............ccccuvieeeiiiiiiinnn,
Purchase of and proceeds from other investments,.ne.................ccccceeinnnes
Proceeds from sale (purchase) of fixed assets,.net..........ccccccvieiiiiiiiiiinnnns

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities...............cccuvvvviceminiiinnnn.

Financing activities

Deposits to interest sensitive contract liabilities.............ccccooeiiie s
Withdrawals from interest sensitive contract lieilgh .................eevviviaeeeeenn,
Proceeds from issuance of convertible cumulativéigyating preferred shares.
Proceeds from issuance to holders of HyCUs on asiore of purchase contracts
Redemption of convertible preferred shares ...
Dividends paid on redemption of convertible preédrshares ................................
Proceeds from collateral finance facilitieS ..........c.cccveeviiieii e
Payments on collateral finance facCilities.....cuuecvvviiviiiiiiiiiieeeee e

Year Ended
December 31, December 31, December 31,
2009 2008 2007
$ 2,305,341 $ (2,710,317) (895,742)
(242,990) 1,894,033 979,343
(1,150,114) - -
(253,824) - -
22,125 - -
(53,545) (19,437) (20,043)
(311,787) 216,041 43,627
- 281 13,021
79,848 209,577 76,493
1,789 5,455 3,219
6,021 - -
2,646 49,170 13,309
1,126 7,989 11,045
657 1,992 20,067
702 (1,855) 661
4,665 22,335 (101)
138,180 197,213 (65,266)
(1,906) 41,155 (87,214)
49,060 10,478 (192,697)
(243,111) 18,944 25,941
(3,951) 2,258 (10,874)
(2,121,249) (209,887) 325,780
1,140,268 (151,432) 344,743
(13,813) (41,504) (231,791)
(318,067) 174,446 100,928
311,787 (216,041) 43,627)
(650,142) (499,106) 410,822
(778,910) (316,809) (1,331,162)
702,874 1,663,232 270,403
399,328 588,154 596,040
(80) (2,285) -
12,438 3,167 19,878
299 36,401 (344)
64 4,117 (2,764)
336,013 1,975,977 (447,949)
- 1,033 2,382
(73,845) (837,934) (289,798)
- - 555,857
- - 7,338
- - (7,338)
- - (222)
- - 411,471
- (960,942) (168,484)
- 325,000 (265,000)

Proceeds from (repayment on) drawdown of fundimgragement.......................



Proceeds from issuance of ordinary shares... - - 78

Dividends paid on non-cumulative perpetual pretdasbares ................................ - (2,266) (9,062)
Extinguishment of debt....... ... e (46,614) - -
Dividends paid on ordinary Shares..........cccccceiiii e - - -
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities.................c.cocvveeernnv... (120,459) (1,475,109) 237,222
Net change in cash and cash equivalents.....ccccccooo oo (434,588) 1,762 200,095
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of Periad.............cccoeveeevveieceeesnnnn, 824,613 822,851 622,756
Cash and cash equivalents, end Of PEMIOU ..cceere.vcvveeeeeeeeeeeeeee e $ 390,025 $ 824,613 $ 822,851
INEEIESE PAIA ... .c.veveeeeeeeeeieete et meemme e eteete et et et e eteete e et eeteeaeeaeeaeesmaeeaeeneenes, $ 381 $ 28,350 $ 2,998
Taxes (refunded) PAIH..............voveeeeeeeemeeeeeeeee e eeeeeeee e eeeeeees $ (3,397) $ (4,815) $ 16,095

See Accompanying Notes to Consolidated FinancatkStents
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SCOTTISH RE GROUP LIMITED
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2009
1. Organization and Business
Organization

SRGL is a holding company incorporated under thes laf the Cayman Islands with our principal exeaiti
office in Bermuda. Through our operating subsidgr we are principally engaged in the reinsuraotdife
insurance, annuities and annuity-type products. haiee principal operating companies in Bermuda,Ghgman
Islands, Ireland, and the United States.

Run Off Strategy

In 2008, we ceased writing new business and ndtibigr existing clients that we would not be accaptiny
new reinsurance risks under existing reinsuraneatitrs, thereby placing our remaining treaties ioto-off. We
expect to continue to pursue a run-off strategy tfeg remaining business, whereby we continue teivec
premiums, pay claims and perform key activities eindur remaining reinsurance treaties. Throughdgmt
management of investments, reinsurance cash flosoperating expenses, our goal is to continueatisfg our
reinsurance and other obligations and to maintainska based capital ratio above the company actamel
prescribed by Delaware law and above any risk basggtal-based recapture thresholds in our reimsera
agreements with ceding companies. No assurancebegiven that we will be successful in implemegtthis
strategy.

While pursuing our run-off strategy, we magnh time to time, if opportunities arise, purchaseprivately
negotiated transactions, open market purchasey ondans of general solicitations, tender offersottrerwise,
additional amounts of our outstanding debt, norrgptpreferred securities, and other liabilities. nyAsuch
purchases will depend on a variety of factors iditig but not limited to available corporate liqudicapital
requirements and indicative pricing levels. The ams involved in any such transactions, individgalt in the
aggregate, may be material. For further discuseimmur outstanding securities, see Note 11, “[2fiigations
and Other Funding Arrangements”, Note 13, “Shamdrs’ Deficit”, Note 23, “Related Party Transacsbrand
Note 25, “Subsequent Events”.

Regulatory Considerations

We currently operate with certain regulatory coasidions in respect of Scottish Re (U.S.), IncRUS"), our
primary U.S. reinsurance subsidiary. In connectidth the receipt by SRUS in late 2008 of a pemxitstatutory
accounting practice related to the reduction frahility for reinsurance ceded to an unauthorizesuaning insurer
(the “Permitted Practice”), SRUS consented to teguance by the Delaware Department of Insurance (th
“Department”) on January 5, 2009, of an Order op&uision against SRUS (the “Order of Supervisiorit)
accordance with 18 Del. C. §85942. The Order ofe®upion required, among other things, the Depantiae
consent to any transaction by SRUS outside thenardicourse of business and any transaction witkargr
distribution or payment to its affiliates. Theginal Order of Supervision subsequently was amemaheldreplaced
with an Extended and Amended Order of Supervisiated April 3, 2009 (the “Amended Order of Supeori¥),
which amends and clarifies certain matters conthiwéhin the original Order of Supervision. Seet®&@2,
“Statutory Requirements and Dividend Restrictions”.

Business

We have written reinsurance business that is whallpartially retained in one or more of our rei@ce
subsidiaries. With the sale of the Wealth Managenheisiness and Life Reinsurance International Segrm
2008, together with the sale of the Acquired Bussnim our Life Reinsurance North America Segmerthanfirst
quarter of 2009, operating decisions and performaassessment of the Company is now performed withou
reference to any separate segments. Accordinglydavnot present information about distinct opagasegments
for periods after January 1, 2009.
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SCOTTISH RE GROUP LIMITED
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2009
1. Organization and Business (continued)

We have assumed risks associated with primaryriferance, annuities and annuity-type policies. réfiesure
mortality, investment, persistency and expensesrizkUnited States life insurance and reinsurararapanies.
Most of the reinsurance assumed is through autontiegaties, but in 2006 we also began assuming sk a
facultative basis. We suspended bidding for nesirmss on March 3, 2008, and at that time, we bégmrnng
notices cancelling the acceptance of new reinseraisks for all open reinsurance treaties. Theiness we
historically have written falls into two categoridsaditional Solutions and Financial Solutionsdasailed below.

Traditional SolutionsWe reinsure the mortality risk on life insurammicies written by primary insurers. The
business often is referred to as traditional ligngsurance. We wrote our Traditional Solutions bess
predominantly on an automatic basis. This meansvileaautomatically reinsured all policies written & ceding
company that met the underwriting criteria spedifie the treaty with the ceding company. As disedsherein, we
completed in 2009 the sale to Hannover Re of thquied Business (as more fully defined in Note th&
“Acquired Business”), which business generally wasart of our Traditional Solutions business.

Financial Solutions Financial Solutions include contracts under whigh assumed the investment and
persistency risks of existing, as well as newlytteri, blocks of business that improve the finanp@ition of our
clients by increasing their capital availabilitydastatutory surplus. The products reinsured incladeuities and
annuity-type products, cash value life insurancd, do a lesser extent, disability products that iar@ pay-out
phase. This line of business includes acquiredtisolsl products in which we provided our clients hwixit
strategies for discontinued lines of business,eddslocks of business, or lines of business notigimg a good fit
for a client’s growth strategies.

Life insurance products that we reinsure includarlyerenewable term, term with multi-year guarastee
ordinary life and variable life. Retail annuityoplucts that we reinsure include fixed deferred &msuand variable
annuities.

For these products, we wrote reinsurance genemallshe form of yearly renewable term, coinsurance o
modified coinsurance. Under yearly renewable temm,share only in the mortality risk for which weceive a
premium. In a coinsurance or modified coinsuraarangement, we generally share proportionatebflimaterial
risks inherent in the underlying policies, incluglimortality, lapses and investments. Under suchegents, we
agree to indemnify the primary insurer for all opartion of the risks associated with the undedyinsurance
policy in exchange for a proportionate share ofpuens. Coinsurance differs from modified coinswemwith
respect to the ownership of the assets suppoftiegeserves. Under our coinsurance arrangememtgrship of
these assets is transferred to us, whereas in imdifoinsurance arrangements, the ceding compaaynse
ownership of these assets, but we share in thetiment income and risk associated with the assets.

As discussed above, however, we have ceased wriéngreinsurance treaties and no longer are acceptiy
new reinsurance risks under existing treaties atracts with ceding companies.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Presentation

Accounting Principles - Our consolidated financ&tements are prepared in accordance with acogunti
principles generally accepted in the United Stateémerica (“U.S. GAAP”). Certain items in the priperiod
financial statements have been reclassified toaramfo the current period presentation.

Going Concern — These consolidated financial statésnhave been prepared using accounting principles
applicable to a going concern, which contemplabesrealization of assets and the satisfaction affillties and

commitments in the normal course of business. @ilityato continue as a going concern is dependgrgn our
ability to successfully meet our obligations in amrmer that addresses ongoing regulatory requirenzard capital,
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SCOTTISH RE GROUP LIMITED
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2009
2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (comued)

liquidity and collateral needs. There can be rsugmce that any of the actions we have takenaor fol take will
be successful in supplying funds in amounts artihres necessary to meet our liquidity or capitgjuirzments in
future periods. These consolidated financial stetgs do not give effect to any adjustments to nasxb amounts
and their classification which would be necessénya were unable to continue as a going concern.Hale a
shareholders’ deficit of $104.2 million as of Ded®mn31, 2009.

In the event that for any reason, we fail to compith the Department’'s Amended Order of Supervis@mmin
the event the financial condition of SRUS mateyiallas to deteriorate, the Department may take madtoseize
control of SRUS under applicable insurance lawchSaiseizure would place control of all managerdestsions of
SRUS with the Department, including with respectaotrolling cash flows, settling claims and payotgigations.
The primary objective of the Department would betotect the interests of the policyholders andragihsurers
with whom SRUS has contracted and would not bedtept the interests of SRGL, SALIC, the sharehalds any
other stakeholders of the Company. A seizure diSRvould have numerous consequences, includingpalig
triggering ceding company recapture rights on raiasce agreements with us. Such seizure may edgbtb the
need for SALIC and SRGL to seek bankruptcy protecti

Consolidation - The consolidated financial statetm@mclude the assets, liabilities and results pdrations of
SRGL and its subsidiaries and all variable inteesgities for which we are the primary beneficiayy defined in
Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Acating Standards Codification (*“ASC”) Subtopic 810;1
Consolidation - Overall (“FASB ASC 810-10"). Alignificant inter-company transactions and balart@ese been
eliminated on consolidation. As at December 310%2@ve consolidate two non-recourse securitizatio@skney
Re and Orkney Re Il (each of the foregoing as nfolly defined in Note 10). In addition, we havesal
consolidated the Stingray Pass-Through Trust aadtingray Investor Trust, effective October 8, 20Gee Note
11, “Debt Obligations and Other Funding ArrangeraéntEffective January 1, 2009, we no longer coidsbéd
Ballantyne Re plc (“Ballantyne Re”). See Note “KDllateral Finance Facilities and Securitizatidnutures”.

Estimates, Risks and Uncertainties - The preparasfoconsolidated financial statements in confoymiith
U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimatesagedmptions that affect the amounts reported én th
consolidated financial statements and accompanyiotgs. Actual results could differ materially frothose
estimates and assumptions used by management. @tisignificant assumptions are for:

e investment valuation and impairments;

e accounting for derivative instruments;

» assessment of risk transfer for structured inswamal reinsurance contracts;
» estimates of premiums;

» valuation of present value of in-force business;

» establishment of reserves for future policy besgfit

» amortization of deferred acquisition costs;

* retrocession arrangements and amounts recoverabheréinsurers;

* interest sensitive contract liabilities;

* long term debt at fair value; and

* income taxes, deferred taxes and determinatioheofaluation allowance.

We review and revise these estimates as appropriatg adjustments made to these estimates amctefl in
the period the estimates are revised.

All tabular amounts are reported in thousands dfddinStates dollars, or as otherwise noted.
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SCOTTISH RE GROUP LIMITED
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2009
2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (comued)
Fixed Maturity Investments, Preferred Stock, Othervestments and Cash and Cash Equivalents

Effective January 1, 2008, we reclassified our latéé for sale securities to trading. Accordinglg,of January
1, 2008, the balance of unrealized appreciatioineastments of $38.5 million, which was previousigluded in
accumulated other comprehensive income (loss), reeassified and recorded in the Consolidated Btags of
Income (Loss) caption “Net realized and unrealigaihs (losses)”.

We carry securities at fair value on our ConsoidaBalance Sheets. We maximize the use of obserugilts
and minimize the use of non-observable inputs wheasuring fair value. The fair value of a finanémstrument is
the amount that would be received to sell an amsehid to transfer a liability in an orderly traction between
market participants at the measurement date. @hevélue of fixed maturity investments is calcathtusing
independent pricing sources which utilize brokerggetes, proprietary models and market based irdtom. The
actual value at which such financial instrumentsiaty could be sold or settled with a willing buymay differ
from such estimated fair values. Unrealized h@dgains and losses on trading investments are dadlun
earnings. Interest is recorded on the accrualsbbased upon the stated coupon rate as a compohert
investment income. For securities with uncertaashc flow, the investments are accounted for unbercbst
recovery method, whereby all principal and coupagnpents received are applied as a reduction otdngying
value. Cash flows for trading securities are dfaskin Investing Activities on the Consolidatethments of Cash
Flows based on the nature and purpose for whichetladed securities were acquired. Investmenstetions are
recorded on the trade date with balances pendititereent reflected in the Consolidated Balance &hes a
component of cash and cash equivalents.

Realized gains and losses arising on the saleairiies are determined on a specific identificatinethod.
Realized gains and losses are stated net of at=tciaferred acquisition costs and income taxes.

Other investments include equity securities anacttired loans, which are generally accounted fémiavalue.
Other investments represented approximately 0.5840a496 of our investments as of December 31, 20092808,
respectively.

Cash and cash equivalents include cash and fixpdsits with an original maturity, when purchaseithoee
months or less. Cash and cash equivalents aredegtat face value, which approximates fair value.

Statement of Cash Flows

In accordance with FASB ASC Topic 360, PropertgnPland Equipment (“FASB ASC 360"), formerly SFAS
No. 144 “Accounting for the Impairment or DisposélLong-Lived Assets” (“SFAS No. 144"), certainiits in the
prior years in the Consolidated Statements of Irediross) and the assets and liabilities in the Glateted
Balance Sheets have been restated to exclude thdtsreof our discontinued operations, namely thée Li
Reinsurance International Segment and the Wealthalglement business. As permitted by FASB ASC 369, t
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Incomaefblders’ Deficit and Cash Flows remain unchanged

We included the change in funds withheld at inteireur modified coinsurance arrangements as ahamg
operating activities in the Consolidated StatementSash Flows. The related interest and chandaitirvalue of
embedded derivatives is also included in cash flivars operating activities.

Derivatives
All derivative instruments are recognized eitheassets or liabilities in the Consolidated BalaBbeets at fair

value as required by FASB ASC Topic 815, Derivatiead Hedging (“FASB ASC 815”), formerly SFAS N@&31
“Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedgifgtivities” (“SFAS No. 133"). The accounting fohanges in
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SCOTTISH RE GROUP LIMITED
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2009
2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (comued)

the fair value of stand alone derivatives that hasebeen designated as a hedge are included ireakted and
unrealized losses in the Consolidated Statemeritecofne (LosS).

Our funds withheld at interest arise on modifiethearance and funds withheld coinsurance agreemeASB
ASC Section 815-15-55, Derivatives and Hedging —bBdded Derivatives — Implementation Guidelines and
lllustrations (“FASB ASC 815-15-55"), which incorpmies Derivatives Implementation Group Issue Nob6 B3
“Embedded Derivatives: Bifurcation of a Debt Instrent that Incorporates Both Interest Rate and CRatie Risk
Exposures that are Unrelated or Only Partially Relao the Creditworthiness of the Issuer of thetrument”,
indicates that these transactions contain embedeéedatives. The embedded derivative feature in fonds
withheld treaties is similar to a fixed-rate tatafurn swap on the assets held by the ceding caegan

During the year ended December 31, 2008, we redasequity-indexed annuity reinsurance contractsh) wi
account values credited with a return indexed te@uity index rather than established interessraténder FASB
ASC 815-15-55, which now incorporates Derivativeplementation Group Issue No. B10 “Embedded Derigat
Equity-Indexed Life Insurance Contracts”, thesasections contained embedded derivatives. Thageaots were
recaptured in 2008, eliminating the associated elohbe derivative balance of $81.4 million and resglin a pre-
tax gain of $35.2 million.

The fair value of these embedded derivatives aebder 31, 2009, was a liability of $35.7 millionncpared
to a liability of $347.5 million at December 31,08) and is included in embedded derivatives atvaiue on the
Consolidated Balance Sheets. This representdass#@ation from prior years where these embedtkri/atives
were included in accounts payable and other lidsli The reclassification provides better disetesfor our
liabilities held at fair value. See Note 5 “FaiaMe Measurements”. The change in fair value obedded
derivatives is reported in the Consolidated Statemef Income (Loss) under the caption “Change atue of
embedded derivatives, net”.

Assessment of Risk Transfer for Structured Insuramand Reinsurance Contracts

For both ceded and assumed reinsurance, risk énraresfuirements must be met in order to obtainsteeamce
status for accounting purposes, principally resglin the recognition of cash flows under the cacttas premiums
and losses. To meet risk transfer requirementsingurance contract must include insurance risksisting of both
underwriting and timing risk, and a reasonable ipigy of a significant loss for the assuming éntiTo assess risk
transfer for certain contracts, we generally depadgpected discounted cash flow analyses at cdntreeption. If
risk transfer requirements are not met, a contieccounted for using the deposit method. Depsibunting
requires that consideration received or paid berdsgl in the Consolidated Balance Sheets as oppoggeémiums
written or losses incurred in the Consolidated e3taints of Income (Loss) and any non-refundable ézesed
based on the terms of the contract.

For each of our reinsurance contracts, the Compamst determine if the contract provides indemnifara
against loss or liability relating to insurancekrign accordance with applicable accounting stadslave must
review all contractual features, particularly thaisat may limit the amount of insurance risk to evhive are subject
or features that delay the timely reimbursementlaims. If we determine that a contract does ngisg us to a
reasonable possibility of a significant loss fronsurance risk, we record the contract on a deposthod of
accounting with the net amount payable/receivalgitected in other reinsurance assets or liabilities the
Consolidated Balance Sheets. Fees earned onnbmcts are reflected as other revenues, as oppoggdmiums,
on the Consolidated Statements of Income (Loss).

Revenue Recognition

0] Reinsurance premiums from traditional life policesd annuity policies with life contingencies
generally are recognized as revenue when due fralimypolders and reported net of amounts
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SCOTTISH RE GROUP LIMITED
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2009
2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (comued)

retroceded. Traditional life policies include thasentracts with fixed and guaranteed premiums
and benefits, and principally consist of whole hfed term insurance policies.

(i) Benefits and expenses, net of amounts retrocedednatched with net earned premiums so as to
result in the recognition of profits over the lié¢ the contracts. This is achieved by means of the
provision for liabilities for future policy benefitand deferral and subsequent amortization of
deferred acquisition costs.

(iii) Reinsurance assumed for interest sensitive andstimemt type products does not generate
premium but generates investment income on thesasse receive from ceding companies less
policy charges for the cost of insurance, policynadstration, and surrenders that have been
assessed against policy account balances duringgetied.

(iv) Fee income is recorded on an accrual basis.

(v) Net investment income includes interest and dividémcome together with amortization of
market premium and discounts and is net of investmmanagement and custody fees.

Present Value of In-force Business

The present value of in-force business is estaddisipon the acquisition of a book of business aradriortized
over the expected life of the business as detedrateacquisition. The amortization each year isr&tion of the
ratio of annual gross profits or revenues to tataticipated gross profits or revenues expected theetife of the
business, discounted at the assumed net credif4&% for 2009, 2008 and 2007). The carrying vasueviewed
for premium deficiency at least annually for ind@a of impairment in value.

Reserves for Future Policy Benefits

FASB ASC Topic 944, Financial Services — InsuraiE&ASB ASC 944"), formerly SFAS No. 60 “Accounting
and Reporting by Insurance Enterprises” (“SFAS B®’), applies to our traditional life policies wittontinuing
premiums. For these policies, reserves for futwileyp benefits are computed based upon expectedafitprates,
lapse rates, investment yields, expenses and agsemmptions established at policy issue, includimgargin for
adverse deviation. Once these assumptions are fordegiven treaty or group of treaties, they witit be changed
over the life of the treaty. We periodically reviegtual historical experience and relative antigidaexperience
compared to the assumptions used to establishvesséor future policy benefits. Further, we deterenivhether
actual and anticipated experience indicates thistieg policy reserves, together with the presedt® of future
gross premiums are sufficient to cover the presahte of future benefits, settlement and mainteaamosts and to
recover unamortized acquisition costs. Significatmnges in experience or assumptions may requite pgvide
for expected losses on a group of treaties by ksitdty additional net reserves. Because of theynamsumptions
and estimates used in establishing reserves antbtigeterm nature of the reinsurance contracts, rédserving
process, while based on actuarial science, is émftigruncertain.

On certain lines of business, policy benefit regerinclude an estimate of claims payable for iredifsut not
reported (“IBNR”) losses. Those IBNR loss estimades determined using some or all of the followistydies of
actual claim lag experience, best estimates ofaggddncurred claims in a period, actual reportaéhts, and best
estimates of IBNR losses as a percentage of cumdotce.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2009
2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (comued)
Deferred Acquisition Costs

Costs of acquiring new business, which vary witd arimarily are related to the production of nevsibess,
have been deferred to the extent that such costdesmed recoverable from future gross profitsh®ests include
commissions and allowances as well as certain odgtslicy issuance and underwriting. We perforenipdic tests
to determine that the cost of business acquiredairsmrecoverable, and if financial performance i§icgmtly
deteriorates to the point where a premium defigiendsts, the cumulative amortization is re-estedadnd adjusted
by a cumulative charge to current operations.

Deferred acquisition costs (“DAC”) related to trigmial life insurance contracts, substantially @flwhich
relate to long-duration contracts, are amortizegriportion to the ratio of individual period pram revenues to
total anticipated premium revenues over the lifahaf policy. Such anticipated premium revenuesestanated
using the same assumptions used for computingditiabifor future policy benefits. The deferral aéquisition
costs are established for limited premium policieder the same practices as used for traditiofeapblicies with
the exception that any gross premium in exceshefniet premium is deferred and recognized intormeas a
constant percentage of insurance in-force.

DAC related to interest-sensitive life and investitrgype policies are deferred and amortized overlitres of
the policies, in relation to the present value stfreated gross profits from mortality and investinimcome, less
interest credited and expense margins without pionifor adverse deviation. Each reporting perieel update the
estimated gross profits with the actual gross fwofor that period. When actual gross profits clearigpm
previously estimated gross profits, the cumulaf&C amortization is recalculated and adjusted umulative
charge or credit to current operations. When actaks profits exceed those previously estimated, RAC
amortization will increase, resulting in a currgrdriod charge to earnings. The opposite result rscainen the
actual gross profits are below the previously estéd gross profits. In circumstances where caledlgtoss profits
are negative, we record the actual gross profiteed. This is necessitated by the declining lefedsset market
values, which now flow through earnings under thding classification.

In addition, we review the future estimated grossfip for each block of business to determine the
recoverability of DAC balances based on future etaiéons. Changes in the assumptions for mortglgysistency,
maintenance expense and interest could result farraechanges to the financial statements. Whereeted future
gross profits are below those previously estimaiteel DAC amortization will increase, resulting ic@rent period
charge to earnings. The opposite result occurs whenexpected future gross profits are above tleeiqusly
estimated future gross profits

Total DAC amortization during a particular perio@yrincrease or decrease depending upon the rektigef
the amortization change resulting from the adjustnie DAC for the update of actual gross profitsl dhe re-
estimation of expected future gross profits.

Modifications or exchanges of contracts that céutia substantial contract change are accountedsf@n
extinguishment of the replaced contract resultimg irelease of unamortized deferred acquisitiotscamearned
revenue and deferred sales inducements associdtethe/replaced contract.

The development and amortization of deferred adipriscosts for our products requires managememndake
estimates and assumptions. Actual results coufdrdifiaterially from those estimates. Managementitomnactual
experience, and should circumstances warrantravilse its assumptions and the related estimates.
Retrocession Arrangements and Amounts Recoveraldenf Reinsurers

In the ordinary course of business, our reinsurasgbsidiaries cede reinsurance to other reinsurance
companies. These agreements provide greater digeti&in of business and minimize the net loss piidt arising
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from large risks. Ceded reinsurance contracts dogalieve us of our obligation to the direct wricompanies. The
cost of reinsurance related to long duration caisras recognized over the terms of the reinsuditips on a basis
consistent with the reporting of those policies.

In the normal course of business, we seek to limitexposure to losses on any single insured anectover a
portion of benefits paid by ceding reinsurancetteninsurance enterprises or reinsurers underssxa®/erage and
guota share contracts. In order to manage shart Yefatility in our earnings and diversify our mality exposure,
we limit our exposure on any given life.

Our initial North American retention limit was sat $500,000 per life. With the acquisition of ER@®e
Reinsurance Corporation in December 2003 (subséiguenamed Scottish Re Life Corporation (“SRLC)e set
retention for that block of business at $1,000,p@® life, effective July 1, 2004. On December 3004, we
acquired the former individual life business of INk& which had managed a per life retention up t@GH000.
Effective January 1, 2005, we established a peréfention on the ING Re acquired business of (2000, while
raising retention for new issues to $1,000,000is Bhganic new business retention was increas&@,@00,000 per
life for 2007. In 2009, the former individual lifeusiness of ING Re was purchased by Hannover Rarof the
Acquired Business. See Note 14, “ReinsuraBake of a Block of Life Reinsurance North AmeriagiBess

In May 2006, we entered into an agreement thatigeav$155 million of collateralized catastrophetpotion
with Tartan Capital Management (“Tartan”), a spepiarpose Cayman Islands company funded by a cajpdmt
bond transaction, for terrorism, nuclear, biologiead chemical risks on our entire retained lifénsarance
business. The coverage period ran from Januarg0Q6 to December 31, 2008, and provided SALIC with
protection from losses arising from higher thannmalr mortality levels within the United States, aparted by the
U.S. Center for Disease Control and Preventiontloerodesignated reporting agency. This coveragebased on a
mortality index, which in turn was based on age a@mshder weighted mortality rates for the Unitedt&ta
constructed from publicly available data sourcesjafined at inception of the transaction, and Wwiticmpared the
mortality rates over consecutive two year periada teference index value. We have not renewadctiver due to
the reduced size of our retained business.

Amounts recoverable from reinsurers includes thartes due from reinsurance companies for claings an
policy benefits that will be recovered from reirsis;, based on contracts in-force, and are preseeteaf a reserve
for uncollectible reinsurance that has been detsrchibased upon a review of the financial conditidnthe
reinsurers and other factors. The method for detgng the reinsurance recoverable involves actlastimates as
well as a determination of our ability to cede miaiand policy benefits under our existing reinsaeacontracts.
The reserve for uncollectible reinsurance is basedan estimate of the amount of the reinsurancevezable
balance that we will ultimately be unable to reaodee to reinsurer insolvency, a contractual dispartany other
reason.

The methods used to determine the reinsurance eemiole balance, and related bad debt provisiortjraaily
are reviewed and updated and any resulting adjudtmare reflected in earnings in the period idesdif At
December 31, 2009 and 2008, we had a reserve fwllaatible reinsurance of $5.0 million and $4.5liom,
respectively.

Interest Sensitive Contract Liabilities
The liabilities for interest sensitive contractbiities equal the accumulated account values efgtblicies or
contracts as of the valuation date and include umdeived plus interest credited less funds withdrand interest

paid. Benefit liabilities for fixed annuities dugnthe accumulation period equal their account \sluter
annuitization, they equal the discounted preselievaf expected future payments.
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FASB ASC 944, which incorporates SFAS No. 97 “Aauting and Reporting by Insurance Enterprises for
Certain Long-Duration Contracts and for Realizedn&and Losses from the Sale of Investments” (“SH¥®S
97"), applies to investment contracts, limited pr@m contracts, and universal life-type contractst Fvestment
and universal life-type contracts, future benefibilities are held using the retrospective depo®thod, increased
for amounts representing unearned revenue or rehladoolicy charges. Should the liabilities fotufte policy
benefits plus the present value of expected fugrmss premiums for a product be insufficient tovide for
expected future benefits and expenses for thatustodeferred acquisition costs will be written affd thereafter, if
required, a premium deficiency reserve will be lelished by a charge to income.

Income Taxes

Income taxes are recorded in accordance with FASK A opic 740, Income Taxes (“FASB ASC 740",
formerly SFAS No. 109, “Accounting for Income TakX€*SFAS No. 109”). In accordance with FASB ASC 740
for all years presented we use the asset anditjabibthod to record deferred income taxes. Acaalyi deferred
income tax assets and liabilities are recognizedl bflect the net tax effect of the temporaryaefiéihces between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilitiesfifmancial reporting purposes and the amounts useth€ome tax
purposes, using enacted tax rates. Such tempoiffieyedces are primarily due to tax basis of reesnDACS,
unrealized investment losses and net operatingclsy forwards. A valuation allowance is applieddeferred tax
assets if it is more likely than not that all, @ portion, of the benefits related to the defbtex assets will not
be realized.

Stock-based Compensation

We account for our stock-based compensation inrdecce with FASB ASC Topic 718, Compensation —
Stock Compensation (“FASB ASC 718"), formerly SFA®.123(R) “Share Based Payment” (“SFAS No.
123(R)"), using the modified-prospective transitimethod.

Funds Withheld at Interest

Funds withheld at interest are funds held by cedmmpanies under modified coinsurance and fundsheit
coinsurance agreements whereby we receive theegitércome earned on the funds. The balance ofsfinett
represents the statutory reserves of the cedinganils with the assets supporting these resert@isad by the
ceding company and managed for our account. Intaesues to these assets at rates defined byehty terms.
These agreements are considered to include embelddizatives as further discussed in this Note.addition to
our modified coinsurance and funds withheld coiasae agreements, we have entered into various cliaan
reinsurance treaties that, although consideredsfumithheld, do not transfer significant insuranék rand are
recorded on a deposit method of accounting.

Other Assets

Other assets primarily include unamortized dehiasse costs, interest rate swap derivative, coflafmance
facility costs, certain deferred transaction cofteds on deposit as security for certain colldtérence facilities,
and fixed assets

As of December 31, 2009 and 2008, we had unamdriipdateral finance facilities costs and debt ésse
costs of approximately $21.8 million and $24.5 ioil| respectively. During 2009, 2008 and 2007, wewiized
collateral finance facilities costs and debt issgarcosts of $2.6 million, $6.8 million and $11.9llion,
respectively. Debt issuance costs relating to ong term debt were fully amortized in 2009. In 20&e wrote off
collateral finance facilities costs related to Batyne Re ($21.3 million), Clearwater Re (as defiire Note 10,
“Collateral Finance Facilities and SecuritizatianuStures€learwater Re) ($10.3 million), HSBC Il (as defined in
Note 10, “Collateral Finance Facilities and Sedzaiion Structure$4SBC 11”) ($4.8 million) and our reinsurance
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facility ($4.6 million). There were no write offd oollateral finance facilities costs in 2007. Deésl costs relating
to the collateralized catastrophe protection witrtdn were fully amortized in 2008. During 2008 &007, we
amortized $1.4 million and $1.4 million of thesdeateed costs respectively.

Other Liabilities

Other liabilities primarily relate to collateralditity accrued interest, deferred guarantee feab @mcertain
income tax liabilities (FASB ASC 740-10, formerly\N-48).

Long Term Debt at Fair Value

Long term debt at fair value relates to amountstanding on the Pass-Through Certificates. See Nt
“Debt Obligations and Other Funding Arrangements”.

Earnings per Share

In accordance with FASB ASC Topic 260, Earnings $eare (“FASB ASC 260"), formerly SFAS Statement
No. 128 “Earnings Per Share” (“SFAS No. 128"), &idF No. 03-06, “Participating Securities and thedFClass
Method under FASB Statement No. 128", basic eamipgr share is computed based on the weighted gevera
number of ordinary shares outstanding and assumesl@cation of net income to the Convertible Cuativie
Participating Preferred Shares for the period atigo of the period that this security is outstamgdi During the
year ended December 31, 2007, we determined thetdardance with FASB ASC Subtopic 470-20, DebtebtD
with Conversion and Other Options (“FASB ASC 470)20vhich incorporates EITF 98-5, “Accounting for
Convertible Securities with Beneficial Conversioaakures or Contingently Adjustable Conversion R&tiand
EITF 00-27, “Application of Issue No. 98-5 to Cént&onvertible Instruments”, the non-cash beneffictaversion
feature recorded on issue of the Convertible Cutivél@articipating Preferred Shares amounting 2034 million
should be treated as a deemed dividend and dedinotedhe net loss attributable to ordinary shateééis for the
purposes of calculating earnings per share.

Under the provisions of FASB ASC 260, formerly SFNB. 128, basic earnings per share are computed by
dividing the net loss attributable to ordinary ganiders by the weighted average number of shdresrardinary
shares outstanding for the period. Diluted earnpeysshare is calculated based on the weightecdhgearumber of
shares of ordinary shares outstanding plus theedileffect of potential ordinary shares in accocgawith the if-
converted method.

3. Recent Accounting Pronouncements

FASB ASC Consolidation Section 810-10-65, Consotida — Overall — Transition and Open Effective Date
Information (formerly FASB Statement No. 160, Nonotolling Interest in Consolidated Financial Stateents)

In December 2007, the FASB issued FASB AS@d0bdation Section 810-10-65, Consolidation — @ller
Transition and Open Effective Date Information (‘6B ASC 810-10-65") formerly SFAS No. 160,
“Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Financg&tiatements — an amendment of Accounting ReseatighiBu
(“ARB") No. 51" (“SFAS No. 160"), which aims to improve the red@ee, comparability and transparency of the
financial information that a reporting entity prdes in its consolidated financial statements bwldisthing
accounting and reporting standards surrounding ownalling interests, or minority interests, whiehre the
portions of equity in a subsidiary not attributahdlirectly or indirectly, to a parent. The owneslinterests in
subsidiaries held by parties other than the pasdmll be clearly identified, labeled and presentedthe
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position withquity, but separate from the parent’s equity. ahwunt of
consolidated net income attributable to the pasut to the noncontrolling interest must be cleagntified and
presented on the face of the Consolidated Statsnwfrincome (Loss). Changes in a parent’s ownerstigrest
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while the parent retains its controlling finandiatierest in its subsidiary must be accounted fors@iently as equity
transactions. A parent’s ownership interest in hsgliary changes if the parent purchases additiomadership
interests in its subsidiary, sells some of its ohip interests in its subsidiary, the subsidi@goquires some of its
ownership interests or the subsidiary issues additiownership interests. When a subsidiary is dealdated, any
retained noncontrolling equity investment in thenfer subsidiary must be initially measured at Yailue. The gain
or loss on the de-consolidation of the subsidiarymieasured using the fair value of any noncontliquity
investment rather than the carrying amount of th&ined investment. Entities must provide suffitidisclosures
that clearly identify and distinguish between timeiests of the parent and the interests of thecamrolling
owners. FASB ASC 810-10-65 was effective for fisgalars, and interim periods within those fiscal rgea
beginning on or after December 15, 2008. We induttie enhanced disclosures required by FASB ASC18165
in our consolidated financial statements.

FASB ASC Topic 820, Fair Value Measurements and Elssures (formerly FASB Statement No. 157, Fair
Value Measurements)

As of January 1, 2008, we adopted FASB ASC Topit, &ir Value Measurements and Disclosures (“FASB
ASC 820"), formerly SFAS No. 157air Value Measurements'("SFAS No. 157"). This statement defines fair
value, establishes a framework for measuring failue and expands disclosures about fair value measunts. The
adoption of FASB ASC 820 did not have a materiglat on our consolidated financial statements.

FASB ASC Section 815-10-65, Derivatives and HedgirgOverall — Transition and Open Effective Date
Information (formerly FASB Statement No. 161, Dismdures about Derivative Instruments and Hedging
Activities)

In March 2008, the FASB issued FASB ASC Section-805%5, Derivatives and Hedging — Overall —
Transition and Open Effective Date Information (‘6B ASC 815-10-65"), formerly SFAS No. 16Disclosures
About Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activitig§SFAS No. 161"). FASB ASC 815-10-65 establishes
reporting standards that require enhanced disa@gsabout how and why derivative instruments arel,usew
derivative instruments are accounted for under FASE Topic 815, Derivatives and Hedging, and hoviva¢ive
instruments affect an entity’s financial conditidimancial performance, and cash flows. FASB ASG-80-65 was
effective for fiscal years, and interim periodshiit those fiscal years, beginning on or after Nobeml5, 2008.
The adoption of FASB ASC 815-10-65 did not haveadamal effect on our consolidated financial statets.

FASB ASC Subtopic 860-40, Transfers and Servicing ransfers to Qualifying Special Purpose Entitiewlfich
incorporate FSP FAS No. 140-4 and FIN 46(R)-8, Eahced Disclosure Requirements Related to Transfafrs
Financial Assets and Variable Interest Entities)

In December 2008, the FASB issued FSP FAS 140-4 FIhNd 46(R)-8, “Disclosures by Public Entities
(Enterprises) about Transfers of Financial Assetd &nterests in Variable Interest Entitie§"FSP 140-4"), which
are now incorporated in FASB ASC Subtopic 860-4an§fers and Servicing — Transfers to Qualifying&al
Purpose Entitieg"FASB ASC 860-40"). FASB ASC 860-40 amends FASEt&ment No. 140 “Accounting for
Transfers and Servicing of Financial Assets andngxishments of Liabilities” (“SFAS No. 140") to qaire
additional disclosures regarding a transferor'stinamg involvement with transferred financial assen a
securitization or asset-backed financing arrangemehSB ASC 860-40 also amends FIN 46 (revised D
2003) “Consolidation of Variable Interest Entitiesp expand the disclosure requirements for vadainterest
entities (“VIES”) to include information regardirtge decision to consolidate the VIE, the naturaraf changes in
risks related to a VIE, and the impact on the gistiinancial statements due to the involvemenhwitVIE. Those
variable interests required to comply with the guice in FASB ASC 860-40 include the primary benaficof the
VIE, the holder of a significant variable interestd a sponsor that holds a variable interest. EyrthASB ASC
860-40 requires enhanced disclosures for certaonsps and holders of a significant variable irgera a
qualifying special purpose entity. The provisiofig=dSB ASC 860-40 were effective for the first refiog period
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ending after December 15, 2008, and comparativeladisres were not required. We included the entthnce
disclosures required by FASB ASC 860-40 in the sidtethe consolidated financial statements begqiminthe
reporting period ended December 31, 2008, and there been no significant changes to disclose @920

See Note 10, “Collateral Finance Facilities anduBiézation Structures” for more information regeugl our
involvement with VIEs.

FASB ASC Section 820-10-65, Fair Value Measurememtsd Disclosures — Overall — Transition and Open
Effective Date Information (formerly FSP FAS No. 154, Determining Fair Value When the Volume and Lelv
of Activity for the Asset or Liability Have Signifantly Decreased and Identifying Transactions Thate Not
Orderly)

In April 2009, the FASB issued FASB ASC $att820-10-65, Fair Value Measurements and Disclssy
Overall — Transition and Open Effective Date Infation (“FASB ASC 820-10-65"), formerly FSP FAS Nkb7-4,
“Determining Fair Value When the Volume and LevélAativity for the Asset or Liability Have Signdiatly
Decreased and ldentifying Transactions That Are Quterly” (“FSP No. 157-4"). FASB ASC 820-10-65 provides
additional guidance for estimating fair value itaaance with SFAS No. 157, emphasizing that ef/¢imere has
been significant decrease in the volume and lefelctivity for the asset or liability and regarddesf valuation
technique(s) used, the objective of a fair valueasoeement remains the same. FASB ASC 820-10-6% lshal
effective for interim and annual reporting pericateding after June 15, 2009 and shall be appliedpaatively.
Early adoption is permitted for periods ending aftéarch 15, 2009. Earlier adoption for periods egdbefore
March 15, 2009 is not permitted. The adoption ofSBAASC 820-10-65 did not have a material effectoon
consolidated financial statements.

FASB ASC Section 825-10-65, Financial Instruments ©verall — Transition and Open Effective Date
Information (formerly FSP FAS 107-1 and APB 28-1nterim Disclosures about Fair Value of Financial
Instruments)

In April 2009, the FASB issued FASB ASC $a&ct825-10-65, Financial Instruments — Overall -ansition
and Open Effective Date Information (“FASB ASC 8P3-65"), formerly FSP FAS No. 107-1 and APB No. 28-
“Interim Disclosures about Fair Value of Financiadstruments”(FSP No. 107-1 and APB No. 28-1"). FASB ASC
825-10-65 was issued to require disclosures al@uvdlue of financial instruments for interim repog periods of
publicly traded companies as well as in annualrfoia statements, and for those disclosures atimmteeporting
periods to be in a format that summarized finangifdrmation. FASB ASC 825-10-65 shall be effeetifor
interim reporting periods ending after June 15,200ith early adoption permitted ending after Maddh 2009.
We included the annual summarized financial infdfomadisclosure required by FASB ASC 825-10-65 iotdN6,
“Fair Value of Financial Instruments” of the coridaked financial statements.

FASB ASC Topic 855, Subsequent Events (formerly BAStatement No. 165, Subsequent Events)

In May 2009, the FASB issued FASB ASC Topic 855)saquent Events (“FASB ASC 855"), formerly SFAS
No. 165, “Subsequent Events(“SFAS No. 165"). This statement is intended toabBth general standards of
accounting for and disclosure of events that oafier the balance sheet date, but before the fiabsiatements are
issued or are available to be issued. FASB ASCr8g&ires the disclosure of the date through whiclentity has
evaluated subsequent events and the basis foratke—dthat is, whether that date represents the tbatfinancial
statements were issued or were available to bedss@his disclosure should alert all users oftfsial statements
that an entity has not evaluated subsequent eefteisthe date in the set of financial statemerisad presented.
The Company adopted FASB ASC 855 during the secuiadter of 2009 and evaluates subsequent eveotsgtnr
the date its financial statements are filed. Tdhepsion of this standard did not have an impacbonconsolidated
financial statements.
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FASB ASC Topic 105, Generally Accepted Accountingniples (formerly FASB Statement No. 168, The FBS
Accounting Standards Codification and the Hierarchyf Generally Accepted Accounting Principles-a
replacement of FASB Statement No. 162)

In June 2009, the FASB issued FASB ASC Topic 108&ndgally Accepted Accounting Principles (“FASB
ASC 105"), formerly SFAS No. 168,The FASB Accounting Standards Codification ane tHierarchy of
Generally Accepted Accounting Principles-a replaeatmof FASB Statement No. 162" (“FASB No. 168This
statement is a replacement of SFAS No. 18Re"' Hierarchy of Generally Accepted Accounting Bipfes” and
aims to establish theASB ASGas the source of authoritative accounting primsnd the framework for selecting
the principles used in the preparation of finangttements of non-governmental entities that aesemted in
conformity with U.S. GAAP. FASB ASC 105 is effedti for financial statements for interim or annuatipds
ending on or after September 15, 2009. FASB ASC Wb have no impact on our consolidated financial
statements as it only changes the referencinghahfiial accounting standards and does not changkeorexisting
U.S. GAAP.

Accounting Standards Update No. 2009-05, Fair Valieasurements and Disclosures (Topic 820) — Measgri
Liabilities at Fair Value

In August 2009, the FASB issued Accounting Stadsldadpdate No. 2009-05, Fair Value Measurements and
Disclosures (Topic 820) — Measuring Liabilities Rair Value (“ASU No. 2009-05"). This update proegd
amendments to FASB ASC Subtopic 820-10, Fair Valigasurement and Disclosures-Overall, for the faiue
measurement of liabilities. ASU No. 2009-05 pregctlarification in using valuation techniques rieeasuring fair
value of liabilities, estimating the fair value afliability and also clarifies Level 1 fair valueeasurements of a
liability. ASU No. 2009-05 is effective for therdi reporting period (including interim periods)oeing after its
August 2009 issuance. The adoption of ASU No. 2009lid not have a material impact on our constdida
financial statements.

Accounting Standards Update No. 2009-17, Consolidas (Topic 810) — Improvements to Financial Repog
by Enterprises Involved with Variable Interest Etis

In December 2009, the FASB issued Accounting Stateddpdate No. 2009-17, Consolidations (Topic 810)
Improvements to Financial Reporting by Enterprise®lved with Variable Interest Entities (“ASU N2009-17").
ASU No. 2009-17 replaces the quantitative-basekk remnd rewards calculation for determining whichomting
entity, if any, has a controlling financial interés a variable interest entity with an approactufged on identifying
which reporting entity has the power to direct dlotivities of a variable interest entity that msiginificantly impact
the entity’s economic performance and the obligatmabsorb losses of, and the right to receivesfitsifrom, the
entity. This update also requires additional disgtes about a reporting entity’s involvement iniafale interest
entities which will enhance the information provd® users of financial statements. ASU No. 2009s1&ffective
as of the beginning of each reporting entity’stfaanual reporting period that begins after Novenite 2009, for
interim periods within that first annual reportipgriod and for interim and annual reporting perititisreafter.
Earlier application is prohibited. We are currenttyiewing ASU No. 2009-17 to determine whethes thill have
an impact on our consolidated financial statements.

Accounting Standards Update No. 2010-02, Consolidat(Topic 810) - Accounting and Reporting for Dezaises
in Ownership of a Subsidiary — A Scope Clarificatio

In January 2010, the FASB issued Accounting Statslalpdate No. 2010-02, Consolidation (Topic 810) -
Accounting and Reporting for Decreases in Ownersifiip Subsidiary — A Scope Clarification (“ASU N2010-
02"). ASU No. 2010-02 provides amendments to SubtBf0-10 and related guidance within U.S. GAARI&xify
the scope of the decrease in ownership provisibtiseoSubtopic related guidance. It also clarifiest the decrease
in ownership guidance does not apply to certainstations even if they involve businesses. ASU 204.0-02 is
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effective beginning in the period that an entitppid SFAS No. 160 (now included in Subtopic 810-1f0dn entity
has previously adopted SFAS No. 160 as of the tih@t@mendments in this update are included in tB€,AASU
No. 2010-02 is effective in the first interim orraral reporting period ending on or after Decemt®gr2009 and
applied retrospectively to the first period thateamity adopted SFAS No. 160. The adoption of A$& 2010-02
did not have an impact on our consolidated findrat@tements.

Accounting Standards Update No. 2010-06, Fair Valieasurements and Disclosures (Topic 820) — Imprayi
Disclosures about Fair Value Measurements

In January 2010, the FASB issued Accounting Statglalpdate No. 2010-06, Fair Value Measurements and
Disclosures (Topic 820) — Improving Disclosures@#hiéair Value Measurements (“ASU No. 2010-06"). LANo.
2010-06 provides more robust disclosures aboudiffierent classes of assets and liabilities meabsatdair value,
the valuation techniques and inputs used, theigctivLevel 3 fair value measurements and thedfans between
Levels 1, 2 and 3. ASU No. 2010-06 is effectiveifdgerim and annual reporting periods beginningralecember
15, 2009, except for the disclosures about purchasdes, issuances and settlements in the relafdr of activity
in Level 3 fair value measurements. These discssare effective for fiscal years beginning aftec&nber 15,
2010 and for interim periods within those fiscabge We are currently evaluating the potential ichpaf the
adoption of ASU No. 2010-06 on our consolidateaficial statements.

Accounting Standards Update No. 2010-09, Subsequé&wents (Topic 855) — Amendments to Certain
Recognition and Disclosure Requirements

In February 2010, the FASB issued Accounting StedeldJpdate No. 2010-09, Subsequent Events (Tofsg 85
— Amendments to Certain Recognition and DisclofReguirements (“ASU No. 2010-09"). ASU No. 2010-09
addresses both the interaction of the requiren@ASB ASC 855 with the SEC’s reporting requiretsesind the
intended breadth of the reissuance disclosuresigioovrelated to subsequent events. It also hagpthential to
change reporting by both private and public ergjtwever, the nature of the change may vary dgpgron facts
and circumstances. ASU No. 2010-09 is effectivenuigsuance of the final update, except for theaigbe issued
date for conduit debt obligors which is effectiwe interim or annual periods ending after June2lB,0. As we are
not an SEC filer, ASU No. 2010-09 did not have damal impact on our consolidated financial statatae

4, Investments

Effective January 1, 2008, our invested assets wkassified as trading and the balances in fixeduritg
investments - available-for-sale and preferred kstecavailable-for-sale were transferred to tradsegurities.
Additionally, as of January 1, 2008, the balancaimfealized appreciation on investments, which iprety was
included in accumulated other comprehensive inc@loes), was reclassified and recorded in the Caatestald
Statement of Income (Losses) caption “Net realened unrealized (gains) losses”.

Trading investments are recorded at fair markeuezalUnrealized holding gains and losses on trading
investments are included in earnings. Interestésrded based upon the stated coupon rate as@ooent of net
investment income. For securities with uncertaashc flow, the investments are accounted for unbercbst
recovery method, whereby all principal and coupagnpents received are applied as a reduction otdngying
value. Cash flows for trading securities are dfasbin Investing Activities on the Consolidatethments of Cash
Flows based on the nature and purpose for whichetlaged securities were acquired.

The portion of net unrealized gains and lossegHeryear ended December 31, 2009 and 2008, ttaesetio
trading securities still held at the reporting dat$140.6 million gains and $1,874.8 million lasseespectively.
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The portion of net unrealized losses in respectanfing securities still held at the reporting daséng Level 3
measurements (for more information on Level 3, Nete 5 — “Fair Value Measurements”) for the yeadesh

December 31, 2009 and 2008, is $65.7 million and %19 million, respectively.

The estimated fair values of our held for tradixgd maturity investments and preferred stock ateébeber 31,
2009 and 2008 are as follows:

December 31, December 31,
(U.S. dollars in thousands) 2009 2008
U.S. Treasury securities and U.S. government agency
OBlIgAtiONS.....c.viiiiiiiie et $ 104,643 $ 10%,79
Corporate SECUNLIES .....coeviiiiieeeeeeie i 1,166,251 1,593,499
Municipal bonds ... 43,803 49,549
Mortgage and asset backed securities ..... mmmm...... 1,673,467 2,028,261
Preferred StoCK ..o 77,410 79,767
TOMAl et $ 3,065,574 $ 3,860,871

The contractual maturities of the held for tradiixgd maturities and preferred stock at December2BD9 and
2008 are as follows (actual maturities may diffemaesult of calls and prepayments):

Estimated Fair Value Estimated Fair Value
December 31, December 31,
(U.S. dollars in thousands) 2009 2008
Due in one year Or IeSS .......oociiiviiiiceeeee e $ 177,986 $ 155,369
Due after one year through five years...................... 519,981 514,226
Due after five years through ten years...................... 302,329 455,511
DUE after teN YEAIS .......ccveeueeeeeeeets e 391,811 707,504
1,392,107 1,832,610

Mortgage and asset backed securities...... o 1,673,467 2,028,261
TOAl. ettt $ 3,065,574 $ 3,860,871

During the year ended December 31, 2007, we revieavailable-for-sale securities with material utiresl
losses and tested for other-than-temporary impaitsnen a quarterly basis. Factors involved in thianination of
potential impairment include fair value as compaeedost, length of time the fair value has bedoweost, credit
worthiness and forecasted financial performancehef issuer, position of the security in the isssierapital
structure, the presence and estimated value ddteddll or other credit enhancement, length of tinmaturity, the
level and volatility of interest rates and our itteand ability to hold the security until the estited fair value
recovers. When a decline is considered to be “dtiemn-temporary”, the cost basis of the impaireskais adjusted
to its fair value and a corresponding realized stvent loss recognized in the Consolidated Statesvarincome
(Loss).

U.S. GAAP required that we evaluate for each ingghsecurity in respect of which the estimated falue is
less than its amortized cost whether we have ttentrand ability to hold the security for a readdedime for a
forecasted recovery of the fair value up to the ized cost of the investment. This required usdasider our
capital and liquidity requirements, any contractoalregulatory obligations, and the implicationsonir strategic
initiatives that might indicate that securities nmged to be sold before the forecasted recovefgiofalue occurs.
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We did not meet the necessary conditions to aiseihtent and ability to hold securities with ualized losses
for a period of time sufficient to allow for a ra@y in their value as of December 31, 2007. looagdance with
FASB ASC Topic 320, Investments — Debt and EquigBities (“FASB ASC 320"), we recorded $777.1 raill
as part of net realized investment losses in thesGladated Statements of Income (Loss) during 200r&écognize
other-than-temporary impairments in securities thatno longer could positively assert our intend ability to
hold to recovery of fair value.

During the year ended December 31, 2007, fixed ntgtinvestments and preferred stock availabledale
securities with a fair value at the date of sal&280.3 million were sold.

During the year ended December 31, 2007, fixed rtgtinvestments and preferred stock availabledale
securities which were below amortized cost werd ablosses of $12.6 million.

At December 31, 2007, our available-for-sale fixecbme portfolio had 11,053 positions. Of thessifans,
there were none trading at an unrealized loss.

Due to other-than-temporary impairment chargesgeized by us in the year ended December 31, 206ik

were no fixed maturity investments or preferrectktinat have estimated fair values below amortizest or cost as
of December 31, 2007.

27



SCOTTISH RE GROUP LIMITED
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2009
4. Investments (continued)
The analysis of realized and unrealized gains €&)ssaand the change in net unrealized (depreciation)

appreciation on investments and other balanceshiryears ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2@0@&sar
follows:

Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended
December 31, December 31, December 31,
(U.S. dollars in thousands) 2009 2008 2007
Gross realized and unrealized gains
(losses)
Fixed maturities
Gross realized gains..........cccceeveeevvmmmnnn. $ 118,234 $ 37,257 $ 2,911
Gross realized (I0SS€S) ...vvvvvvvvveeveeeeeeennn, (8,888) (33,863) (13,149)
Net unrealized gains (losses) ..........cccuueeee 32,295 (1,866,490) -
Other-than-temporary impairments ......... - - (952,315)
241,641 (1,863,096) (962,553)
Preferred stock
Gross realized gains..........cccccvvvvvvvememen. 2,687 138 1
Gross realized (I0SS€S) ...vvvvvvevvieiieeeenennn, (270) (87) (1,732)
Net unrealized gains (Iosses) ..........cccuueeee ,308 (8,324) -
Other-than-temporary impairments ......... - - (9,441)
10,723 (8,273) (11,172)
Other
Foreign currency (I0SS€S)............cceeevenneee (360) (149) (356)
Deferred acquisition COStS..........cceeeeeeennn. - - 5112
Change in value of interest rate swap ...... (6,907 - -
Interest rate swap investment income....... 3,180 - -
Realized losses on modco treaties ........... 6,62 (19,374) (2,582)
OtNET e 341 (5,003) (1,369)
Net realized and unrealized gains
(I0SSES) ..o 242,990 (1,895,895) (972,920)
Change in net unrealized (depreciation)
appreciation on investments
Fixed maturities ........cccccvvvvvveeeneeeees i - (38,392) 75,252
Preferred stock.........cccccvvvviiiiiennnenenn. - (59) 2,793
Change in deferred acquisition costs ....... - 5,44 (14,428)
Change in deferred income taxes............. - 6,495 (17,229)
Change in net unrealized (depreciation)
appreciation on investments ................... - (26,514) 46,388

Change in net unrealized appreciation

(depreciation) attributable to

noncontrolling iNterest.................c..oee... - 204 (454)
Total net realized and unrealized gains

(losses) and change in net unrealized

(depreciation) appreciation on
investments and other balances $ 242,990 $  (1,922,205) $ (926,986)
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Net investment income for the years ended Dece®@be?009, 2008 and 2007 was derived from the falhgw
sources:

Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended

December 31, December 31, December 31,
(U.S. dollars in thousands) 2009 2008 2007
Fixed MaturitieS ........cccovvevveeeeesievieem s $ 138,971 $ 288,877 $ 443,943
Preferred stoCK.........ocveeieiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieeees 5,250 5,618 6,564
Funds withheld at interest........................ 34,694 73,747 104,055
Other investments........ccocoovveeeiiiiviimeenenn.. 3,300 16,881 43,056
INVEStMENt EXPENSES .........c.oveveveerreenenns (5,292) (7,819) (11,289)
Net investment iNCOME ........o.oeveveveeeereeene. $ 176,923 $ 377,304 $ 586,329

We are required to maintain assets on deposit wvéttous regulatory authorities to support our iasige and
reinsurance operations. These requirements armypgated in the statutory regulations of the indil
jurisdictions. The assets on deposit are availabettle insurance and reinsurance liabilitiége also utilize trust
funds in certain transactions where the trust fuads established for the benefit of the ceding cames and
generally take the place of letter of credit (‘LQGequirements. At December 31, 2009 and 2008) sssets
included fixed maturities at the estimated fairuneabf $2,349 million and $3,537 million, respecliyeand cash and
cash equivalents of $219 million and $616 millioespectively. This includes controlled assets iwittollateral
finance facilities that we consolidate. See Ndde “Collateral Finance Facilities and SecuritizatiBtructures”.
The estimated fair value of these assets, as agrblger 31, 2009, total $1,001 million of investmecaspared to
$1,776 million at December 31, 2008, and $115 amillof cash and cash equivalents compared to $482min
the prior year. These assets are held for the ac@l obligations of these structures and for riggulatory
obligations of our reinsurance operations and ateawailable for general corporate purposes.

The components of the estimated fair value of thiel tonsolidated invested restricted assets aember 31,
2009 and 2008 are as follows:

December 31, December 31,
(U.S. dollars in thousands) 2009 2008
Deposits with U.S. regulatory authorities.............. $ 15,863 $ 15,267
TrUSE FUNAS .o 2,552,590 4,137,617
$ 2,568,453 $ 4,152,884

5. Fair Value Measurements

We adopted FASB ASC 820 as of January 1, 2008. FASB 820 establishes a framework for measuring fair
value, establishes a fair value hierarchy basedhemuality of inputs used to measure fair valuel anhances
disclosure requirements for fair value measurements

The hierarchy gives the highest priority to unatjdsquoted prices in active markets for identicgdets or
liabilities (Level 1 measurements) and the lowegirfly to unobservable inputs (Level 3 measurermserithe three
levels of the fair value hierarchy under FASB ASTD &re described below:

Level 1 — Quoted prices for identical instrumemtaictive markets.
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Level 2 — Quoted prices for similar instrumentsactive markets; quoted prices for identical or &mi
instruments in markets that are not active; and ehddrived valuations in which all significant irfpuand
significant value drivers are observable in actharkets.

Level 3 — Model derived valuations in which onemore significant inputs or significant value driseare
unobservable.

As required by FASB ASC 820, when the inputs usetheasure fair value fall within different leveltbe
hierarchy, the level within which the fair value aserement is categorized is based on the lowest ilgput that is
significant to the fair value measurement in itrety. Thus, a Level 3 fair value measurement nmajude inputs
that are observable (Level 1 and 2) and unobsex\éleivel 3).

Level 1 primarily consists of financial instrumemthose value is based on quoted market prices asistocks
and actively traded mutual fund investments.

Level 2 includes those financial instruments that walued by independent pricing services or valusidg
models or other valuation methodologies. These elsog@rimarily are industry-standard models that sicer
various inputs, such as interest rate, credit spread foreign exchange rates for the underlyingrfaial
instruments. All significant inputs are observaldederived from observable, information in the kedplace or are
supported by observable levels at which transastare executed in the marketplace. Financial ingnis in this
category primarily include: certain public and e corporate fixed maturity and equity securitggsyernment or
agency securities; certain mortgage and asset-bada@urities; and securities held as collateral.

Level 3 is comprised of financial instruments whdaee value is estimated based on non-binding mage
prices or internally developed models or methode®gtilizing significant inputs not based on, orroborated by,
readily available market information. This categprimarily consists of certain less liquid fixed tuaty and equity
securities where we cannot corroborate the sigmifizaluation inputs with market observable dataditionally,
our embedded derivatives, all of which are assediatith reinsurance treaties, are classified inel&vsince their
values include significant unobservable inputs eissed with actuarial assumptions regarding polidgar
behavior. Embedded derivatives are reported wighhttist instruments in the Consolidated BalancetShee

At each reporting period, all assets and liabgitae classified in their entirety based on theelsiwevel of
input that is significant to the fair value measnest. Our assessment of the significance of aquéati input to the
fair value measurement in its entirety requiregjudnt, and considers factors specific to the amskdbility, such
as the relative impact on the fair value as a teduhcluding a particular input.

The majority of our fixed maturity and equity seties use Level 2 inputs for the determination af falue.
These fair values are obtained primarily from ingtegient pricing services, when available, utilizirgyel 2 inputs.
Where pricing services do not provide fair values, pricing services utilize proprietary pricing dets to produce
estimates of fair value primarily utilizing Leveli2Zputs along with certain Level 3 inputs.

The proprietary pricing models include matrix pmigiwhere we discount expected cash flows utilizirayket
interest rates obtained from third-party sourcesetlaon the credit quality and duration of the umsient to
determine fair value. For securities that may reotddiably priced using internally developed pricimodels, broker
guotes are obtained. These broker quotes reprasexxit price but the assumptions used to estaltie fair value
may not be observable and represent Level 3 inputs.

Long term debt at fair value has been valued ukegel 2 input for the determination of fair valu@he fair
value was derived with reference to traded priocesdentical liabilities.
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The interest rate swap derivative has been valgadyu_evel 2 inputs including forward interest satierived
from observable information in the market place.

The embedded derivatives results from assumed mddifoinsurance (“modco”) or coinsurance funds
withheld reinsurance arrangements. These valueshased upon the difference between the fair vafuthe
underlying assets backing the modco or funds withfexeivable and the fair value of the underlyliagilities.

The fair value of the assets generally is basech gtiservable market data using valuation methadgasito
those used for assets held directly by us. Thevidue of the liabilities is determined by usingnket observable
swap rates as well as some unobservable inputs asucttuarial assumptions regarding policyholdérabier.
These assumptions require significant managemedgnjent.

The fair value is determined by using the Incom@mpach as characterized by FASB ASC 820. This atkth
estimates the value of future equity purchasesgusartain actuarial assumptions and margins. Tdieadal
assumptions include factors that generally areohservable such as policyholder behavior, exptisk margins
related to non-capital market inputs, and fututerigst margins. These assumptions require signifimanagement
judgment.

The following tables set forth our assets and ligds that are measured at fair value on a reegrbasis as of
the date indicated:

December 31, 2009

(U.S. dollars in millions) Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
INVESTMENTS ...oveiii e
Government SECUNMEIES .........ccevveereeeesivvvvveeeee P 1046 $ - % 1044 $ 0.2
Corporate SECUNLIES.........oooiiiiiiiiieeeeeee e 1,166.3 - 1,033.0 133.3
Municipal bonds..........ccccviiiiiiiiiicis v, 43.8 - 43.8 -
Mortgage and asset backed securities..... 1,673.5 - 1,200.7 472.8
Preferred StOCK ......ccoevivieiiiiiiiiiieiccce e 77.4 - 24.0 53.4
EQUILY .o 3.7 3.7 - -
Derivatives — interest rate SWap...........ceeoeeeeeveevens 25.9 - 25.9 -
Total assets at fair VAlUE ...........c.cv e eeserrenainnrs D 3,095.2 $ 3.7 % 2,431.8 $ 659.7
Embedded derivatives ...............cooeeee o e eennnnnns (35.7) - - (35.7)
Long term debt at fair value (55.1) - (55.1) -

@

Total liabilities at fair Value............c.oveeeeeeeeeerenn. (90.8) $ - $ (55.1) $ (35.7)
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(U.S. dollars in millions)

INVESIMENTS ...ovviiii s

Government securities

Corporate securities............oooveeivniiees
Municipal bonds...........ciiiiiiiinniies
Mortgage and asset backed securities..... .-
Preferred StoCK ........ccceevviviiiieiiniinenn.
Total assets at fair value .................mmmmveeereneeennn

Embedded derivativVes ...............ueeeees e eeeeennns
Total liabilities at fair value.....................

December 31, 2008

Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

............. $ 109.8 $ - $ 103.1 $ 6.7
................ 1,593.5 - 1,452.2 141.3
................ 49.6 - 49.6 -
2,028.2 - 1,303.2 725.0

................ 79.8 - 31.2 48.6
$ 3,860.9 $ - 3 2,939.3 $ 921.6

(347.5) - - (347.5)

................ $ (3475) $ - $ - 3 (347.5)

The following table presents additional informatilmout assets measured at fair value on a recusasg and
for which we have utilized significant unobservafilevel 3) inputs to determine fair value:

Fair Value Measurements Using Significant Unobservae Inputs

(U.S. dollars in millions)

Beginning balance at January 1, 2009 ......ccccc... $

Transfers attributable to deconsolidation of

Ballantyne Re..................

Total realized and unrealized gains (losses)

included in net income

Purchases, issuances and settlements..............
Transfers in and/or out of Level 3.........ccceeue....
Ending balance at December 31, 2009................ $

(Level 3)
Other
Liabilities at
Fixed Fair Value —
Maturities & Embedded
Preferred Stock Derivatives Total
9216 $ (3475) $ 574.1
............................... (108.6) - (108.6)
............................... (16.9) 311.8 294.9
(43.8) - (43.8)
(92.6) - (92.6)
659.7 $ (35.7) $ 624.0
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Fair Value Measurements Using Significant Unobservae Inputs

(Level 3)
Interest
Other Sensitive
Liabilities at Contract
Fixed Fair Value — Liabilities —
Maturities & Embedded Embedded
(U.S. dollars in millions) Preferred Stock Derivatives Derivatives Total
Beginning balance at January 1, 2008.........cc.... $ 25526 $ (385 $ (93.0) $ 2,421.1
Total realized and unrealized gains (losses)
included iN NELI0SS ....ccoooviiiiiiceeeee e, (1,472.6) (309.0) 11.6 (1,770.0)
Purchases, issuances and settlements .............. (125.7) - 81.4 (44.3)
Transfers in and/or out of Level 3 ........coeeeeee..... (32.7) - - (32.7)
Ending balance at December 31, 2008 ............... $ 9216 $ (3475) $ - 8 574.1

We review the fair value hierarchy classificatiamsarterly. Changes in the observability of the aibn
attributes may result in a reclassification of agrtfinancial assets or liabilities. Such reclasations are reported
as transfers in and out of Level 3 at the beginfféirgvalue for the reporting period in which tHeaciges occur.

6. Fair Value of Financial Instruments

As discussed above, fair value of financial asaets liabilities is estimated under FASB ASC 820hgsihe
following methods and assumptions:

0] Fixed maturity investments and preferred stock aaeied at fair value. See Note 5, “Fair Value
Measurements” for a description of the methodolegied assumptions used to determine the fair \@lfiaancial
instruments carried at fair value.

(i) Other investments carrying value approximatesvailue.

(iii) Funds withheld at interest represent fixed matuntestments held by ceding companies and the fair
values are consistent with the methodologies asdmagtions used to determine the fair value of firegturities
carried at fair value.

(iv) Fair values for collateral finance facilities pitare the utilization of market value observablptits.
For any notes issued by the collateral financdifes that are wrapped by guarantors, we defifedunit of value
as the combination of the issued note and guaraA®a result, the fair value of the collateralafiice facilities
incorporates the value of the guarantee, includomsideration of the non-performance risk of thargators.

(v) Fair value of the interest rate swap derivative theen calculated with reference to observable marke
inputs. See Note 5, “Fair Value Measurements”datescription of the methodologies and assumptisesl to
determine the fair value of financial instrumerdsried at fair value.

(vi) Long term debt at fair value ("i.e. outstanding $2&trough Certificates [held by third parties]”)
have been derived with reference to traded price&l&ntical liabilities. See Note 5, Fair Valuedsurements” for
a description of the methodologies and assumptises to determine the fair value of financial instents carried
at fair value.
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(vii) Fair values for our long term debt of trust preferisecurities were determined with reference to
similar quoted securities and settlements of o@@mnpany long term debt during 2009. In 2008, dievalues for
our long term debt were determined by a third paetyice provider.

(viii) Interest sensitive contract liabilities include amts payable under funding agreements and
investment contracts. The fair value for amoumigable under funding agreements was determinectiiydaparty
service provider with reference to similar quotedisities. The fair value of investment contragtbjch exclude
significant mortality risk, is based on the caslrender value of the liabilities as an approximataf the exit
market.

(ix) Embedded derivatives are carried at fair value. Bete 5, “Fair Value Measurements” for a
description of the methodologies and assumptioad s determine the fair value of financial instents carried at
fair value.

December 31, 2009 December 31, 2008
Carrying Estimated Fair Carrying Estimated Fair
(U.S. dollars in thousands) Value Value Value Value
Assets
Fixed maturity investments...... $ 2,988,164 $ 2,988,164 $ 3,781,104 $ 3,781,104
Preferred stock .........cccceeeeeee. 77,410 77,410 79,767 79,767
Other investments..................... 21,482 21,482 18,112 18,112
Funds withheld at interest
(excluding cash)................... 608,500 513,419 1,748,768 1,474,183
Derivatives — interest
rate SWap ....ccceeeeveeeeeeeevenennnns 25,924 25,924 - -
Liabilities
Collateral finance facilities ...... $ 1,300,000 $ 907,710 $ 3,000,000 $ 1,861,229
Long term debt at fair
value ......oovvviiieeiieieeeieeeeeei, 55,068 55,068 - -
Long termdebt..............cccees 129,500 32,375 129,500 62,000
Amounts payable under
funding agreements........... - - 425,159 185,000
Investment contracts............. 1,518,365 1,485,554 1,600,395 1,554,817
Embedded derivatives........... 35,732 35,732 347,519 347,519

7. Funds Withheld at Interest

For agreements written on a modco basis and ceatagements written on a funds withheld coinsurdoasss,
asset values recorded in the Consolidated BalaheetS are equal to the net statutory reserve fatehbes with
the assets backing the reserves retained by thegcedmpany and managed for our account, includhng
reporting of amortized costs and fair value on plegtfolio. The amounts in the funding accounts adgusted
quarterly to equal the net statutory reserve basnc

At December 31, 2009 and 2008, funds withheld tera@st were in respect of six contracts with foeding
companies. At December 31, 2009, we had three adstwith two companies within the Lincoln Finamc&aoup
(two contracts with Lincoln National Life Insuran€&mpany and one contract with Lincoln Life & Antyi
Company of New York) that accounted for $501 millig2008 - $535 million) or 82% (2008 — 31%) of flveds
withheld balances. Additionally, we had one coritrgith Inviva that accounted for $70 million or 1286the funds
withheld balances. In 2008, we had one contradt ®itDI that accounted for $1,165 million or 67%thé funds
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withheld balances. This is now with Hannover R@at of the Acquired Business transaction, effecfianuary 1,
2009. See Note 14, “Reinsurarfsale of a Block of Life Reinsurance North AmeriesiBesS The remaining
contracts were with lllinois Mutual Life Company caimerican Founders Life Insurance Company. Lincoln
National Life Insurance Company has a financiaéragth rating of “A+” from A.M. Best and Lincoln lgf &
Annuity Company of New York has a financial strangating of “NR-5" from A.M. Best, both as at Deceen 31,
2009. In the event of insolvency of the ceding pames on these arrangements, we would need to anclleém on
the assets supporting the contract liabilitidewever, the risk of loss is mitigated by our dpito offset amounts
owed to the ceding company with the amounts owedstdy the ceding company. Reserves for futurecpoli
benefits and interest sensitive contract liabsitrelating to these contracts amounted to $608omiknd $1,749
million at December 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively

8. Deferred Acquisition Costs

The following reflects the amounts of policy acdfios costs deferred and amortized:

December 31, December 31,

(U.S. dollars in thousands) 2009 2008
Balance beginning of Year .............ueiiiicceeemieeeee $ 53475 $ 581,131
Deferred acquisition costs associated with BallaatiRe no longer

included in the financial statements of SRGL duddeconsolidation (7112) -
EXpenses deferred.......cccccuviiiiiiiiiieieeeee e 1,906 16,677
AMOTtiZAtION EXPENSE ..evviiiiiieeee e e e e eeeeee e e e e e e e e e e e e e (79,848) (227,775)
Deferred acquisition costs on unrealized gainslasges ..................... - 5,442
Deferred acquisition costs on realized 10SSeS...c.c.vvvvviiieiiiiiiieeeeeeenn, - -
Balance at end Of YEAr ..........cooviiiiiiceceeee et $ 296,822 $ 375,475

The amortization expenses in 2009 include negaiveunts of $24.9 million attributable to the recaps
made in 2009 on a portion of the Acquired Busirssdd to Hannover Re, in addition to accelerated Du&®cking
of $15.5 million on the Financial Solutions busim@ssociated with realized gains incurred in tta.ye

Included in the 2008 amortization expense is thgregpte write-off of deferred acquisition costs tamo
significant recaptures of $76 million and the re@ssion of the Clearwater Re business of $75 millio

9. Present Value of In-force Business

A reconciliation of the present value of in-foragsmess is as follows:

December 31, December 31,
(U.S. dollars in thousands) 2009 2008
Balance at beginning of Year ............... e cevvveeee i $ 105 $ 41,859
YN g0 ] 1= 1110 o R (1,789) (1,754)
Balance at end Of YEAr .........ccovviiiiiicecmeeee et $ 38,316 $ 40,105
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A reconciliation of the gross amount of presentueabf in-force business and the accumulated amofint
amortization, in total, is as follows:

December 31,

(U.S. dollars in thousands) 2009

Gross amount of present value of in-force business.................. $ 56,272
Accumulated amortization...............evvueemmemeieeieeeeeeeeeee e eees (17,956)
Net amount of present value of in-force busin@sS..............c.......... $ 38,316

Future estimated amortization of the present vafun-force business is as follows:

(U.S. dollars in thousands)

Year ending
December 31
P20 O $ 3,256
P20 2,980
2012 e, 2,512
2013 ., 2,338
2014 ..o, 2,064
Thereafter.........ccoeen..... 25,166
$ 38,316
10. Collateral Finance Facilities and Securitizatin Structures

Orkney Re, Inc.

On February 11, 2005, Orkney Holdings, LLC, a Delealimited liability company (“Orkney I”), issueghd
sold in a private offering an aggregate of $850iomlSeries A Floating Rate Insured Notes due Fatyrd1, 2035
(the “Orkney Notes”). Orkney | was organized foe fimited purpose of issuing the Orkney Notes aoldihg the
stock of Orkney Re, Inc., originally a South Camalispecial purpose financial captive insurance @mypnow a
Delaware special purpose captive insurance comg&dskney Re”). SRUS holds all of the limited liaityl
company interest in Orkney |, and has contributepital to Orkney | in the amount of $268.5 millidhroceeds
from this offering were used to fund the Valuatioh Life Insurance Policies Model Regulation (“Reafitn
XXX") reserve requirements for a defined block ef/¢l premium term life insurance policies issueddingct
ceding companies between January 1, 2000 and DetceBiy 2003, and reinsured by SRUS to Orkney Re.
Proceeds from the Orkney Notes have been depdstiea series of accounts that collateralize thiesiand the
reserve obligations of SRUS.

The holders of the Orkney Notes have no recourainagus or any of our subsidiaries, other thann@ykl.
The timely payment of interest and ultimate paymanprincipal for the Orkney Notes are guarantegdviBIA
Insurance Corporation (“MBIA").

Interest on the principal amount of the Orkney Ndtepayable quarterly at a rate equivalent toetfmenth
LIBOR plus 0.53%. At December 31, 2009, the indemate was 0.80% (compared to 2.82% at December 31
2008). Any payment of principal, including by reaation, or interest on the Orkney Notes is sourfreth
dividends from Orkney Re, and the balances ava&labh series of trust accounts generally excludimgpunts on
deposit in a reinsurance trust account supportisgassociated reserve requirements of SRUS. Did&lenly may
be made after filing with the Commissioner in aclzorce with the terms of Orkney Re’s licensing orded in
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accordance with applicable law. The Orkney Notis® @ontain a customary limitation on lien provissoand
customary events of default provisions, which, riédched, could result in the accelerated matufitthe Orkney
Notes. Orkney | has the option to redeem all podion of the Orkney Notes prior to and on or mfebruary 11,
2010, subject to certain call premiums.

In accordance with FASB ASC 810-10, Orkney | is sidared to be a variable interest entity and we are
considered to hold the primary beneficial inteffeibwing a quantitative analysis whereby it wadedmined that
we would absorb a majority of the expected loséssa result, Orkney | is consolidated in our finahstatements.
The assets of Orkney | have been recorded as fixeirity investments and cash and cash equivale@sr
Consolidated Statements of Income (Loss) showsnthestment return of Orkney | as investment incand the
cost of the facility is reflected in collateral dince facilities expense. Funds in the securitpastructure are used
for the sole purpose of the securitization strietamd hence not available for general corporatpga@s. See Note
4, “Investments”.

To the extent that we continue to experience falue declines in our investment portfolio, we magea to
recapture a pro-rata portion of the underlying bess in Orkney | and find alternative collatergbsort for the
recaptured business. No assurances can be giaérwehwould be successful in securing alternatioiateral
support.

Orkney Re, Inc. Notices of Default

On February 9, 2009, MBIA served Orkney Rekney | and SRUS with notices of default underheaf the
Orkney | indenture and the insurance and indemagyeement (the “Orkney Insurance Agreement”), aligg
failure by the parties to provide certain requifedncial statements and improper withdrawals ey ghrties from
Orkney | tax accounts. SRUS cured such allegeduttsfwithin the cure periods set forth in the imdee and the
Orkney Insurance Agreement.

On September 21, 2009, MBIA served Orkney Bekney | and SRUS with a notice of default undes t
restructuring agreement executed at the time oh&rkRe’s redomestication from South Carolina toaelre,
alleging failure by the parties to provide MBIA Wwian actuarial review in accordance with the rezents set
forth in the restructuring agreement. SRUS, Orkhegd Orkney Re disagree with such contentionweier, in
the event such alleged failure to provide an a@lesview ultimately were determined to be a défaand because
not cured within five (5) business days of the Sapfter 21, 2009 notice, then such default would titotes an
event of default under the Orkney Insurance Agregmehich in turn would provide certain enhancedtcactual
rights to MBIA under the Orkney Insurance Agreemeéntluding the right to recover from Orkney | aagtual
losses, costs and expenses incurred by MBIA in ection with the event of default and the receiptceftain
penalty fees. Pursuant to the terms of a lettezeagent put in place between SRUS and MBIA atithe of the
Orkney | transaction, SRUS then would be obligateday on behalf of Orkney I certain of the foregpfees and
expenses to the extent due from Orkney I. As afdb@ber 31, 2009, MBIA, Orkney Re, Orkney | and SRu#se
engaged in negotiations related to such actuaiétw and alleged default.

For further discussion on notices of defaalated to Orkney Re and Orkney |, see Note 2Bhb&8quent
Events”.

Orkney Re Il plc

On December 21, 2005, Orkney Re Il plc, a speaigp@se vehicle incorporated under the laws of ila
(“Orkney Re 11"), whose issued ordinary shares lae&l by a share trustee and its nominees in torstHaritable
purposes, issued in a private offering $450 millmfndebt to external investors. The debt consiste&382.5
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million of Series A-1 Floating Rate Guaranteed Ndthe “Series A-1 Notes”), $42.5 million of Seri Floating
Rate Notes (the “Series A-2 Notes”), and $25 millad Series B Floating Rate Notes (the “Series BeNY), all due
December 31, 2035 (collectively, the “Orkney Réldtes”). The Orkney Re Il Notes are listed on lifieh Stock
Exchange. Proceeds from this offering were usefinid the Regulation XXX reserve requirements fatedined
block of level premium term life insurance policissued between January 1, 2004 and December 34, 20
reinsured by SRUS to Orkney Re Il. Proceeds froen@rkney Re Il Notes have been deposited intariassef
accounts that collateralize the notes and the vesaligations of SRUS.

The holders of the Orkney Re Il Notes have no resmagainst us or any of our subsidiaries. AssGnearanty
(UK) Ltd. (“Assured”) has guaranteed the timely pent of the scheduled interest payments and timeipél on
the maturity date of the Series A-1 Notes.

The debt issued to SALIC consisted of $30 millidnSeries C Floating Rate Notes (“Series C Notesig d
December 21, 2036, and $5 million of Series B Nofésse Series C Notes accrue interest only UngilOrkney Re
Il Notes are fully repaid. SRGL owns $0.5 milliorerigs D Convertible Notes due December 21, 2036, an
76,190,000 Preference Shares of $1.00 each iratapit

Interest on the principal amount of the Orkney Rbldtes is payable quarterly at a rate equivalenthtee-
month LIBOR plus 0.425% for the Series A-1 Notéseé-month LIBOR plus 0.73% for the Series A-2 Notnd
three-month LIBOR plus 3.0% for the Series B No#sDecember 31, 2009, the interest rate on théeSek-1
Notes was 0.70% (compared to 2.72% at Decembe2®B), Series A-2 Notes was 1.00% (compared to%3.82
December 31, 2008), and Series B Notes was 3.2@%p@ared to 5.29% at December 31, 2008). The OrReei
Notes also contain customary limitation on lienyismns and customary events of default provisiomisich, if
breached, could result in the accelerated mataofithe Orkney Re Il Notes. Orkney Re Il has théapto redeem
all or a portion of the Orkney Re Il Notes, subjectertain call premiums and available (unencumethefunds.

In accordance with FASB ASC 810-10, Orkney Re Itamsidered to be a variable interest entity ancaree
considered to hold the primary beneficial intefefibwing a quantitative analysis whereby it wadedmined that
we would absorb a majority of the expected los#es.a result, Orkney Re Il is consolidated in ouraficial
statements. The assets of Orkney Re Il have bemrded as fixed maturity investments and cash ash ¢
equivalents. Our Consolidated Statements of Incdbuss) shows the investment return of Orkney Redl
investment income and the cost of the securitinaswucture is reflected in collateral finance lities expense.
Funds in the securitizations are primarily usedtfar purpose of the securitizations and hence waladble for
general corporate purposes. See Note 4, “Investthen

In May 2008,we executed amendments to certain transaction datisnto give us flexibility in dealing with
additional near term estimated fair value declimethe sub-prime and Alt-A securities held by Orkriee II. The
amendments eliminate certain priority of paymemitttions and provide us greater flexibility to apture business
from Orkney Re Il

To the extent that we continue to experience falue declines in our investment portfolio, we magea to
recapture a pro-rata portion of the underlying beiss in Orkney Re Il and find alternative collaltstgport for the
recaptured business. No assurances can be giaérwehwould be successful in securing alternatioiateral
support.

Orkney Re Il Event of Default, Acceleration and é&osure
On the scheduled interest payment date on May @d9,20rkney Re Il was unable to make scheduledeste
payments on the Series A-1 Notes. Failure to nsaioh payments in full when due constitutes an ewtdefault

under the Orkney Re Il indenture (“Orkney EOD”)ssAired, in its capacity as financial guarantohef$eries A-1
Notes, made guarantee payments on the Series Aels Mothe amount of $1.2 million. As a resultleé Orkney
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EOD, Assured obtained, and will continue to havertain enhanced contractual rights under the trdiosa
documents and additional fees will be accruedHerguarantee coverage.

Among Assured’s enhanced contractual rights aréh@yight to instruct the trustee to declare thiegipal of
and the interest on all the Notes to be due andidaymmediately and (b) the right to foreclosemume Collateral
(as defined in the related indenture). On JurD@9, Assured instructed the trustee to accel¢hatélotes and the
trustee delivered a notice of acceleration to OykRe Il on June 18, 2009. On June 19, 2009, Assocgified
Orkney Re Il and the trustee that it was electmfpteclose upon the Collateral.

Following these actions, on June 26, 2009, SRUSceseaxl its contractual right under its agreemenith w
Orkney Re Il to withdraw all assets from the resecvedit trust established by Orkney Re Il for benefit of
SRUS. The withdrawn assets were deposited into SSRegregated accounts pursuant to the terms of the
reinsurance agreement between SRUS and Orkney ®eell'Orkney Re Il Reinsurance Agreement”) whereyt
are held in order to provide reserve credit to SRtShe reinsurance liabilities that continue ®deded to Orkney
Re Il and for certain other permissible uses urterOrkney Re Il Reinsurance Agreement. The tearsf assets
had no impact on our consolidated financial statéme

On the scheduled interest payment dates of Augus2d09 and November 12, 2009, Orkney Re Il wadblgna
to make scheduled interest payments on the SeriedNdtes. Assured made guarantee payments oreties -1
Notes in the amount of $1.4 million and $0.9 miilidor August 11, 2009 and November 12, 2009, retspay.

For further discussion on the Orkney Re Il schedlufeerest payments on the Series A-1 Notes, sde R
“Subsequent Events”.

HSBC I

On December 22, 2005, we entered into an agreemigmtHSBC for a 20 year collateral finance facility
(“HSBC II") that provided up to $934 million of fancing for the purpose of collateralizing interc@emp
reinsurance obligations on a portion of the busiresjuired from the ING Companies subject to ReiguiaXXX
reserve requirements. Simultaneously, we enteredai total return swap with HSBC under which weenentitled
to the total return of the investment portfoliotbé trust established for this facility. In accande with FASB ASC
810-10, the trust associated with this facility wassidered to be a variable interest entity andwere deemed to
hold the primary beneficial interest in the trusildwing a quantitative analysis whereby it wasedetined that we
would absorb a majority of the expected losses.aAssult, the trust was consolidated in our fimgrgtatements.
The total return swap represents a variable inténethe underlying trust, and therefore all faaslnve movements
eliminate upon consolidation. Our Consolidatedesteents of Income (Loss) showed the investmentnaitithe
trust as investment income and the cost of thditfaeias reflected in collateral finance facilitiegpense. Funds in
this facility were used solely for the purposelw# facility and hence not available for generapooate purposes.

On June 30, 2008, we executed a forbearance agneéemith HSBC in respect to the HSBC Il facility as
previously disclosed whereby HSBC agreed to forlbaking action until December 15, 2008. In ordeathieve
forbearance, we agreed to certain economic andenonemic terms, including forbearance paymentsS8€, the
contribution by SALIC of additional collateral the transaction, limitations on future fundings b$BC under the
facility, and the requirement to achieve certaifestones set by HSBC related to, among other thithgssale of
our Life Reinsurance North America Segment, alwdfich significantly increased constraints on ourikable
capital and liquidity.

In connection with the HSBC Il facility, on Septeent80, 2008, we entered into a binding letter ¢énh (the
“HSBC II LOI") with ING and the ING Companies. Fwant to the HSBC Il LOI, SLD consented to the péoee
by SRUS of the business (such recaptured busittessHSBC Il Recaptured Business”) that had beatedeby
SRUS to Scottish Re (Dublin) Limited (“SRD”) forelpurpose of collateralizing (with financing progéiby the
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HSBC Il collateral finance facility) the RegulatiodXX reserve requirements for a portion of the bess
originally acquired by us from the ING Companieshat end of 2004 (such portion related to the H3BsDIlateral
finance facility, the “HSBC Il Business”) effectias of September 30, 2008 (the “HSBC Il Recapture”)

On October 15, 2008, we and certain of our subs@tisentered into a series of transactions witleféective
date of September 30, 2008 to unwind the HSBCdilifp. In connection with the unwind transactioftSBC was
repaid in full from assets within the collateraldhce facility that secured the obligations to HSB&e also paid a
$6 million fee pursuant to the related forbearaamgpeement and paid a make—whole fee of $4 milliedyced from
the amount contractually owed to HSBC), and thélifpacand the forbearance agreement and its termasew
terminated. Following the consummation of the HSBM®ecapture, SLD recaptured the HSBC Il Recapture
Business from SRUS and then ceded the HSBC Il Recsp Business to SLDI, which ceded the HSBC Il
Recaptured Business to Scottish Re Life (Bermudajted (“SRLB").

SLDI agreed to provide, or cause the provisionoog or more letters of credit (“LOCS") in orderpgoovide
SLD with statutory financial statement credit fétretexcess reserves associated with the HSBC |l jReeal
Business over the economic reserves held in anuatoelated thereto. In conjunction with the HSBIC
Recaptured Business, the ING Companies initiallpvigled approximately $650 million of LOCs, with an
obligation to provide additional LOCs as needed.cAssideration, we agreed to bear the costs oL @®Es by
paying to SLD a facility fee based on the face amaf such LOCs outstanding as of the end of theeguling
calendar quarter. Upon closing the transactiomsecoplated by the Purchase Agreement (as definegdnfdor the
Acquired Business, the obligation to pay these Lio€s transferred to Hannover Re. The recapturesdion
recorded during the period ended September 30,,208d on the HSBC Il LOI, resulted in no impacttie
Consolidated Balance Sheets or Consolidated Statsnoé Income (Loss) on a consolidated GAAP bastn
October 15, 2008, when the HSBC Il collateral facilvas unwound, we returned to HSBC $558.5 millton
relieve the liabilities and fees associated with fidwcility. This resulted in a pre-tax loss of & illion. Both the
unwind and the related GAAP loss were recordedoagponents of fourth quarter 2008 results becausetivind
was not effectuated until October 2008.

On December 19, 2008, the final phase of the unwiad effected through the retrocession by SLDIhef t
recaptured business to SRLB. The HSBC Il RecagtBrgsiness and related LOC payment obligations wartof
the Acquired Business sold to Hannover Re. Assdtsned to SRUS in conjunction with the recaptwasisted
primarily of assets released from the economic aetof the associated Reinsurance Trust (suppottiagelevant
economic reserves).

Ballantyne Re plc

On May 2, 2006, Ballantyne Re plc, a special puepgehicle incorporated under the laws of Irelasduéd in
a private offering $1.74 billion of debt to exteriravestors and $178 million of debt to SALIC.

Interest on the principal amount of the notes idsig Ballantyne Re (the “Ballantyne Notes”) is plalgain
intervals ranging from every 28 days to monthhatmually, depending on the note, initially at aratuivalent to
one-month LIBOR plus 0.61% for the Class A-1 FlogtRate Notes (and after May 2, 2022, one-monthQRB
plus 1.22%), one-month LIBOR plus 0.31% for thesSI&-2 Floating Rate Guaranteed Notes Series A éédted
May 2, 2027, one-month LIBOR plus 0.62%), one-mohtBOR plus 0.36% for the Class A-2 Floating Rate
Guaranteed Notes Series B (and after May 2, 208&;noonth LIBOR plus 0.72%), 4.99%, 4.99%, 5.00% and
5.01% for Series A, Series B, Series C, and Sé&ietthe Class A-3 Notes, respectively (with theeran the Class
A-3 Notes to reset every 28 days), 7.51% for thaess€B-1 Subordinated Notes, one-month LIBOR pl08%. for
the Class B-2 Subordinated Floating Rate Notes,aawdriable rate based on performance of the uyidgrblock
of business for the Class C-1 Subordinated Varistitlerest Rate Notes and the Class C-2 Subordinéteidble
Interest Rate Notes.
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The holders of the Ballantyne Notes have no reeoagainst us or any of our subsidiaries. The tirpayment
of the scheduled interest payments and the prihopahe maturity date of Series A of the Class Al@&es and
Series A, Series B, Series C, Series D and, ieds8eries E of the Class A-3 Notes has been gieacby Ambac
Assurance UK Limited (“Ambac”). The timely paymenftthe scheduled interest payments and the pahoip the
maturity date of Series B of the Class A-2 Notes, dnissued, Series F of the Class A-3 Notes lentguaranteed
by Assured. Ambac and Assured are referred t@cilely in the capacity as guarantors under théaBigne Re
facility as the “Financial Guarantors”.

Initially, in accordance with FASB ASC 810-10, Baltyne Re was considered to be a variable intergsy
and we were considered to hold the primary beradficiterest following a quantitative analysis whsret was
determined that we would absorb a majority of tkpeeted losses. As a result, Ballantyne Re wasotidiased in
our financial statements through December 31, 200& assets of Ballantyne Re were recorded thr@uggember
31, 2008 as fixed maturity investments and cashaasth equivalents. Our Consolidated Statementacofme
(Loss) include the investment return of BallantyRe as investment income and the cost of the seairin
structure was reflected in collateral finance fties expense through December 31, 2008.

Under the contractual terms of the Ballantyne Ri#emnture, Ballantyne Re is required to write-off atl a
portion of the accrued interest and principal & @lass C-1 and Class C-2 Notes if the equity lcalarfi Ballantyne
Re (determined in accordance with InternationabRaial Reporting Standards) falls below a specifigtbunt as of
September 30 of any year. In 2007, all of the €@ Notes and a portion of the Class C-1 Notas weitten off.
As of September 30, 2008 and 2007, such equitynbalaemained below the specified amount primarig tb
further fair market value declines on BallantynésRavestment portfolio. Under the terms of thell&atyne Re
Indenture, principal and accrued interest thaeweritten off resulted in realized gains of $21.dion in 2008 and
$27.1 million in 2007, comprising $19.4 million @D - $20 million) of principal, net of the assoei@tpremium and
discount, and $2.5 million (2007 - $7.1 million) afcrued interest, on the extinguishment of thiadypdebt in
accordance with FASB ASC Topic 860, Transfers ardviSing (“FASB ASC 860”), formerly SFAS No. 140
“Accounting for Transfers and Servicing of Finandasets and Extinguishment of Liabilities” (“SFA®. 140").
As at December 31, 2008, $nil million of Class Gldtes were outstanding.

Ballantyne Re Recaptures

In 2008, continued erosion in asset values in takaBtyne Re structure created significant and natmarket
value declines on the assets in Ballantyne Re. afority of these assets in Ballantyne Re suppottiedreserve
credit taken by SRUS on excess reserve obligationsspect of the business ceded by SRUS to BgiienRe. To
avoid significant reserve credit shortfalls at SRaHsing from depressed asset values and corresgpnded for
capital calls from SRUS under its net worth maiatae agreement from SALIC, we entered into nedotiatwith
the ING Companies and the Financial Guarantoreliewe statutory reserve credit shortfalls from Badlantyne
Re structure and avoid future uncertainty relatingasset valuations. These negotiations led tergess of
incremental recaptures from Ballantyne Re, and tesadly, the full assignment to SLD of SRUS’ resewredit
exposure to the Ballantyne Re structure.

We entered into a binding letter of intent with IhN&G Companies, effective March 31, 2008 (the “MaBL™
LOI"). Under the March 31LOI, SLD consented to a recapture, as of March2®D8, a pro-rata portion of the
business that had been ceded by SRUS to Ballamgn@ll such recaptured business and subsequeagitoees
from Ballantyne Re discussed below, collectivelg tRecaptured Business”) for the purpose of caltdizing the
Regulation XXX reserves for a portion of the bussmacquired by us from the ING Companies at theoéra04
(such portion related to the Ballantyne Re transagt On May 6, 2008, we completed this transactand
recaptured approximately 29.5% of the BallantynsiBess, effective as of March 31, 2008. Immedydi@lowing
the consummation of this transaction, SLD recaptutee Recaptured Business from SRUS in exchangerfor
amount approximately equal to the assets releas8&RUS on its recapture from Ballantyne Re, and trezgled the
Recaptured Business to SLDI, which ceded the RaepagtBusiness to SRLB. The market value of thetass
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transferred to the ING Companies in connection wiitis recapture was $174.6 million and consistecssfets
retained within the economic account of the Ballaat Re trust. These assets were transferred tdNfe
Companies and ultimately reinsured back to us mdified coinsurance and funds withheld basis.

We entered into a subsequent binding letter ofninteith the ING Companies, effective June 30, 200@
“June 3@ LOI"). The June 38 LOI related to the business that SRUS ceded ttafighe Re for the purpose of
collateralizing the Regulation XXX reserves foratpn of the Ballantyne Business. Pursuant todtiee 38 LOI,
SLD consented to the recapture by SRUS of a peattion of the Ballantyne Business effective Aidume 30,
2008. On August 11, 2008, we effectuated thissation and recaptured approximately 15.5% of takaBtyne
Business. Immediately following the consummatidrihis transaction, SLD recaptured the Recapturadiriss
from SRUS in exchange for an amount approximatglyaéto the assets released to SRUS on its reeafrtum
Ballantyne Re, and then ceded the Recaptured BissiioeSLDI, which ceded the Recaptured BusinesSRbB.
The market value of the assets transferred toNk& Companies in connection with this recapture $&& million
and consisted of assets retained within the ecanauocount of the Ballantyne Re trust. These assets
transferred to the ING Companies and ultimatelggeied back to us on a modified coinsurance andsfwithheld
basis.

On September 30, 2008, we entered into a binditigrlef intent with the ING Companies pursuant tdS
consented to the recapture by SRUS, effective &epfember 30, 2008, of a pro-rata portion of theiress that
had been ceded by SRUS to Ballantyne Re for thpgser of collateralizing the Regulation XXX reseryes a
portion of the Ballantyne Business. On November 2@08, we effectuated this recapture, which cosegti
approximately 6.5% of the Ballantyne Business. bdiately following the consummation of this trartgat, SLD
recaptured the Recaptured Business from SRUS ihagge for an amount equal to approximately thetasse
released to SRUS on its recapture from Ballantyee d&hd then ceded it to SLDI, which in turn immeéelia
retroceded it to SRLB, which in turn immediatelyroeeded to SALIC. The market value of the assatssferred
to the ING Companies in connection with this recaptwas $41.1 million and consisted of assetsnethivithin
the economic account of the Ballantyne Re trusthest assets were transferred to the ING Compamiés a
ultimately reinsured back to us on a modified comasce and funds withheld basis.

Effective December 31, 2008, the ING Companiesptrad on a pro-rata basis, approximately 11.4%nef
original Ballantyne Business. Immediately followitigs recapture, and effective as of December 8082 SLD
ceded the Recaptured Business to SLDI, which im tunmediately retroceded it to SRLB which in turn
immediately retroceded it to SALIC. The marketueabf the assets transferred was $74.4 million.

As part of each of the recaptures discussed al®iv®,ceded the Recaptured Business to SLDI, whiclede
the Recaptured Business to SRLB which in turn catledRecaptured Business to either SRD or SALICDIS
agreed to provide, or cause the provision of, onenore LOCs in order to provide SLD with statutdnyancial
statement credit for the excess reserves assocuditdthe Recaptured Business. The assets relefioad
Ballantyne Re in conjunction with each recapturkicl resided in an account at the ING Companiestibenefit
of SRLB, and in turn SRD or SALIC, as applicabledahe related liabilities were ceded to us on a iffext
coinsurance and funds withheld coinsurance babisconjunction with the four recaptures, the INGn@mnies
initially provided $843 million of LOCs, with an ébation to provide additional LOCs as needed, Whitas
expected to reach approximately $926 million at gheak of the XXX reserve requirements. As partial
consideration for each of the recaptures, we burectsts of the LOCs by paying to SLD a facilitg feased on the
face amount of such LOCs outstanding. The costhe$e LOCs was consistent with pricing from our 200
acquisition agreement with the ING Companies, agrated on May 7, 2007. Upon closing the transastion
contemplated by the Purchase Agreement (as defieegin) on February 20, 2009 for the Acquired Bes)
Hannover Re assumed the business related to thve abferenced recaptures as well as the obligatigray these
LOC fees. See Note 14, “Reinsurar®ale of a Block of Life Reinsurance North AmericesiBess for further
discussion related to the sale of the Acquired B2ss and the related assumption of the Recaptursiddss.
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Ballantyne Re Assignment

In order to permanently remove SRUS’ future expedarreserve credit shortfalls related to BallartiRe, we
negotiated a transaction with the ING Companies #ed Financial Guarantors to transfer SRUS’ reiasce
exposure to Ballantyne Re. On November 19, 2008, an effective date of October 1, 2008, SRUSgaesd and
novated to SLD the reinsurance agreement and rainse trust agreement between SRUS and Ballantgn@ghie
“Assignment”) as follows: (a) SRUS assigned itsséing reinsurance agreement with Ballantyne Resjant to
which SRUS retroceded to Ballantyne Re the Balla@tBusiness) (the “Pre-Assignment Reinsurance Aggeg’)
to SLD and assigned its existing reinsurance agstement with Ballantyne Re to SLD, (b) immedjathereafter,
SLD and Ballantyne Re amended and restated thasurince agreement (the “Post-Assignment Reinsairanc
Agreement”), pursuant to which SLD cedes directyBallantyne Re the remaining portion of the Balyae
Business, and amended and restated that reinsuraist@greement, pursuant to which SLD is the beleeficiary
of the reinsurance trust account maintained byaB&he Re, and (¢) SLD and SRUS amended and regtete
existing reinsurance agreement related to the Bigie Business to reflect these changes. Dedpétdoregoing
recaptures and assignment, we have not changedaldings in the Preferred Shares and Class D Niotes
Ballantyne Re.

Following the Assignment, SRUS remains obligateddminister the Ballantyne Business consistent wéth
obligation to administer the business acquired ftbenING Companies at the end of 2004, of whichBa#antyne
Business is a part, and SRUS was obligated to geospecified administrative services to BallantiRee However,
the obligation to provide reinsurance administratior the Ballantyne Business and the remaindeghefbusiness
acquired from the ING Companies at the end of 20@4, the Acquired Business) was transferred tartéaer Re
in connection with Hannover Re’s acquisition of fkequired Business.

As part of the Assignment, we also agreed thal D $ecaptured business from Ballantyne Re followihg
Assignment in order to continue to receive fullditdor reinsurance, SLDI would be entitled to ceélde Recaptured
Business to us, in which case we would bear thesaufsthe LOCs obtained to support that businesdeasribed
above. In connection with the sale of the AcquiBagsiness, Hannover Re assumed these obligatiodsShaDI
therefore has the right to cede any such RecapBusihess to Hannover Re, and Hannover Re will Hearcosts
of the relevant LOCs.

As discussed in the Disclosure Document, dated aign@8, 2009, available on our website at www.
scottishre.com, the Assignment does not relieve SRUliability for breaches of its representationsrranties,
covenants or other obligations that relate to pkyioefore the effective date of the Assignment,wwacind SRUS
will remain responsible for certain ongoing covetsamade for the benefit of Ballantyne Re and theaRcial
Guarantors. In addition, SRUS has agreed to indgnamd hold harmless SLD and its affiliates fosdes and
damages incurred arising from the exercise by Bajtee Re of any right, or from any limitation orethbility of
SLD to exercise any right or recover any amountlenithe Post-Assignment Reinsurance Agreemengtesttent it
resulted from, generally certain breaches by SRutfuthe Pre-Assignment Reinsurance Agreementaetigyn or
omission by SRUS that causes certain tax event8&tilantyne Re or otherwise causes Ballantyne Rbetan
breach of its representations, warranties or cawsnar any arbitration award against SRUS that $ais on its
behalf to avoid termination of the Post-Assignnmi@ainsurance Agreement.

De-consolidation of Ballantyne Re

Ballantyne Re was consolidated in our December ZI)8 and 2007 consolidated financial statements.
Effective January 1, 2009, Ballantyne Re no lonigeconsolidated within the financial statementsS®@GL.
Pursuant to the Purchase Agreement (as definednhdoe the disposal of the Acquired Business, Harer Re
explicitly agreed to assume the mortality risk &irrecaptures of business from Ballantyne Re. dsposal of the
variable interest to absorb mortality risk recaptufrom Ballantyne Re under the reinsurance agreeomnstituted
a reconsideration event related to the consolidatibBallantyne Re under FASB ASC 810-10, Consiah -
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Overall (“FASB ASC 810-10"), which incorporates FBInterpretation No. 46R “Consolidation of Variable
Interest Entities — An Interpretation of ARB No. "'5'FIN 46R”). We subsequently completed a primary
beneficiary analysis and concluded that we no loage the primary beneficiary of Ballantyne Re afrobd within
FASB ASC 810-10 and, as a result, no longer aresaatating Ballantyne Re into the financial statemtseof
SRGL. The de-consolidation of Ballantyne Re hasuced our consolidated total assets and liabilitigs
approximately $885 million and $2,035 million, resfively, resulting in a one-time non-cash de-ctidation gain
of $1,150 million which we recognized in 2009. Thise-time non-cash de-consolidation gain was irsg@drom
our previous estimate of $750 million disclosedomr December 31, 2008 consolidated financial statem
primarily for consideration of elimination entrieslated to our original investment in Ballantyne. REhis gain has
no impact on our current or future liquidity positi The following tables reflect the significanaldnces
attributable to Ballantyne Re as at the dates atdit below:

December December
31, 2009* 31, 2008**

(U.S. dollars in millions)

Assets

INVESIMENLS ...ovvvvviveeeeeeeeeeee e $ 8279 % 641.8
Cash and cash equivalents.............. 18.5 235.9
All other assets.......cocoveveeveeeveeeeieee 22.2 7.3
TOtal ASSELS...vveeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee e, $ 868.6 $ 885.0
Liabilities

Reserves for future policy benefits.. $ 2268 $ 241.9
Collateral finance facilities............... 1,700.5 1,700.0
All other liabilities...........cccveeveeenenn, 80.3 93.2
Total liabilities ...........cc.cccoverrerrrrenen. $ 20076 $ 20351

*Balances and statement of income (loss) are nusaadated in the consolidated financial statemantef
December 31, 2009.

**Balances and statement of income (loss) are dateted in the consolidated financial statementsfas
December 31, 2008.
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Year Ended
December 31, December 31,
2009* 2008**

(U.S. dollars in millions)
Revenues
Premiums earned, net ..........ccccveveeiiieeenn. $ 82.9 $ 170.0
Investment income, Net............ccvvvveeecmmnns 34.1 89.9
Net realized and unrealized gains (losses).... 50.8 (942.4)
TOtal FEVENUES ..o $ 1678 $ (682.5)
Expenses
Claims and other policy benefits .................. $ 69.6 $ 59.6
Acquisition costs and other insurance

EXPENSES, NeL...coviiiiiiiiiieieeei e 21.2 41.9
Operating eXPeNnSesS........uuveeeeeieeeeeeeeeeeaas 0.4 0.1
Collateral finance facilities expense.............. 65.1 80.2
Total benefits and expenses.................... $ 1563 % 181.8

*Balances and statement of income (loss) are nuéaadated in the consolidated financial statemantef
December 31, 2009.

**Balances and statement of income (loss) are dateged in the consolidated financial statementsfas
December 31, 2008.

As of December 31, 2009, we had no remaining dicsst exposure related to Ballantyne Re sincerdarésts
in the Ballantyne Re Class D Notes and Preferreatedhare valued at $0 and are classified as tradiogrities on
the Consolidated Balance Sheets as of Decemb@089, The Class C Notes were contractually writtrduring
2008.

Following the presentation of the de-consolidatéBallantyne Re discussed herein, we do not intarfdture
periods to continue to disclose events or mattelaead to Ballantyne Re except if and to the extemth events
have a material relevance to our financial resadtsondition.

Ballantyne Re Event of Default

Beginning with the scheduled interest payment datdanuary 2, 2009, and continuing until Februargd®9,
Ballantyne Re was unable to make scheduled intgragiments on the Class A Notes. Failure to malah su
payments in full when due constitutes an eventefdt under the Ballantyne Re indenture (“EOD"uridg this
default period, Ambac made guarantee payments @rCthss A-2 Notes and Class A-3 Notes in the aggeeg
amount of $2.4 million and Assured made guarantgengnts on the Class A-2 Notes in the aggregateiainud
$0.8 million. On February 9, 2009 a partial recaptof the business was completed by the cedingénsthereby
lowering the reserve funding requirement and altmfor more available assets to make interest patgneOn the
following date, Ballantyne Re paid all deferred amtrued interest on the Class A-1 Notes in fulld aepaid
Ambac and Assured for all guarantee payments madegithe default period (plus interest). As autesf the
EOD, Ambac and Assured continue to have certaiameecdd contractual rights under the transaction meats and
additional fees will be accrued for the guarantaeecage.
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Reinsurance Facility

On December 22, 2005, we entered into a long teinsurance facility (“Reinsurance Facility”), wighthird-
party Bermuda-domiciled reinsurer that providedta$1 billion of collateral support for a portioff the business
acquired from the ING Companies and subject to Reigin XXX reserve requirements. The Bermuda reaiesu
provided reserve credit in the form of letters oddit or assets in trust equal to the U.S. stayjuteserves. As of
December 31, 2008, $1 billion, compared to $904il6om at December 31, 2007, of collateral suppwas being
provided. All of the business included in this Reeirance Facility formed a part of the Acquired Bess, and as
such, was acquired by Hannover Re, effective Jgnlia2009, in connection with Hannover Re’s acdiaisiof the
Acquired Business. The transfer of the Reinsurdfamlity to Hannover Re was accomplished througteges of
novation agreements between and among the apm@i€xdohpany affiliate, the ING Companies and Hannd&er
The facility is not considered a variable interestity and consequently is not consolidated in comsolidated
financial statements.

Clearwater Re Limited

On June 25, 2007, Clearwater Re Limited (“Clearw&e") was incorporated under the laws of Bermuaa a
issued in a private offering $365.9 million of Hiog Rate Variable Funding Notes due August 11,72@3external
investors (the “Clearwater Re Notes”). Proceedmfthis offering were used to fund the RegulatiofXXreserve
requirements for a defined block of level premiwemt life insurance policies issued between Jantia®004 and
December 31, 2006 and reinsured by SRUS. CleanRaaeplaced our first collateral finance faciltjth HSBC,
which we historically referred to as “HSBC |I” anchieh was terminated in its entirety in connectioithwthe
creation of the Clearwater Re facility. Prior te termination, the HSBC | facility had provided 818 million of
Regulation XXX reserve funding. Proceeds from @earwater Re Notes were deposited into a reinseraredit
trust to collateralize the statutory reserve ohiares of the defined block of policies noted abové&xternal
investors committed to funding up to $555 milliohtlke ongoing Regulation XXX collateral requiremzoin this
block.

Payment of interest and principal under the CletemBe Notes on the maturity date and followingeaeant of
default by Clearwater Re and related acceleratfothe Clearwater Re Notes were guaranteed by SA@ by
SRGL. Interest on the principal amount of the Gleder Re Notes was payable quarterly at a ratévalgut to
three month LIBOR plus a spread determined by SAd i@surance financial strength rating and SRGlegisr
unsecured credit rating.

In accordance with FASB ASC 810-10, Clearwater Re wonsidered to be a variable interest entity\aed
were deemed to hold the primary beneficial intef@igdwing a quantitative analysis whereby it watatmined that
we would absorb a majority of the expected los#asa result, Clearwater Re was consolidated infimamcial
statements. The assets of Clearwater Re were et@sifixed maturity investments and cash and egslivalents.
Our Consolidated Statements of Income (Loss) irezfuthe investment return of Clearwater Re as invest
income and the cost of the facility was reflectedallateral finance facilities expense. Fundshim Clearwater Re
facility were fully used solely for the purposethé facility and hence not available for generapooate purposes.
See Note 4, “Investments”.

On June 30, 2008, we executed forbearance agregmvéhtthe relevant bank counterparties to the @later
Re facility, whereby such counterparties agreedotbear taking action until December 15, 2008. ohder to
achieve forbearance, we agreed to certain econanticaon-economic terms, including forbearance payse the
Clearwater Re counterparties, the contribution BYIE of additional collateral to the transactiotisjitations on
future fundings by the Clearwater counterpartieslennthe facility, and the requirement to achievetaie
milestones set by the counterparties related tongnother things, the sale of our Life ReinsuraNoeth America
Segment.
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On August 29, 2008, we completed a full recaptefgective as of July 1, 2008, of the business cedeuth
SRUS to Clearwater Re and immediately retrocededdahaptured business, also effective as of JURPQ8, from
SRUS to an unaffiliated third party reinsurer whiohturn has retroceded to Hannover (Ireland) émtiely, the
“Clearwater Re Recapture Transaction”). Effec@eptember 30, 2008, SRUS retroceded the remaimirtgpp of
the defined block of business that it had retaimethe time of the Clearwater Re transaction tostimae third party
reinsurer who in turn retroceded such business daanidver (Ireland). In connection with the CleaevaRe
Recapture Transaction, the bank counterpartiehgoClearwater Re facility were repaid in full witlssets from
within the facility, which secured the obligatioowed to the bank counterparties. Such assetseckgickhe excess
account of the associated reinsurance trust thaposted the relevant excess reserves, and in dusuagcount
governed by an indenture. Assets returned to SRUW®njunction with the Clearwater Re Recapturen$eation
were primarily released from the economic accodrthe associated reinsurance trust that suppohiedelevant
economic reserves. We also paid a $4 million feeght bank-counterparties and the facility, and rilated
forbearance agreement and its terms, were terniing@® a consolidated GAAP basis, the ClearwateR&sapture
Transaction and the subsequent retrocession dagedeportion of business resulted in a reductibiotal assets
and total liabilities of approximately $624 milliand $504 million, respectively, resulting in a GRAre-tax loss
of $119.5 million during the year ended DecemberZID8. The loss primarily was comprised of thé&ewoff of
deferred acquisition costs of $75.1 million and emative ceding commission of $39.4 million. Theefging
transactions eliminated the associated reservét ctegin in SRUS.
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Consolidated collateral finance facilities and settization structures

The following table reflects the significant balascattributable to the collateral finance faciitiand
securitization structures providing collateral sogtfio us as at and for the year ended Decembe2(8B;

Clearwater Orkney Re

(U.S. dollars in millions) Re Orkney | Il Total
Assets
Fixed maturity investments $ - $ 1,001.1 $ - $ 1,001.1
Funds withheld at interest - - 303.1 033
Cash and cash equivalents 0.3 113.1 1.9 115.3
All other assets .......... - 106.4 60.1 166.5
Total assets ................ $ 03 $ 12206 $ 365.1 $ 1,586.0
Liabilities
Reserves for future policy benefits $ - $ 313.0 $18.0 $ 431.0
Collateral finance facilities - 850.0 450.0 1,300.0
All other liabilities..... 0.1 5.8 10.8 16.7
Total liabilities........... $ 01 $ 11688 $ 5788 $ 17477
Revenues
Premiums earned, net $ - $ 96.3 $ 50.9 $ 724
Investment income, net 0.1 22.7 12.4 5.23
Net realized and unrealized gains

(losses)......ccccceen. - 71.3 (32.5) 38.8
Net embedded derivative

adjustments............ - - 19.2 19.2
Total revenues ........... $ 01 $§ 1903 $ 500 $ 2404
Expenses
Claims and other policy benefits $ - $ 84.5 $ 315 % 116.0
Acquisition costs and other

insurance expenses, net - 22.3 10.9 .2 33
Operating expenses.... - 0.3 0.3 6 0.
Collateral finance facilities expense - 20.4 11.8 32.2
Total benefits and expenses $ - $ 1275 $ 545 $ 1820
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The following table reflects the significant balascattributable to the collateral finance faciitiand

securitization structures providing collateral sogipo the Company as at and for the year endeceber 31,
2008:

(U.S. dollars in Clearwater Ballantyne  Orkney Orkney HSBC
millions) Re Re I Re ll I Total
Assets
Investments................ $ - $ 6418 $ 83876 $ 2466 $ - $ 1,776.0
Cash and cash

equivalents............. 0.3 235.9 148.9 66.7 - 451.8
All other assets .......... - 7.3 117.6 61.3 - 186.2
Liabilities
Reserves for future

policy benefits........ $ - $ 2419 $ 3067 $ 1113 $ - $ 6599
Collateral finance

facilities ................. - 1,700.0 850.0 450.0 - 3,000.0
All other liabilities...... 0.2 93.2 8.4 4.3 - 106.1
Total liabilities............ $ 0.2 $ 20351 $1,1651 $ 5656 $ - $ 3,766.0
Revenues
Premiums earned, net$ 48.5 $ 1700 $ 994 % 543 $ - $ 3722
Investment income,

(1] S 14.1 89.9 47.3 21.7 14.4 187.4

Net realized and
unrealized (losses)

gainS......ccceveeeeeennnn (12.4) (961.8) (239.7) (202.3) 33.1 (1,383.1)
Gain on

extinguishment of

third party debt ...... - 19.4 - - - 19.4
Total revenues ........... $ 50.2 $ (6825) $ (93.0) $ (126.3) $ 475 $ (804.1)
Expenses

Claims and other

policy benefits........ $ 42.3 $ 506 $ 900 $ 429 % - $ 2348

Acquisition costs and
other insurance

expenses, net.......... 39.6 41.9 22.2 10.7 - 114.4
Operating expenses.... 0.1 0.1 0.7 - - 0.9
Collateral finance

facilities expense.... 17.7 80.2 37.9 20.4 14.5 170.7
Total benefits and

expenses.................$ 99.7 $ 1818 $ 1508 $ 740 $ 145 $ 520.8
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Long-term debt consists of:

(U.S. dollars in thousands) December 31, 2009 December 31, 2008
Capital securities due 2032..........ccooiiceceiiiiiiiieeeee $ 17,500 $ 17,500
Preferred trust securities due 2033 .......occeeeeeeeeeeennn. 20,000 20,000
Trust preferred securities due 2033 .......ccccccceeeeennnn. 10,000 10,000
Trust preferred securities due 2034 .......cccocceeeeeenn... 32,000 32,000
Trust preferred securities due 2034 ........ccccceu.......... 50,000 50,000
Long term debt at par value ............ocooeercvcenenene. 9 129,500 $ 129,500
Outstanding Pass-Through Certificates..................... $ 55,068 $ -
Long term debt at fair Value ............o.oveceeeeeveererrenns $ 55,068 $ -

Capital Securities Due 2032

On December 4, 2002, Scottish Holdings StatutonysiTt, a Connecticut statutory business trust (i@ap
Trust”) issued and sold in a private offering amragate of $17.5 million Floating Rate Capital Séms (the
“Capital Securities”). All of the common sharestbé Capital Trust are owned by Scottish Holdings, (*SHI"),
our wholly owned subsidiary.

The Capital Securities mature on December 4, 2088y are redeemable in whole or in part at any tfter
December 4, 2007. Interest is payable quarterly ite equivalent to three-month LIBOR plus 4% D&cember
31, 2009 and 2008, the interest rates were 4.25%6a8%, respectively. The Capital Trust may defgyment of
the interest for up to 20 consecutive quarterlyqay, but no later than December 4, 2032. Any detepayments
would accrue interest quarterly on a compoundedshBSHI defers interest on the Debentures dueebdier 4,
2032 (as described below).

The sole assets of the Capital Trust consist of @ilBon principal amount of Floating Rate Debemsir(the
“Debentures”) issued by SHI. The Debentures maturddecember 4, 2032 and interest is payable qladér
rate equivalent to three-month LIBOR plus 4%. AcBmber 31, 2009 and 2008, the interest rates waestand
5.43%, respectively. SHI may defer payment of titerest for up to 20 consecutive quarterly peritas,no later
than December 4, 2032. Any deferred payments waadiue interest quarterly on a compounded basisn&ty
redeem the Debentures at any time after Decemt20Q¥, and in the event of certain changes in tarwstment
company law.

SALIC has guaranteed SHI's obligations under thedp¢ures and distributions and other payments dube
Capital Securities.

Preferred Trust Securities Due 2033

On October 29, 2003, Scottish Holdings, Inc. Statufrust I, a Connecticut statutory businesstt{USapital
Trust 11”) issued and sold in a private offering @aygregate of $20 million Preferred Trust Secigifthe “Preferred
Trust Securities”). All of the common shares of @aprrust 1l are owned by SHI.

The Preferred Trust Securities mature on OctobeR@83. They are redeemable in whole or in paahgttime
after October 29, 2008. Interest is payable qugriatr a rate equivalent to three-month LIBOR plu8586. At
December 31, 2009 and 2008, the interest rates w@@% and 5.38%, respectively. Prior to October ZH8,
interest cannot exceed 12.45%. Capital Trust Il ohefier payment of the interest for up to 20 congSeewquarterly
periods, but no later than October 29, 2033. Anjemled payments would accrue interest quarterlyaon
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compounded basis if SHI defers interest on the Z838ting Rate Debentures due October 29, 20384asribed
below).

The sole assets of Capital Trust Il consist of 62@illion principal amount of Floating Rate Debeamwtsi (the
“2033 Floating Rate Debentures”) issued by SHI. 2883 Floating Rate Debentures mature on OctobeP@33
and interest is payable quarterly at three-mon®QR plus 3.95%. At December 31, 2009 and 2008jrttezest
rates were 4.20% and 5.38%, respectively. SHI nedgrchbayment of the interest for up to 20 conseeutuarterly
periods, but no later than October 29, 2033. Anjemled payments would accrue interest quarterly aon
compounded basis. SHI may redeem the 2033 Flo&i#ig Debentures at any time after October 29, 20@Bin
the event of certain changes in tax or investmentpany law.

SALIC has guaranteed SHI's obligations under th@32Bloating Rate Debentures and distributions ghdro
payments due on the Preferred Trust Securities.

Trust Preferred Securities Due 2033

On November 14, 2003, GPIC Holdings Inc. Statutdryst, a Delaware statutory business trust (“GPIC
Trust”) issued and sold in a private offering agragate of $10 million Trust Preferred Securitige (‘2033 Trust
Preferred Securities”). All of the common share&&1C Trust are owned by SHI.

The 2033 Trust Preferred Securities mature on Sdme 30, 2033. They are redeemable in whole oait gt
any time after September 30, 2008. Interest is lpayquarterly at a rate equivalent to three-montBQR plus
3.90%. At December 31, 2009 and 2008, the intewss were 4.15% and 5.33%, respectively. GPICtTmas/
defer payment of the interest for up to 20 conseewquarterly periods, but no later than Septen3@r2033. Any
deferred payments would accrue interest quartenlyaocompounded basis if SHI defers interest onJin@or
Subordinated Notes due September 30, 2033 (asileddrelow).

The sole assets of GPIC Trust consist of $10.3ianilprincipal amount of Junior Subordinated Notd (
“Junior Subordinated Notes”) issued by SHI. TheiduSubordinated Notes mature on September 30, 2083
interest is payable quarterly at three-month LIB@l&s 3.90%. At December 31, 2009 and 2008, thedstaates
were 4.15% and 5.33%, respectively. SHI may defgment of the interest for up to 20 consecutivertguky
periods, but no later than September 30, 2033. deferred payments would accrue interest quartenlyao
compounded basis. SHI may redeem the Junior Sutzded] Notes at any time after September 30, 2008rathe
event of certain changes in tax or investment compewv.

SALIC has guaranteed SHI's obligations under theiatuSubordinated Notes and distributions and other
payments due on the trust preferred securities.

Trust Preferred Securities Due 2034

On May 12, 2004, Scottish Holdings, Inc. Statutdryst Ill, a Connecticut statutory business tru§tapital
Trust 111") issued and sold in a private offering aggregate of $32 million Trust Preferred Secsitithe “2034
Trust Preferred Securities”). All of the common gsaof Capital Trust Il are owned by SHI.

The 2034 Trust Preferred Securities mature on 1un€034. They are redeemable in whole or in plaang
time after June 17, 2009. Interest is payable qugrat a rate equivalent to three-month LIBOR pBu80%. At
December 31, 2009 and 2008, the interest rate viEd@aland 5.23%, respectively. Prior to June 17920tierest
could not exceed 12.50%. Capital Trust Ill may dgfayment of the interest for up to 20 consecutjuarterly
periods, but no later than June 17, 2034. Any defepayments would accrue interest quarterly oorapounded
basis if SHI defers interest on the 2034 FloatiageRDebentures due June 17, 2034 (as described)belo
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The sole assets of Capital Trust Il consist of $@8ion principal amount of Floating Rate Debemsir(the
“2034 Floating Rate Debentures”) issued by SHI. 2684 Floating Rate Debentures mature on June(34 and
interest is payable quarterly at three-month LIBAIRs 3.80%. At December 31, 2009 and 2008 the estemate
was 4.05% and 5.23%, respectively. Prior to June20D9, interest could not exceed 12.50%. SHI meferd
payment of the interest for up to 20 consecutivartguly periods, but no later than June 17, 2034y deferred
payments would accrue interest quarterly on a camged basis. SHI may redeem the 2034 Floating Rate
Debentures at any time after June 17, 2009 artteievent of certain changes in tax or investmemypamy law.

SALIC has guaranteed SHI's obligations under thg42Bloating Rate Debentures and distributions ahero
payments due on the 2034 Trust Preferred Securities

Trust Preferred Securities Due 2034

On December 18, 2004, SFL Statutory Trust |, a Wafe statutory business trust (“SFL Trust I") isswnd
sold in a private offering an aggregate of $50 iomll Trust Preferred Securities (the “December 203dst
Preferred Securities”). All of the common sharesS&L Trust | are owned by Scottish Financial (Lukewnrg)
S.a.r.l (“SFL").

The December 2034 Trust Preferred Securities matui@ecember 15, 2034. They are redeemable in vdrole
in part at any time after December 15, 2009. listeiepayable quarterly at a rate equivalent ted¢fmonth LIBOR
plus 3.50%. At December 31, 2009, and 2008 therasterate was 3.75% and 4.93%, respectively. Roor
December 15, 2009, interest could not exceed 12.8Ph Trust | may defer payment of the interestuprto 20
consecutive quarterly periods, but no later thaodbeber 15, 2034. Any deferred payments would acirriggest
quarterly on a compounded basis if SFL defers ésteon the 2034 Floating Rate Debentures due Desefri)
2034 (as described below).

The sole assets of SFL Trust | consist of $51.9ianilprincipal amount of Floating Rate Debenturdse (
“December 2034 Floating Rate Debentures”) issue®bBly. The December 2034 Floating Rate Debenturdarma
on December 15, 2034 and interest is payable qliagethree-month LIBOR plus 3.50%. At Decembér 3009
and 2008 the interest rate was 3.75% and 4.93%ecésely. Prior to December 15, 2009, interest@¢oot exceed
12.50%. SFL may defer payment of the interest forta 20 consecutive quarterly periods, but no labemn
December 15, 2034. Any deferred payments wouldugcanterest quarterly on a compounded basis. SFL ma
redeem the December 2034 Floating Rate Debenttraayatime after December 15, 2009 and in the eeént
certain changes in tax or investment company law.

SALIC has guaranteed SFL'’s obligations under thedb@der 2034 Floating Rate Debentures and distabsiti
and other payments due on the December 2034 Trefdrked Securities.

Stingray

On January 12, 2005, SALIC entered into a put agess with the Stingray Investor Trust for an aggteg
value of $325 million, which put agreement relates$325 million aggregate stated amount of 5.90246sP
Through Certificates, with a final maturity of 2QliSsued by the Stingray Pass-Through Trust (tegetith the
Stingray Investor Trust, “Stingray”). Under thentes of the put agreement, we acquired an irrevecabt option to
issue funding agreements to the Stingray InvestastTin return for the assets in a portfolio of & commercial
paper.

Since April 14, 2008, the Stingray facility has bdally utilized and $325 million of funding agreemts have
been issued to the Stingray Investor Trust and iremastanding as of December 31, 2009. Fundsmidown on
the facility were included in interest sensitiventract liabilities on our Consolidated Balance $bee at December
31, 2008.
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On August 3, 2009, we began to acquire Pass-Thr@egtificates through a number of privately negetia
purchases. These purchases represented recotisitl@zents under FASB ASC 810-10. We used a dpasine
analysis in determining that the holder of the migjmf the Pass-Through Certificates would abstbdmajority of
the expected gains or losses of Stingray. As altre$ these acquisitions, by October 8, 2009, \ad hAcquired
Pass-Through Certificates with a stated amount1@®9$ million. This holding represented the majoof the
Pass-Through Certificates; therefore at that tilmedatermined we were the primary beneficiary ofi@ty and we
were required to consolidate Stingray in our cadsdéd financial statements. The consolidatiorstifigray has
been recorded in accordance with ASC 810-10, whécjuires us to recognize the assets acquired,ahdities
assumed, and any noncontrolling interest in Stiynatsthe acquisition date, measured at their falues as of that
date. We are also required to eliminate any iotenpany balances and transactions. The Stingragtste
included an interest rate swap, as a mechanisnchHarging interest to SALIC on the funding agreeraemt a
variable interest rate and paying interest to thesPThrough Certificate holders at a fixed ratee Titerest rate
swap is included in Other Assets at a fair valug28.9 million on our Consolidated Balance ShestatdDecember
31, 2009. Movements in the fair value of the ies¢rate swap are included in net realized andaliresl income
(losses) in the Consolidated Statements of Incoboss). The total assets and liabilities of Stingedyinitial
consolidation were $32.8 million and $52.1 millisaspectively. As a result of the initial consalidn of Stingray,
we recognized a gain of $248.9 million as follows.

(U.S. dollars in thousands)
Elimination of investment in Stingray Pass-Through

TTUSE. oot e e et e e et e e e e e r et nes $ (56,747)
Recognition of interest rate swap at fair valug.............cccceevvvveeevniiinnenn, 32,831
Recognition of outstanding Pass-Through Certifisate

AP VAU ... (52,128)
Elimination of liability to Stingray INvVestor TruSL..........c..c.coveeveeveceeeenenn 325,000

$ 248,956

On November 16, 2009, SALIC launched a cash temdr to purchase any and all of the remaining
outstanding Pass-Through Certificates. The teonffer was made to the holders (the "Holders") dfoalpart of
such Pass-Through Certificates not currently hglSBLIC or any of our affiliates upon the terms asubject to
the conditions set forth in the related Offer tadhase and Consent Solicitation, dated NovembeRQ69 ( the
"Offer to Purchase") and the related Consent antetef Transmittal, dated November 16, 2009 (thetter of
Transmittal” and, together with the Offer to Purebathe “Offer”). As of the date of the launchtlod Offer, $155.6
million in aggregate stated amount of Pass-ThroGgftificates were held by third party Holders ahdréfore
subject to the Offer.

In conjunction with the Offer, SALIC also solicitale consent of a requisite percentage of the Hisl{tbe
“Requisite Consents”) to proposed amendments t@ioeof the related transaction documents. TheiOffas not
conditional upon receipt of the Requisite Conseats] no separate consideration was offered or fmidhe
consents.

On December 15, 2009, the Offer was accepted bydthders of $57.3 million in aggregate stated aniain
Pass-Through Certificates. The Requisite Conseats not received. The acquisition of Pass-ThrdDgittificates
in the Offer resulted in an additional gain on adigkation of $4.9 million. The total gain on consiation for the
year ended December 31, 2009 was $253.8 million.

For further discussion on purchases of Pass-Thr@ggtificates subsequent to December 31, 2009Ns¢e
25, “Subsequent Events”.
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We have elected the fair value option under FASECASR5 in respect of the Pass-Through Certificadethé
Holders. We have elected this option as it wifleet more appropriately the value of the liabilay subsequent
reporting periods. The fair value as at Decemider2®09 of the outstanding Pass-Through Certifcételd by
third party Holders is $55.1 million (aggregatetesthamount - $98.3 million) and is included in lotlegm debt at
fair value in our Consolidated Balance Sheets. nGba in fair value will be reflected through eagsn The change
in fair value, for the year ended December 31, 2@d3he Pass-Through Certificates held by thirdyp&lolders
was a loss of $22.1 million. See Note 5, “FairdéaMeasurements”.

Premium Asset Trust Series 2004-4

On March 12, 2004, SALIC entered into an unsectueding agreement with the Premium Asset Trustfor
aggregate of $100 million (the “PATS”). The fundimagreement had a stated maturity of March 12, 2669
“PATS Maturity Date”) and accrued interest at seraf three-month LIBOR plus 0.922%, payable on artguly
basis. The amount due under this funding agreemastincluded under interest sensitive contrabilitees on the
Consolidated Balance Sheets.

During the first quarter of 2009, we extinguishpdmarily through negotiated repurchases, SALIGisecured
funding agreement payment obligation in respedhef PATS. The extinguishment of PATS securitieguaed
through negotiated repurchases and the settlenfetiteoremaining funding obligation in respect of BATS
securities not repurchased prior to the MaturityteDavere completed for a total consideration of $4@illion
compared to the $100 million par value of the PAT®nsequently, in accordance with FASB ASC Topif,86
Transfers and Servicing, which now incorporates SFAR0. 140, Accounting for Transfers and Servicing of
Financial Assets and Liabilities — A Replacement F§SB Statement 125we recorded a gain on the
extinguishment of the PATS debt of $53.5 millionthe first quarter of 2009. The funding agreememése
included in interest sensitive contract liabilitiasthe accompanying Consolidated Balance Shediee¢mber 31,
2008.

Deferral of Interest Payments on Floating Rate Cégdi Securities and Trust Preferred Securities

In order to further preserve liquidity, we begaredeng interest payments as of March 4, 2009 anfloating
rate capital securities and trust preferred saearissued and sold through certain statutorygrestablished by us.
These deferrals are permitted by the terms of tlentures governing the securities and have beele mathe
discretion of our Board to preserve liquidity. Asecember 31, 2009, we have accrued and defeagohent of
$6.0 million of interest on such securities. SHH 8ALIC are restricted in their ability to make idignd payments
in any period where interest payment obligationsh@se securities are not current.

For further discussion on the accrued and defepaganent on our floating rate capital securities &gt
preferred securities subsequent to December 3B, 28@ Note 25, “Subsequent Events”.

Credit Facilities
On November 30, 2006, SALIC and SRL entered inbmeyear, $5 million letter of credit facility withsingle
bank on a fully secured basis. This facility waseaded on October 31, 2007, to a term of two yeadsta a limit

of $15 million. On October 31, 2009, this faciliyas automatically renewed and remains in place camcelled
by either us or the bank. Outstanding lettersredlit for SALIC at December 31, 2009 and 2008 v#t®&,000.

12. Mezzanine Equity

On May 7, 2007, we completed the equity investmeansaction by MassMutual Capital Partners LLC
(“MassMutual Capital”), a member of the MassMutbBalancial Group, and SRGL Acquisition, LDC, an life of
Cerberus Capital Management, L.P. (“Cerberus”)panced by us on November 27, 2006 (the “2007 Nepit&la
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Transaction”). Pursuant to the 2007 New Capitadnfaction, MassMutual Capital and Cerberus inveated
aggregate $600 million in us in exchange for 1,000,in the aggregate newly issued Convertible Cativd
Participating Preferred Shares. The gross proceeds $600 million less $44.1 million in closingst®, which
resulted in aggregate net proceeds of $555.9 milli&ach Convertible Cumulative Participating Pnefé Share
has a par value of $0.01 per share with a liquithapreference of $600 per share, as adjusted fadedids or
distributions as described further below.

As of December 31, 2009, MassMutual Capital and&ers hold in the aggregate approximately 68.7%uof
equity voting power, along with the right to desagmtwo-thirds of the members of our Board.

The Convertible Cumulative Participating Prefer@ftares are convertible at the option of the holdeany
time, into an aggregate of 150,000,000 ordinaryeshaf SRGL. On the ninth anniversary of issue,Gonvertible
Cumulative Participating Preferred Shares autoralyiovill convert into an aggregate of 150,000,08@inary
shares if not previously converted. We are notuireqg at any time to redeem the Convertible Cunudat
Participating Preferred Shares for cash, excetitdrevent of a liquidation or a change-in-contrard.

We have accounted for the Convertible Cumulativeiépating Preferred Shares in accordance with BAS
ASC Subtopic 470-20, Debt — Debt with Conversiod &ther Options (“FASB 470-20"), which incorporatel§ F
D-98: “Classification and Measurement of Redeemdabdeurities”. Dividends on the Convertible Cumuwiati
Participating Preferred Shares are cumulative &edete daily on a non-compounding basis at a r®e25% per
annum on the stated value of $600 million. Dividemnly will be paid in a liquidation preferenceesario upon
our liquidation or change-in-control prior to thanthh anniversary. There have been no dividendsuaccin the
period as this scenario is not deemed probableisitime. As of December 31, 2009, the amountifidnds not
accrued pursuant to the terms of the Convertiblm@ative Participating Preferred Shares is $116IRom in the
aggregate, or $116 per share.

To the extent that the Convertible Cumulative Rartiting Preferred Shares participate on an aseroey
basis in dividends paid on ordinary shares, a spmeding reduction will be made to the liquidatfmeference for
the Convertible Cumulative Participating Prefer®dares. The Convertible Cumulative Participatimgfétred
Shares have a liquidation preference equal to #tefed value, as adjusted for (x) the accretiotivifiends and (y)
any cash payment or payment in property of dividead distributions. The holders of Convertible Quaive
Participating Preferred Shares may, among othengshi require us to redeem the Convertible Cumudativ
Participating Preferred Shares upon a change-itralon

Upon a change-in-control, the redemption pricenismount equal to the greater of (i) the statedevalf the
outstanding Convertible Cumulative Participatingf@rred Shares, plus an amount equal to the suall a€crued
dividends through the earlier of (A) the date ofmant of the consideration payable upon a changmiitrol, or
(B) the fifth anniversary of the issue date of @envertible Cumulative Participating Preferred ®isaior (ii) the
amount that the holder of the Convertible CumutatRarticipating Preferred Shares would have beétieento
receive with respect to such change-in-control ihad exercised its right to convert all or suchtipa of its
Convertible Cumulative Participating Preferred ®kafor ordinary shares immediately prior to theedat such
change-in-control.

The liquidation preference of the Convertible Cuative Participating Preferred Shares is not applecance
the Convertible Cumulative Participating Preferf&thres have been converted into ordinary sharedestsibed
above.

The Convertible Cumulative Participating Preferi®dares rank, with respect to payment of dividenas$ a
distribution of assets upon voluntary or involugtiquidation, dissolution or winding-up (a “Liquadion Event”):
(a) senior to our ordinary shares and to each aflass or series of our shares established by tlaedB the terms of
which do not expressly provide that such class aries ranks senior to or pari passu with the Cdibler
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Cumulative Participating Preferred Shares as torgey of dividends and distribution of assets upduigaidation
Event; (b) pari passu with each class or seriemioShares, the terms of which expressly provid¢ $hch class or
series ranks pari passu with the Convertible Cutiveld@articipating Preferred Shares as to paymédividends
and distribution of assets upon a Liquidation Eyvemmd (c) junior to each other class or series wf securities
outstanding as of the date of the completion of20@7 New Capital Transaction that ranks seniasuoordinary
shares, and to each class or series of our shheeterms of which expressly provide that suchsctasseries ranks
senior to the Convertible Cumulative ParticipatiPigferred Shares as to payment of dividends ardbdison of
assets upon a Liquidation Event and all classesinpreferred shares outstanding as of the coropletf the 2007
New Capital Transaction.

The Convertible Cumulative Participating Prefer@&dares conversion price ($4.00 per ordinary shaes
lower than the trading value of $4.66 of our ordjnshares on the date of issue. This discounbkas accounted
for as an embedded beneficial conversion featuacaordance with FASB ASC 470-20 which incorpordi€bF
98-5, “Accounting for Convertible Securities witheBeficial Conversion Features or Contingently Atibke
Conversion Ratios”, and EITF 00-27, “Application ¢dsue No. 98-5 to Certain Convertible Instruments”
Accordingly, the Company recognized a $120.8 mill@nbedded beneficial conversion feature, whiclhiced the
Convertible Cumulative Participating Preferred hmsue amount shown in Mezzanine Equity and isectdhe
amount of additional paid in capital. Under the@amting guidance above, we had the choice to tethe full
intrinsic value of the embedded beneficial convardeature out of retained earnings over the naga yerm of the
shares or immediately due to the ability of thedieo$ to convert at their option at any time. Gitles ability of the
holders to convert at any time, we elected to aedtee full intrinsic value of the embedded beriaficonversion
feature on the date of issue. As we did not haweratained earnings on the date of issue, the 8I2dlion
beneficial conversion feature was accreted outlditmnal paid in capital into Mezzanine Equity.

Pursuant to our Securities Purchase Agreementy dddgember 26, 2006 (the “Agreement”), with Massivait
Capital and Cerberus relating to the 2007 New @afitansaction, certain representations and waesntere
provided relating to our statutory accounting relsor As discussed in Note 21 “Commitments and @gaeticies”,
certain statutory accounting errors were discovare2D06 which have resulted in an indemnificatideim against
us, by MassMutual and Cerberus. Resolution ofdlisn could result in an adjustment to the coneergrice on
these securities.

13. Shareholders’ Deficit
NYSE Delisting and Securities and Exchange CommissDeregistration

Our ordinary shares (new symbol SKRRF — PINKS) patpbetual preferred shares (new symbol SKRUF —
PINKS) were delisted from the New York Stock Excharas of April 7, 2008, and, therefore, we havdunther
reporting obligations under Section 12(b) of theBiies Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the HErge
Act”). We also had fewer than 300 holders of relcof our securities as of January 1, 2008 and, Esualt, our
reporting obligations under Sections 13 and 15{dh® Exchange Act, were suspended. On May 133208 filed
a Form 15 indicating the suspension of our repgrtibligations. As a result of the foregoing, néhstanding the
occurrence of material developments (either pasitiv negative), we are not required to make fupugic filings.
Similarly, we no longer are required to issue pretsases as we have in the past.

Ordinary Shares
We are authorized to issue 590,000,000 ordinargeshaf par value $0.01 each.

No stock options were exercised during the yeade@mecember 31, 2009 and 2008. During the yededn
December 31, 2007, we issued 475 ordinary sharempoyees upon the exercise of stock options. Aeerfully
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described in Note 15 “Employee Benefit Plans”, ssued 388,313 ordinary shares to the holders tfatesl stock
awards on May 14, 2007. At December 31, 2009¢thvare 68,383,370 outstanding ordinary shares.

The following table summarizes the activity in candinary shares and non-cumulative Perpetual Rexfer
Shares during the years ended December 31, 2008,a@ 2007:

Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended
December 31, December 31, December 31,
2009 2008 2007
Ordinary shares
Beginning of year ... 68,383,370 68,388,37 60,554,104
Issuance to holders of HyCUs on conversion of
PUrChase CONLraCES........uvveeieiiieieeeeeeeeeeee e ees e - - 7,440,478
Issuance to holders of restricted stock awards............ - - 388,313
Ordinary shares issued .........ccccceeeeeeieeeeeeiieiiisiiiccienns - - -
Issuance to employees on exercise of options and
AWAITS ..ottt - - 475
ENG Of YEAI....ciiiiiiiiiii et 68,383,370 68,383,370 68,383,370
Non-cumulative Perpetual Preferred Shares
Beginning of Year ........ccccoe v et 5,000,000 5,000,000 5,000,000
Non-cumulative Perpetual Preferred Shares issued... - - -
[ oo [0 YT | U RRR 5,000,000 5,000,000 5,000,000

Perpetual Preferred Shares
We are authorized to issue 50,000,000 preferregtstud par value $0.01 each.

On June 28, 2005, we priced our offering of 5,000,on-cumulative Perpetual Preferred Shares (the
“Perpetual Preferred Shares”) and entered intorahpise agreement relating to the shares pursuamhith the
underwriters of the offering agreed to purchasestieres. Gross proceeds were $125 million andetlatpenses
were $4.6 million. Settlement of the net proceettuared on July 6, 2005.

Dividends on the Perpetual Preferred Shares arabpayn a non-cumulative basis at a rate per anofum
7.25% until the dividend payment date in July 20Thereafter, the dividend rate may be at a fixad determined
through remarketing of the Perpetual Preferred &htr specific periods of varying length not I#ssn six months
or may be at a floating rate reset quarterly basedh predefined set of interest rate benchmarksrind any
dividend period, unless the full dividends for therrent dividend period on all outstanding PerpeRizferred
Shares have been declared or paid, no dividend lsbgdaid or declared on our ordinary shares andrdmary
shares or other junior shares shall be purchaseéemed or otherwise acquired for consideratioaclddation of
dividends on the Perpetual Preferred Shares ishitett if we fail to meet specified capital adeguatet income or
shareholders’ equity levels.

The Perpetual Preferred Shares do not have a tyatiate and we are not required to redeem the shdrke
Perpetual Preferred Shares are not redeemabletpriody 2010. Subsequent to July 2010, the Peap&referred
Shares will be redeemable at our option, in whalengart, at a redemption price equal to $25.00gb&re, plus
any declared and unpaid dividends at the redemplide, without accumulation of any undeclared dinds. The
Perpetual Preferred Shares are unsecured and sndtertito all indebtedness that does not by itmderank pari
passu or junior to the Perpetual Preferred Shafdse holders of the Perpetual Preferred Shares havweoting
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rights except with respect to certain fundamentizinges in the terms of the Perpetual PreferredeStaard in the
case of certain dividend non-payments.

The Perpetual Preferred Shares ratings were withditay Standard & Poor’s, Moody's, Fitch Ratings and
A.M. Best Company in 2009 following our notificatido each of the rating agencies that we wouldomgér be
compensating the agencies for their maintenansedf ratings. See Note 20, “Rating Agencies”.

Warrants

In connection with our initial capitalization, wesued Class A Warrants to related parties to paeclzn
aggregate of 1,550,000 ordinary shares. The aggregasideration of $0.1 million paid for these Bl& Warrants
is reflected as additional paid-in capital. In cection with our initial public offering, we issueth aggregate of
1,300,000 Class A Warrants. All Class A Warramts exercisable at $15.00 per ordinary share, iralegmnounts
over a three-year period commencing November 188%apiring in November 2008.

During the year ended December 31, 2003, we is208d000 ordinary shares upon the exercise of Glass
Warrants. As at December 31, 2008, all Class A avdasr had expired (2007 — 2,650,000 Class A warnapte
outstanding).

Dividends on Ordinary Shares

The holders of the ordinary shares are entitle@¢eive dividends and are allowed one vote peres$atoject to
certain restrictions in our Memorandum and Artiadé#\ssociation.

On July 28, 2006, our Board suspended the dividenthe ordinary shares. All future payments of divids
are at the discretion of our Board and will depemd our income, capital requirements, insurance laggry
conditions, operating conditions and such othetofacas the Board may deem relevant. Notwithstandhe
foregoing, so long as any dividends remain outstenfom any prior dividend period on our PerpetBatferred
Shares, as discussed below, we generally are pegtlrom paying or declaring any dividend on thdimary
shares.

Dividends on Perpetual Preferred Shares

On April 14, 2008, we announced that, given ourenir financial condition, our Board in its discoetihad
decided not to declare a dividend on our PerpdRuelerred Shares for the April 15, 2008 dividengirpant date.
In addition, we announced that pursuant to theif@ete of Designations for our Perpetual Prefer&thres we
may be precluded from declaring and paying divideow the October 15, 2008 dividend payment dathdrevent
we did not meet certain financial tests under gmens of the Perpetual Preferred Shares requiredsféo pay such
dividends, which tests we subsequently did not rfaesuch dividend payment date. On July 3, 20h8,Board
determined that in light of our financial conditi@nd in accordance with the terms of the then antihg
forbearance agreements with the relevant countigpato the HSBC Il and Clearwater Re collateralafice
facilities, we would suspend the cash dividend tfee July 15, 2008 payment date. In addition, a&vipusly
indicated we were precluded from declaring and qgglividends on the October 15, 2008 dividend payrdate
as we did not meet the relevant financial testeutite terms of the Perpetual Preferred Shareacdardance with
the relevant financial tests under the terms ofRbepetual Preferred Shares, we were precluded dextaring and
paying dividends on the January 15, 2009, April 2809, July 15, 2009 and October 15, 2009 divideagiment
dates and did not declare and pay a dividend on dates. Nonpayment of dividends on July 15, 20@gked the
sixth dividend period for which dividends had neth declared and paid. Pursuant to the termsedTéntificate of
Designations related to the Perpetual PreferredeShthe holders of the Perpetual Preferred Staeesentitled to
elect two directors to our Board in the event divids on the Perpetual Preferred Shares have notdeetared and
paid for six or more dividend periods. For furtliéscussion on the non-declaration of Perpetudieed Shares
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dividends, see Note 25 “Subsequent Events”.

In accordance with the Certificate of Designatidngjre dividends on the Perpetual Preferred Shgeasrally
may be funded only to the extent they are payatebour distributable profits, and/or the proceed a new issue
of shares, and/or out of the Share Premium Accouit.December 31, 2009, we had a shareholderstitleff
$104.2 million and therefore lacked, and expeatdntinue to lack in the near to midterm, sufficieigtributable
profits to permit the funding of a dividend.

14. Reinsurance

Premiums Earned

Premiums earned are analyzed as follows for the gmded:

(U.S. dollars in thousands) December 31, 2009 December 31, 2008 December 31, 2007
Premiums assumed ..........cccevvveeeeeeeesiccmnee $ 763,190 $ 2,049,510 $ 2,131,584
Premiums ceded.........oovoveeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeens (311,390) (398,404) (358,196)
Premiums €arned ..........ccoceeeeeeeeeeseeeeeeeenns $ 451,800 $ 1,651,106 $ 1,773,388

Reinsurance agreements may provide for recaptghtsron the part of the ceding company. Recaptghdsr
permit the ceding company to reassume all or aqodf the risk formerly ceded to the reinsureeafin agreed-
upon period of time or in some cases due to chaimgéhe financial condition or ratings of the rainsr. Recapture
of business previously ceded does not affect prermineded prior to the recapture of such businagsywbuld
reduce premiums, claims and commissions in subseqeeiods.

Claims and Other Policy Benefits

Claims and other policy benefits are net of reiasue recoveries of $290.2 million, $374.8 milliods$241.4
million during the years ended December 31, 200982and 2007, respectively.

At December 31, 2009 and 2008, there were no reanse ceded receivables associated with a sinigisurer
with a carrying value in excess of 1% of total ésse

Sale of a Block of Life Reinsurance North AmericauBiness

We engaged in 2008 in a process to sell our ebtieeReinsurance North America Segment. In Oct&08,
the process led to exclusive negotiations withaspective buyer; however, a satisfactory transadtio the sale of
the entire Life Reinsurance North America Segmentlat not be reached, primarily as a result of tieohic
disruption in the financial markets. Thereafter,an effort to find ways to address our capitajuillity and
collateral needs and the concerns of regulatorqgsued the sale of a specific block of individiifel reinsurance
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in our North American business. These efforts dudited in the announcement on February 20, 2009wbaad
closed the transactions contemplated by the M#stset Purchase Agreement (the “Purchase Agreeméayt’and
among the Company, SHI, SRUS, SRLB and SRD (caliglgt the “Sellers”) with Hannover Re to sell abk of
individual life reinsurance business acquired i026rom the ING Companies, which block consisteidnprily of
term life reinsurance universal life with secondgoarantees, and yearly renewable term business'Attquired
Business”).

Pursuant to the Purchase Agreement, Hannover Rihgsed the Acquired Business, which was acquired in
2004 by us from the ING Companies. The AcquirediBess consists primarily of term life reinsurangeiversal
life with secondary guarantees, and yearly renesvédsim business. When we originally purchasedAiteuired
Business in 2004, the ING Companies reinsured thdividual life reinsurance business to us on @%0ndemnity
reinsurance basis. A large portion of such busiiredaded guaranteed level premium term life insgmthat was
subject to the Regulation XXX reserve requiremams universal life policies with secondary guarastsubject to
the “Regulation AXXX" reserve requirements. Undmir 2004 agreement with the ING Companies, the ING
Companies were obligated to maintain collateraltf@ Regulation XXX and AXXX reserve requiremenfstee
Acquired Business for the duration of such requéaets, and financial incentives were provided tooeinage us to
replace this financing with alternative third pafityancing. The Acquired Business does not inclodsiness ceded
by SRUS to Ballantyne Re as the reinsurance tréinsawith this special purpose reinsurance vehies novated
and assigned from SRUS to SLD effective Octobe2)8. However, the Acquired Business does inchinge
business recaptured from Ballantyne Re in conneotth a series of recaptures during 2008 in whHgRUS
recaptured business from Ballantyne Re, which lassirnthen was recaptured by SLD which in turn cetied
recaptured business to SLDI who ceded it to SRUB: (foregoing recaptures, collectively, the “Baliare
Recaptures”), as well as the business recapturedrinection with the unwind of our HSBC Il collakfinance
facility (together with the Ballantyne Recapturdse “ING Financings”). In connection with each thie ING
Financings, SLD ceded the applicable recapturethéss to SLDI, which ceded the recaptured busiteSRLB.
SLDI agreed to provide, or cause the provisionawe or more LOCs in order to provide SLD with staity
financial statement credit for the excess reseasgmciated with the recaptured business in regfettte ING
Financings. As partial consideration for eachhaf ING Financings, the Company agreed to bear dbts ©f the
LOCs by paying SLD a facility fee based on the faount of such LOCs outstanding. The cost ofeHe3Cs
was consistent with the pricing schedules from 2004 acquisition agreement with ING Companies, whs
schedule was amended on May 7, 2007. Upon cldkimdransactions contemplated by the Purchase Agnee
Hannover Re assumed the business related to theFiN&cings as part of the Acquired Business, dbagethe
obligation to pay the existing and any future iB&es in the related LOC fees.

In connection with the Purchase Agreement, the I&@@npanies and certain of the Sellers entered into
recapture agreements (and, in specific instancesations to Hannover Re of certain existing reinsge
agreements) with respect to the Acquired Busirmsd,the ING Companies and Hannover Re subsequemttyed
into new reinsurance agreements with respect té\tgeired Business immediately thereafter. Thesapture and
reinsurance transactions and the novations hadffactiee date of January 1, 2009. SRUS and SRLBaia
responsible for liabilities and obligations to Skhbd SLDI under their reinsurance agreements witbdlparties to
the extent attributable to periods prior to Januarg009.

The Purchase Agreement also related to the purcrabseale of certain assets used by the Sell@mninection
with their administration of the Acquired Busindtise “Transferred Assets”) and the transfer ofaiaremployees
from the Sellers to Hannover Re in connection théte Pursuant to the Purchase Agreement, theinéngalease
on SRUS’ Denver office location was assigned tortaer Re as was a portion of SRUS’ Charlotte offiamtion.
In addition, Hannover Re entered into an admirtisteaservices agreement with SRUS pursuant to wHighnover
Re administers the accepted and ceded mortalityndss retained by SRUS and its affiliates. Sirylddannover
Re entered into an administrative services agreeméh the ING Companies pursuant to which HannoRer
administers the Acquired Business and providesitedther administrative services to the ING Conipan
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In accordance with the Purchase Agreement, paymeerts made as follows: (i) the Sellers made recaptu
payments to the ING Companies in an aggregate ameguml to $1,325 million (adjusted for interim joer
earnings from January 1, 2009 to the date of aipsifii) the ING Companies made correspondingahitiremium
payments to Hannover Re, and (iii) Hannover Re naapgayment to the Sellers in respect of the TraresfeAssets
in an amount equal to $18 million.

Following the transfer of assets with respect ® ithcapture payments noted above, we were reladsait
associated policyholder liabilities on the saletaf Acquired Business as of the effective dateaofudry 1, 2009.
The release of such liabilities resulted in a pre-gain of $703.6 million, after transaction expenand related
costs. This gain was also subject to certain cgetigies, which have all been satisfied as at Deeeib, 2009. Of
the $703.6 million gain, $642.4 million, $59.8 nuh, $1.0 million, and $0.4 million were recogniziedthe first,
second, third and fourth quarters of 2009, respelsti This total gain is summarized as follows:

Statement of

(U.S. dollars in millions) Balance Sheet Operations
Transfer of investments ..., $ (1,468.7)
Release of reserve for future policy benefits......... 1,902.9
Decrease in accounts payable and other liabilities 1.7
Decrease in reinsurance balances and risk fees

receivable ... (6.3)
Decrease in reinsurance balances payable .......... 4.7
Increase in Other asSets ................c. s vereeveenenns 18.7
Decrease in claims and other policy benefits....... $ 453.0 $ 453.0
Decrease in accounts payable and other liabilities 275.5
Change in value of embedded derivatives............. $ 2755 275.5
Release in deferred acquisition COSLS ......uum. .o (24.9)
Acquisition costs and other insurance expenses,

Y= SO $ (24.9) (24.9)
Total pre-tax gain as at December 31, 2009......... $ 703.6

In connection with the Purchase Agreement, the GmmypHannover Re and the ING Companies agreedeto us
commercially reasonable efforts to transfer to Hesen Re certain retrocession agreements under wigchnd/or
the ING Companies ceded to third parties certaksrielated to the Acquired Business. If a ceramount of such
third party retrocessionaires did not consent tchswansfers prior to April 30, 2009, we were regdiunder the
Purchase Agreement to deposit into escrow with ide@nRe by May 14, 2009, a pro-rata amount rel&teslich
retrocession agreements for which consent had meh lobtained as of that date. Pursuant to the Bsech
Agreement, in the event none of the retrocessieaaionsented to transfer their agreements, thenmaxipotential
escrow funding amount was $136.3 million. In theerdvone or more retrocessionaire consents had eenh b
obtained by December 31, 2009, the related escumdsf would be released to Hannover Re. As of tkheoas
funding requirement date of May 14, 2009, the badawas $1.9 million. As of December 31, 2009, rémguired
escrow balance was reduced to $0 million and alheffunds have been released back to us.

This transaction resulted in a $49.8 milliacome tax expense due to an increase in ouatiafuallowance.

The increased valuation allowance was because g@hlmining deferred tax liabilities did not suppdne tfull
recoverability of our deferred tax assets. SeeN@t “Quarterly Financial Data”.
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401(k) Plan

We sponsor a 401(k) plan in the United States inclwtemployee contributions on a pre-tax basis are
supplemented by matching contributions. Theserituions are invested, at the election of the eypé, in one
or more investment portfolios. Expenses for thé& (KD plan amounted to $0.5 million, $1.5 millionda$2.8
million, in the years ended December 31, 2009, 20082007, respectively.

Stock Based Incentive Compensation Plans
2007 Stock Option Plan

On July 18, 2007, our shareholders approved angtaddhe Scottish Re Group Limited 2007 Stock Optio
Plan (“2007 Plan”). The 2007 Plan provides for glianting of stock options to our eligible employedirectors
and consultants. The total number of our sharesrved and available for issuance under the 200% Rla
18,000,000. The exercise price of stock optionstgghunder the 2007 Plan is the fair market vafusuo ordinary
shares on the date of grant and such options expireyears after the date of grant, or such shqréeiod as
determined by the Compensation Committee of ourr@ad Directors (unless earlier exercised or teated
pursuant to the terms of the 2007 Plan).

Options issued under the 2007 Plan vest as follows:

» 50% of an option grant to an employee or consulasts based on the recipient’s continued employmen
with us (“Time-Based Options”). 20% of the Timedgd Options vest on the grant date and an additiona
20% vest in four equal installments on each offitst, second, third and fourth anniversary of grant
date, based on continued employment. The Timed@g#ions are exercisable upon vesting.

* 50% of an option grant to an employee or consultasts based on the achievement of certain perfurena
targets as established by the Board with respecedch relevant fiscal year (“Performance-Based
Options”). 10% of the Performance-Based Optiorst f@lowing the close of each of the five fiscalays
following the grant date, subject to our attainmefrtthe performance targets established by the Bwaéth
respect to the relevant fiscal year. In additib®% of the Performance-Based Options vest follovirg
close of each of the five fiscal years following thrant date, subject to the recipient’s respedivision’s
or segment’s attainment of the performance targstablished by the Board with respect to the releva
fiscal year. Although the Performance-Based Ogtioray vest, they do not become exercisable urgil th
end of the fifth fiscal year following May 7, 200@rovided, however, that if we achieved an “A-"ingtor
better from Standard & Poor’s or AM Best within leigen (18) months following the closing of the 2007
New Capital Transaction, all Performance-Based dpgtiwith regard to fiscal years 2007 and 2008 would
fully vest and become exercisable. We did not etigs ratings goal within the 18 month period.

* 100% of options granted to directors vest on tlamgdate and are exercisable.

Upon a change of control (as defined in the 20@hRIto the extent not previously cancelled ordibed, all
Time-Based Options and Performance-Based Optiorenie 100% vested and exercisable.

As of December 31, 2009, we had 4,706,592 optiatstanding of which 4,274,592 options are exerdésab
As of December 31, 2008, we had 6,260,417 optiotstanding of which 4,356,250 options were exeldésa
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Valuation of Options in 2007 Plan

Stock options are accounted for in accordance wABB ASC 718. The fair value of each option awisrd
estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Bshoption-pricing model, which uses the assumptiooted in
the following table.

. Expected dividend yield We suspended dividends on ordinary shares on J8ly2R06.
Consequently, we have assumed 0% for the expedtiekid yield.

. Expected volatility- The expected volatility is a measure of the amhdiynwhich a price has
fluctuated and is expected to fluctuate during dopeof time. The expected volatility of our
stock is based on historical volatility.

. Expected term The expected term represents the anticipated anwfuithe between the grant
date of the option and the exercise date or caatmal date based on historical data.

. Risk free interest rateFhe risk-free interest rate at the expected terth@fption is based on the
U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect at the timegodnt

Non-cash compensation expense incurred for stotikrapfor the years ended December 31, 2009, 2608 a
2007 was $0.7 million, $2 million and $11.1 milliorespectively. Non-cash compensation expense riedior
restricted stock options for the years ended Deeer@b, 2009, 2008 and 2007 was $0 million, $0 ovilland $6.3
million, respectively. We recognize compensatiosts for stock options based on the vesting sckediescribed
above. A portion of the Time Based Options vestmadiately and the remainder are earned evenly theer
requisite service period. The Performance Baseib@pare earned evenly over the period from tlamtgdate to
vesting date. There was no tax benefit duringytfee ended December 31, 2009.

As of December 31, 2009 and 2008, there was $lllibmand $3.7 million, respectively of total uncemized
compensation costs related to stock options. Thests are expected to be recognized over a pefiag to five
years or immediately upon a change in control. Upahange in control, all stock options will immetgily vest.

16. Income Taxes

For the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2@0have income tax expense (benefit) from coirim
operations, by jurisdiction, as follows:

Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended
December 31, December 31, December 31,
(U.S. dollars in thousands) 2009 2008 2007
Current tax (benefit) expense:
U.S it $ (8,088) $ - $ 5,441
Ireland.......ceeeeevieieeeeee e, - - (4,079)
Other NON-U.S. ....coceeeeiieeieceeeveeeemeenas - 43 5,967
Total current tax (benefit) expense.........cu.. (8,088) 43 7,329
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Deferred tax expense (benefit):

U.Se oo eeeem e 49,838 (9,957) (6R)

Ireland.......ceeeeeeiiieeeeee e, (861) (2,566) 3,936

Other NON-U.S. ..coooviieiiieeee e 8,642 5,644 97
Total deferred tax expense (benefit)............... 57,619 (6,879) (164,588)
Total worldwide tax expense (benefit) ........... $ 49531  § (6,836) % (157,259)

The weighted average expected tax provision has baleulated using the pre-tax accounting incorossilin
each jurisdiction multiplied by that jurisdiction@pplicable statutory tax rate. Reconciliationtioé difference
between the provision for income taxes and the @rpletax provision at the weighted average taxfatthe years
December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007 is provided below:

Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended

December 31, December 31, December 31,
(U.S. dollars in thousands) 2009 2008 2007
Pre-tax income (I0SS) ......ccccoevevveveveeeeeeennne $ 2,355,574 $ (2,676,007) $ (1,026,017)
Expected tax provision at weighted average rate 196,629 (609,994) (210,857)
Change in valuation allowance.............. o (147,580) 617,973 65,677
Intercompany note cancellation..............c. - (6,154) (48,846)
Other and State taXes...........cocovevvevcemeeeerernn. 482 (8,661) 36,767
Total tax expense (Denefit) ......cccovvvvvvceeeer. P 49,531 $ (6,836) $  (157,259)

We are not subject to income taxation other thasta®d above. There can be no assurance thatvifiermt
be changes in applicable laws, regulations or iggatvhich might require us to change the way weraig or
become subject to taxes. At December 31, 20028608, we had tax operating loss carry forwardsuinld.S. and
Irish entities, as presented in the table below.

U.S. Life & Irish Irish Special
Non-Life Operating Purpose
(U.S. dollars in thousands) Groups Company Vehicles Total
Operating loss carry forwards available at
December 31, 2008..........ccceevverimmmnnnn. $ 357,089 $ 433,475 $ 1,812,709 $ 2,603,273

Operating losses from 2008 attributable to
Ballantyne Re .......ccoovvviiiiiiiiiiiiiiie, - - (1,496,139) (1,496,139)
Operating losses accrued during 2009....... 236,699 90,486 7,238 334,423

Operating loss carry forwards available at
December 31, 2009..........cocoeereeremrmennen. $ 593788 $ 523961 $ 323808 $ 1,441,557

Deferred tax asset for operating losses,

before valuation allowance,
at December 31, 2009 ........cccoveeeieeeeam, $ 203,121 % 65,495 $ 80,952 $ 349,568

The operating loss carry forwards in our U.S. egiwill expire, if not utilized, in years 2021 tlugh 2029.
The operating loss carry forwards in our Irish i benefit from an unlimited carry forward periodhese net
operating loss carry forwards resulted primaritynircurrent operations of SRUS, SRLC, SHI, SRD, @ykRe and
Orkney Re Il.
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At December 31, 2008, we had an alternative minintaxncredit carry forward of approximately $8.6 lroih.
As a result of new tax legislation in the US, thenfpany is able to recover the alternative minimamrelated to
this credit. Therefore, the alternative minimum taedit carry forward is currently an income tacaverable.
There are no foreign tax credit carry forwards. abidition, at December 31, 2009, the Company rexbrah
additional $4.0 million withholding tax liability.

During 2009, the Company did not incur or recorg applicable deferred tax expense attributableht® t
undistributed earnings of its subsidiaries. Ashsuat December 31, 2009, we provided deferred takemy,
related to all the undistributed earnings of itbsidiaries. Our U.S. subsidiaries are subjedetteral, state and
local corporate income taxes and other taxes agipécto U.S. corporations. Upon distribution of remt or
accumulated earnings and profits in the form ofd#imds or otherwise from our U.S. subsidiariesgpwe would
be subject to U.S. withholding taxes at a 30% ra&ugnificant components of our deferred tax asaatsliabilities
as of December 31, 2009 and 2008, all of whicteasigside of our home country, were as follows:

December 31, December 31,

(U.S. dollars in thousands) 2009 2008
Deferred tax asset
Net operating losses (net of FASB ASC 740-10 awcti@®382) ................... $ 349,568 $ 629,854
Reserves for future policy benefits ........ccceeeeiiiiiiiiiiiiiii s 217 48,456
Unrealized depreciation on investments/Other teampbrary impairments ... 152,320 227,667
INtANGIDIE ASSELS.....cce it i it e+ e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e ea e 4,272 5,205
Alternative minimum tax credit............ooieeeeeeiiiiiiiie e - 8,580
Capital 0ss carryforwards ............oooecieeeeee e 2,111 10,543
Collateral finance facilities costs 5,623 5,565
Surplus note accrual...............cc...... 10,594 7,759
Embedded deriVatiVES............oooiiiiiii oo 7,623 3,489
(@1 o= SRRSO USROS 6,840 11,485
Total deferred taX @SSt .........c.cviveirmeeeeeeereete et 539,168 958,603
Deferred tax liability
Deferred acquIiSition COSTS.....uiiviiiiiiiiiccce e (43,302) (47,062)
Reserves for future policy benefits .........ccoceciiiii, (140,459) -
Present value of IN-fOrCe ........ooooi i (13,027) (13,636)
(0713 1=Y TR (1,746) (2,652)
Total deferred tax ability .............coooi e (198,534) (63,350)
Net deferred tax asset before valuation allowance............ccccccovviiiiiniinnen. 340,634 895,253
VAlUAHON AIIOWANCE ... e et e e et ee e ee e e e e eeeeaeeesee e (386,855) (892,413)
Net deferred tax (liability) ASSEL ..........commeerrerrrreeeeeeeeseeeeee e, $ (46.221) $ 2,840

Certain errors in the 2008 net deferred tax assenitory balance were corrected, which resulteahimcrease
to deferred tax asset of $62.0 million, a decreasdeferred tax liability of $14.1 million, and amcrease to the
valuation allowance of $76.1 million. The errorrretions had no impact to the Company’s net losd a
shareholders’ deficit as of December 31, 2008, beeahe increase in net deferred tax asset wastdifs a
corresponding increase to the valuation allowance.

At December 31, 2008, we had a valuation allowaofc$892.4 million established against our defertax
assets, after the above mentioned errors weredegorThis amount represents an increase of $7liamover the
valuation allowance reported in the financial staats as at December 31, 2008, as a result ofatimme to the
deferred inventory discussed above. We currentlyige a valuation allowance against deferred &sets when it
is more likely than not that some portion, or afi,our deferred tax assets will not be realizedur @aluation
allowance decreased by approximately $505.6 millioring the year ended December 31, 2009, to $3&6li@an.
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The reasons for the decrease are $366.0 milliorspect of the de-consolidation of Ballantyne Re29%5 million
as a result of the release of reserves due toalbeo$ the Acquired Business to Hannover Re and1$dfllion as a
result of other changes in net deferred tax assé&tse de-consolidation of Ballantyne Re did nopatt income tax
expense because of a corresponding reduction ingheperating losses deferred tax assets. Theyen@re losses
generated in the U.S. and Irish entities for whichcurrent period benefit is being recognized.

We have maintained a full valuation allowance agiaamy remaining deferred tax asset in the U.S.laatand,
given our inability to rely on future taxable incentax projections and the scheduling of our curdsferred tax
liabilities.

Section 382 Event

The investments made by MassMutual Capital and €asbon May 7, 2007 qualified as a change in ovniers
under Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Codeti®@e382 operates to limit the future deductiomef operating
losses that were in existence as of the changaviteship. As a result of this limitation, we wratéf $142.6
million in 2007 of net operating losses that wel Ww# unable to utilize prior to expiration with pest to our U.S.
entities. Because we had previously establisheglumtion allowance against these net operatingesthere was
not a significant tax expense associated with 8e@&82 limitations.

FASB ASC Subtopic 740-10, Income Taxes — Overadirfierly FIN 48)

On January 1, 2007, we adopted FASB ASC Subtofel®} Income Taxes — Overall (“FASB ASC 740-10"),
which incorporates what was formerly FIN 48. Agesult of the implementation of FASB ASC 740-10, we
recorded a net decrease to our beginning retaiasdngs of $18.0 million reflecting the establismhef a FASB
ASC 740-10 liability of $75.3 million (excluding @viously recognized liabilities of $6.5 million ardcluding
interest and penalties of $8.9 million) offset b$%7.3 million reduction of our existing valuatialowance. At
December 31, 2008, we had total unrecognized tarflie (excluding interest and penalties) of $16%Wilion, the
recognition of which would result in a $16.9 milidenefit to the effective tax rate. The stawftdimitations
expired for the 2005 U.S. federal income tax yednich resulted in a reduction of our unrecognized lienefits in
the amount of $37.4 million. At December 31, 20@8,had total unrecognized tax benefits (excludimegrest and
penalties) of $132.2 million, the recognition ofiafhwould result in a $20.6 million benefit at thifective tax rate.
The decrease in the total unrecognized tax berief2909 was due to the removal of the BallantyeeHRSB ASC
740-10 reserve and statute of limitations expiratié some positions. The decrease in the totacagnized tax
benefits in 2008 was due to the statute of linotadiexpiration on some positions.

The following is a roll-forward of our FASB ASC 74 unrecognized tax benefits from January 1, 2008
December 31, 2009:

December 31, December 31,

(U.S. dollars in thousands) 2009 2008
Total unrecognized tax benefits at beginning of yea.......... $ 167,864 $ 187,142
Gross amount of decreases for prior year’s taxtiposi......... (22,000) (1,882)
Gross amount of increases for current year's taxipa ........ 1,737 4,549
Reductions due to lapse of statutes of limitation................ (15,354) (21,945)
Total unrecognized tax benefits at end of year................... 132,247 167,864
Unrecognized tax benefits that, if recognized, widalvorably

impact the effective tax rate............ccoeeeeeiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiee $ 20,639 $ 16920
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Interest and penalties (not included in the “ungeiped tax benefits” above) are a component ofpibstion
for income taxes.

December 31, December 31, December 31,

(U.S. dollars in thousands) 2009 2008 2007

Total interest & penalties in the Consolidated Ba&aSheets

at beginning of year ........ccccccoi it $ 16,640 $ 13,281 $ 9,238
Total interest and penalties in the Consolidatede®tents of

INCOME (LOSS) wvvvveveeiveeiteecteeeteevesmmmmmn e sreeeteesteesteestesessneeans 2,802 3,359 4,043
Total interest & penalties in the Consolidated Ra&Sheets

at end Of YEAI......uvviiiiieieeiieee e $ 19442 $ 16,640 $ 137281

It is reasonably possible that significant charnigebe gross balance of unrecognized tax benefitg atcur in
the next 12 months due to tax years closing bectgsstatutes of limitations have expired. Thesungnized tax
benefits are expected to decrease by $16.0 milid2010 as a result of additional statutes of Etiins expiring,
and, an additional tax liability amount of up tgpagximately $35.9 million as a result of an unadfiéd third party
U.S. tax court ruling in 2010. For further disdosson this, see Note 25, “Subsequent Events”.

We file our tax returns as prescribed by the taxslaf the jurisdictions in which we operate. AsDEcember
31, 2009, we remained subject to examination irfahewing major tax jurisdictions for the yeardinated below:

Major Tax Jurisdictions Open Years
u.s.
Life GroUP «ooveeeeeeeeeee e 2006 through 2009
NON-Life GroUp ....ccccceeiiiiiiiieeieeeee et 2006 through 2009
Ireland ........vvviiiiiieiiiiiie e 2005 through 2009

17. Earnings per Ordinary Share

Basic earnings per share is computed based ondlyhted average number of ordinary shares outstgratid
assumes an allocation of net income to Converiitlenulative Participating Preferred Shares for teega or
portion of the period that this security is outstay. Losses are not allocated to Convertible Qatiue
Participating Preferred Shares. Under the prorssiof FASB ASC Topic 260, Earnings per Share (“FASBC
2607"), formerly SFAS No. 128, basic earnings pearshare computed by dividing the net loss attribletao
ordinary shareholders by the weighted average nuwibghares of our ordinary shares outstandingterperiod.
Diluted earnings per share is calculated basedemeighted average number of ordinary sharesamdsig plus
the diluted effect of potential ordinary shareaatordance with the if-converted method. In acancé with FASB
ASC 260, the exercise of options and warrants avexsion of convertible securities is not assumadss it would
reduce earnings per share or increase loss pex.shar

The following table sets forth the computatbf basic and diluted earnings per ordinary shader the two-

class method and the if-converted method, respagtias required under FASB ASC 260 which incorpes&ITF
No. 03-06, “Participating Securities and the Twas3l Method under FASB Statement No. 128".
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December 31,

(U.S. dollars in thousands, except share data) 2009

December 31,

2008

December 31,

2007

Basic income (loss) from continuing operations
attributable to ordinary shareholders

Numerator:

Income (loss) from continuing operations......... $ 2,305,341
Amounts allocable to convertible cumulative
participating preferred shares........................ (33,226)

$ (2,667,316)

$

(869,419)

Numerator for basic income (loss) from
continuing operations per ordinary share....... $ 2,272,115

$

(2,667,316)

(869,419)

Denominator:
Denominator for basic income (loss) per ordinary
share - weighted average number of
ordinary Shares .........cccoeeevveeeeeeeeeieeieece e 68,383,370

68,383,370

67,303,066

Basic income (loss) from continuing operations
attributable to ordinary shareholders............. $ 33.23

$

(39.00)

(12.92)

Diluted income (loss) attributable to ordinary
shareholders

Numerator:
Numerator for diluted income (loss) from
continuing operations attributable to ordinary
Shareholders. ...........ccoeveveeerueeeeeeeeeeeeeeeans $ 2,305,341

$

(2,667,316)

(869,419)

Denominator:
Denominator for basic income (loss) per ordinary
share - weighted average number of
ordinary shares ..., 68,383,370

Effect of dilutive Securities*.........cocveovceeeeveeeeenn. 150,000,000

68,383,370

67,303,066

Denominator for dilutive income (loss) per
Ordinary Sare .........ccooevveveeeeee v e eve e, 218,383,370

68,383,370

67,303,066

Diluted income (loss) from continuing operations
attributable to ordinary shareholders............. $ 10.56

$

(39.00)

(12.92)

Key:

* In accordance with FASB ASC 260, exercise of opsi and warrants or conversion of convertible sgesiis
not assumed if the result would be anti-dilutiveclsas when a loss from continuing operationspsnted. As
a result, if there is a loss from continuing opierad, such as during year ended December 31, 2002607,
diluted EPS is computed in the same manner as BE&&%& Due to the anti-dilutive effect on EPS, dioclks
options (which are convertible into 4,706,592 oadjnshares) potentially could dilute EPS in thefet

18. Business Products

With the sale of the Wealth Management business lafed Reinsurance International Segment in 2008,
together with the sale of the Acquired Busineseun Life Reinsurance North America segment in ih& fjuarter
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of 2009, operating decisions and performance asgrgsof the Company is now performed without refeesto
any separate segments. Accordingly, we do noteptemformation about distinct operating segmeiats the
periods after January 1, 2009.

Revenues from transactions with a single exterastiamer did not amount to 10% or more of our reesnu

The following table summarizes the net premiumsedrfor Life Reinsurance North America by product
offering for the years ended December 31, 20098 20l 2007.

Financial
(U.S. dollars in millions) Traditional Solutions Total
Year Ended December 31, 2009 .............commneennnnnnnns $ 4450 $ 6.8 $ 451.8
Year Ended December 31, 2008 ..............commmmmeeneernnns $ 1,626.0 $ 25.1 $ 1,651.1
Year Ended December 31, 2007 ........ovuvrrmeeneeeeens $ 1,737.2 $ 36.2 $ 1,773.4

19. Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)
Quarterly financial data for the year ended Decerie 2009 is as follows:

Quarter Ended

March 31,
December 31, September 30, June 30, 2009
2009 2009 2009 (Restated)

(U.S. dollars in thousands, except share data)

TOtaAl TEVENUE .....veveiereete et eeee e $ 436,555 $ 352,875 $ 317,815 $ 1,518,609
Income from continuing operations before

income taxes and noncontrolling interest .......... $ 261,025 $ 203,850 $ 178,434 $ 1,712,265
Income tax benefit (EXPENSE) ........cevvveeceeeeerennne. $ 3,470 $ (1,050) $ (1,009) $ (50,942)
Net income attributable to ordinary shareholders... $ 264,994 $ 201,890 % 176,874 $ 1,661,583
Basic income per ordinary share.............ccoceevennen. $ 382 % 291 % 255 % 23.95
Diluted income per ordinary share.........cceceewevee.. . $ 122 % 092 $ 081 % 7.61
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During the fourth quarter of 2009, we identified arror in the tax accounting following the sale thé
Acquired Business to Hannover Re of $49.8 millimpresenting deferred tax liabilities that reveidowing the
expiration of net operating losses in applicablgsglictions. This represents an error understatimgpme tax
expense as of March 31, 2009. We have therefstatesl the income statement and earnings per ahayants in
the first quarter to reflect the increase in incameexpense of $49.8 million.

Quarterly financial data for the year ended Decerie 2008 is as follows:

Quarter Ended

December 31, September 30, June 30, March 31,
2008 2008 2008 2008

(U.S. dollars in thousands, except share data)
TOtaAl TEVENUE ...t $ (67,309) $ (33,150) $ 214,226 $ (169,053)
Loss from continuing operations before income

taxes and noncontrolling interest..........oomm.... & (794,181) $  (738,688) $ (415,081) $ (728,057)
Income (loss) on discontinued operations, net of

Felated tAXES ......ceeeeeeeereeceeeeee e ceeeeee e e, - $ 8,776  $ (62,177) $ 400
Net loss attributable to ordinary shareholders...... $ (795,179) $ (713,878) $ (465970) $ (735,290)
Basic and diluted loss per ordinary share............ $ (11.63) $ (10.44) % (6.81) $ (10.75)

Computations of results per share for each quareemade independently of results per share foyehe. Due
to rounding and transactions affecting the weiglaeerage number of shares outstanding in eachegqu#ite sum
of the quarterly results per share does not eqsailts per share for the year.

20. Rating Agencies

As discussed elsewhere herein, our finarstiehgth ratings and the financial strength ratimfgsur subsidiaries
were lowered on several occasions since 2007, avithsulting material negative impact on our abildyachieve
our previous goal of attaining an “A-" or betteting by the middle of 2009. Ratings at such lewa$® previously
triggered the vesting of contractual recapturetsdgh respect of certain of our reinsurance busirzesl resulted in
the increase to a maximum “stepped up” rate ofgeiguarantor fees in respect of the securitizadtounctures used
to finance the Regulation XXX statutory reserveuisgments associated with business ceded by SR¢Sdio of
Orkney Re and Orkney Re Il. In light of the foregpand our pursuit of a run-off strategy for oemaining
business, among other factors, we determined thatoMonger would utilize capital for the paymehtatings fees
to maintain the financial strength and other ratifay us and our operating subsidiaries at sucbidevAccordingly,
we notified each of the rating agencies in 2009 the no longer will be compensating the agenciasttieir
maintenance of such ratings.

Following this communication, on June 4, 2009, 8td & Poor’'s Corporation (“S&P”), affirmed and the
subsequently withdrew the “CC” counterparty credting of SRGL, the “C” rating of SRGL’s Perpetirieferred
Shares, and the “CCC-" counterparty credit andrfina strength ratings of SALIC. At the same ting%P
affrmed and then withdrew the “R” counterparty diteand financial strength ratings of SRUS, the ©C
counterparty credit and financial strength ratinfisScottish Re Life Corporation and the “CCC-" sgnsecured
rating of the Pass-Through Certificates.
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On June 12, 2009, A.M. Best Company Iné&.Nt. Best”) affirmed and then withdrew the financgrength
ratings and issuer credit ratings of SALIC, Scattige Life Corporation and Orkney Re. At the samet A.M.
Best affirmed and then withdrew our issuer crediing and the rating of our Perpetual Preferredé&has well as
our indicative ratings of senior unsecured debhosdinated debt and preferred stock. SRUS’ fingnsirength
rating of “E” (Under Regulatory Supervision) andusr credit rating of “rs” was unchanged.

On June 22, 2009, Fitch Ratings (“Fitch”) downgrhdbee issuer default rating of SRGL to “CC” from
“CCC"and then withdrew its rating of SRGL. At tlsame time, Fitch affirmed and then withdrew theuies
financial strength rating of SRUS. Fitch also hdthdrawn the insurer financial strength ratingSALIC and the
rating of the Pass-Through Certificates and th@&tenl Preferred Shares. As such, Fitch has vétkdrall of our
ratings and no longer will provide analytical coage in respect of us and our affiliates.

On August 18, 2009, Moody's downgraded the insugdimancial strength ratings of SALIC to “Ca” frot@”
and SRUS to “Ba3” from “Bal”, before withdrawingthaatings. At the same time, Moody’'s downgradetGa”
from “C” and then withdrew the senior secured mtof the Pass-Through Certificates and our predesteck
rating.
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Class Action and Shareholder Derivative Lawsuits

On August 2, 2006, a putative class action lawsmai filed against SRGL and certain of its curram géormer
officers and directors in the U.S. District Cowt the Southern District of New York on behalf opatative class
consisting of investors who purchased SRGL's plpliaded securities between December 16, 2005Jahd28,
2006. Between August 7, 2006 and October 3, 268&rsadditional related class action lawsuits Viiézd against
SRGL, certain of its current and former officersl alirectors, and certain third parties.

On October 12, 2006, all of the class actions veemresolidated. On December 4, 2006, a consolidatss c
action complaint was filed.

The consolidated complaint which was brought onalfebf a putative class consisting of investors who
purchased SRGL’s securities between February 105 aéd July 31, 2006, alleged violations of varieestions of
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amendetiyding section 10(b), and various rules and sestiof the
Securities Act of 1933, as amended. The complaingist an unspecified amount of damages, as welihes forms
of relief. SRGL and its former officers and dimst named in the complaint reached agreement ntipte with
the plaintiffs on August 1, 2008 to settle the laitus On September 8, 2008, the court entered dergreliminarily
approving the proposed settlement. In connectibh thie settlement, which formally was approvedhwy court on
December 11, 2008, SRGL contributed $31 millionyich $5.8 million was paid by SRGL on Octobe2008,
and the remaining $25.3 million was paid by SRGhssirance carriers.

Indemnification

In connection with an examination of the statutancounting books of certain of our operating insuea
subsidiaries, and specifically, the purchase adiogentries made in connection with the 2004 asitjan of the
ING business, we determined that certain intercampaceivables and intercompany claims were ndéctfd in
the statutory financial statements of SRUS and $iRBccordance with applicable statutory accounpragtices.
Management determined that as a result of thesesdire statutory surplus for SRD was overstated ommulative
basis at year end 2004, 2005 and 2006, resultirrgrizstated statutory surplus at year end 200 mfoximately
$285 million after giving effect to these correciso

In addition, management determined that the statworplus for SRUS was understated on a cumuldasis
at year end 2005 and 2006, resulting in a reststedtory surplus at year end 2006 of approximab8g4 million
after giving effect to these corrections.

The restated statutory surplus of each of SRUS SR® met the applicable minimum statutory surplus
requirements at December 31, 2006. None of theseeations impact our historical consolidated ficiah
statements under U.S. GAAP.

Pursuant to the Agreement with MassMutual Capitad £erberus, we made certain representations and
warranties regarding the statutory financial statets of each of our insurance subsidiaries, inoydRD and
SRUS, for the years ended 2003, 2004 and 2005vétidrespect to SRUS but not SRD, the first threarters of
2006, including that these statements were prepareginformity with applicable statutory accountimgctices and
fairly present in accordance with such practicaesall material respects, the statutory financiahdition of the
relevant insurance subsidiary at the respectivesdatn light of our discovery of the correctioressdribed above,
we have notified MassMutual Capital and Cerberasgeguired by the terms of the Agreement, of thergtatement
of statutory surplus in SRD at year end 2004 amduhderstatement of such statutory surplus at gedr2005
resulting in a cumulative overstatement for the ywar period at year end 2005 of approximately $illlon on an
after-tax basis, and the understatement of statsianplus in SRUS for the year ended 2005 of agprately $14.5
million on an after-tax basis. On November 16, 20@assMutual Capital and Cerberus responded hfyimag us
of their concern that the corrections describedvalimay constitute breaches of certain of the remtasions and
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warranties made by us in the Agreement. UndeAtreement, in the event of a claim for losses tesylfrom a
diminution in value, such losses would be deterohibg an independent investment banking firm of oval
reputation, agreed upon by us and MassMutual Qaguiih Cerberus, based on changes in the valuafi®@RGL
using the assumptions and models used by MassMGayaital and Cerberus at the time of their decisomvest
in us. Furthermore, should any claim for indenwaifion be made by MassMutual Capital and Cerbehss,
Agreement provides that any decision regardingrdbfegy or settling such claim will be taken by a coittee of
independent directors of our Board of Directors.tHeir November 16, 2007 correspondence, MassNM@apital
and Cerberus requested that we convene a committadependent directors. No action has since balen by us
or the Investors in respect of this claim. At ttilme, we do not know what the amount of any indifiaisle losses
would be, if any, or what potential defenses oreotimitations on indemnification may be availabbeus under
those circumstances. The Agreement provides thairalemnification claim would be satisfied by astjng the
conversion amount at which the Convertible CumuéatParticipating Preferred Shares issued to Massallut
Capital and Cerberus are convertible into our Gudirshares.

Lease Commitments
We lease office space in the countries in which asaduct business under operating leases that eapire
various dates through 2016. Total rent expense mgipect to these operating leases for the yealesdedecember

31, 2009, 2008 and 2007 was approximately $1.4amjl$2.7 million and $3.1 million, respectively.

Future minimum lease payments under the leasesxpezted to be:

(U.S. dollars in thousands) Gross Lease Sublease Net Lease
Year ending December 31, Payments Rentals Payments
2010 1859 % (250) % 1,608
2011 1,759 (433) 1632
2012 1,458 (568) 890
2013 1,256 (585) 671
2014 1,294 (603) 691
Thereafter 2,705 (1,260) 1,445
Total future lease commitments .............coo.. 10331 (3,699) $ 6,631

The operating lease for our former Denviiic® was sold as part of the sale of the AcquiBagsiness to
Hannover Re in 2009. As at December 31, 2009%ele operating leases for our Charlotte, Dublin Bedmuda
offices.

In December 31, 2009, we entered into & aperating lease in Charlotte. The new leaseesgeat is for
three years (through 2012) with the option to rerfewa further four years (through 2016). Our keas the
previous Charlotte office remains in place and duasterminate until 2016. We have negotiated swbleases in
respect of this property which reduce the assatigasehold commitment for this office. The fisstblease is
committed through March 2011, and includes extensjations but has no renewal obligation. The sécublease
commences in January 2010 and expires in 2016.rérhainder of the lease commitment on the previzherlotte
office not covered by the subleases is still bdmpeis and is included in the figures above.

Concentrations of Credit Risk

The creditworthiness of a counter party is evaldidg us, taking into account credit ratings asdgigog rating
agencies. The credit approval process involvessaassment of factors including, among others, tuaterparty,
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country and industry credit exposure limits. Cafal may be required, at our discretion, on certeansactions
based on the creditworthiness of the counterparty.

The areas where significant concentrations of tmégk may exist include amounts recoverable fremsurers
and reinsurance balances receivable (collectivejnsurance assets”), investments and cash andecpshalent
balances. A credit exposure exists with respectittsurance assets as they may become uncolledfitldenanage
our credit risk in our reinsurance relationshipstiaynsacting with reinsurers that we consider faially sound, and
if necessary, we may hold collateral in the formfafds, trust accounts and/or irrevocable lettdrsredit. This
collateral can be drawn on for amounts that remaipaid beyond specified time periods on an indigideinsurer
basis.

Indemnification of Our Directors, Officers, Employes and Agents

We indemnify our directors, officers, employees aggnts against any action, suit or proceeding,tiveine
civil, criminal, administrative or investigative bngason of the fact that they are our directorceffi employee or
agent, as provided in our articles of associatl®ince this indemnity generally is not subject tmitation with
respect to duration or amount, we do not belieat ithis possible to determine the maximum potém@tmount due
under this indemnity in the future.

22.  Statutory Requirements and Dividend Restttions
Statutory Requirements for Non U.S. Subsidiaries

Our insurance and reinsurance subsidiaries arecity insurance laws and regulations in the jisigzhs in
which they operate which include Bermuda, Caymhe, Wnited States, and Ireland. Certain of theselagigns
include restrictions that limit the amount of dieitds or other distributions, such as loans or @ablances,
available to shareholders without prior approvalla insurance regulatory authorities. The diffieee between
financial statements prepared for insurance regufaauthorities and statements prepared in accosdaith U.S.
GAAP vary by jurisdiction; however the primary d@ifénce is that financial statements prepared foresosurance
regulatory authorities do not reflect DAC, limitettamount of deferred income tax net assets, limitisallow
certain intangible assets and, establishes resdovemvested assets and calculate benefit reseyedefined
formulaic process.

Our Bermuda insurance companies are required tataiaia minimum capital of $0.25 million. There am@
statutory restrictions on the payment of dividefrdsn retained earnings by any of the Bermuda sudnsés as the
minimum statutory capital and surplus requirememéssatisfied by the share capital and additioa#-m capital
of each of the Bermuda subsidiaries.

Under The Insurance Law of the Cayman Islands, EAmust maintain a minimum net capital worth of %0.2
million. There are no statutory restrictions or ghayment of dividends from retained earnings by ahthe
Cayman subsidiaries as the minimum statutory claguit surplus requirements are satisfied by theestepital and
additional paid-in capital of each of the Caymahsidiaries.

SRD is required by the Irish Financial Services Watpry Authority (“IFSRA”) to maintain a minimunevel
of paid up share capital. IFRSA has put certairtri@®ns in place on the ability of SRD to makevidend
payments from profits available for distributiontmin the meaning of the Companies (Amendment) 2883. On
July 15, 2006, Statutory Instrument 380 of 2006édpmsed into Irish law European Union Council Dtinex
2005/68/EC. The Directive establishes a regulategime for reinsurance organizations and definesimim
requirements for certain liabilities, assets bagkimese liabilities and surplus. As at December28D9, SRD had
solvency margin of 232%.
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SALIC is a party to a net worth maintenance agregmeéth SRD, pursuant to which SALIC effectively
guarantees SRD’s regulatory solvency. In the fogrtarter of 2008, IFSRA notified the Company ttatrective
action needed to be taken with respect to SRD’sesaly calculations primarily as a result of marketue
degradation in respect of the assets SRD heldgpatibusiness ceded to it from SRUS and othetsddiffiliates.
In response, the Company effectuated a transfarnodjority of its business in SRD to SALIC, effeetiOctober 1,
2008, SALIC, in return received modified coinsurarassets with respect to certain of the ING Busimegginally
ceded to SRD and the residual interests in resmeadit trust assets with respect to business ailyireded from
SRUS to SRD. Absent the October 1, 2008 trans$éy,.IC’s obligations under the net worth maintenance
agreement would have been triggered and the Comipaaty would have needed to seek bankruptcy ptaiac A
significant portion of the business transferredrfrSRD to SALIC was included in the Acquired Busmssld to
Hannover Re. In connection with the closing of tfensactions contemplated by the Purchase Agretewién
Hannover Re, the remaining business at SRD waptwea from SRD or transferred to SALIC. Effecti®etober
1, 2009, SRD entered into a reinsurance agreem#émSRUS pursuant to which SRD has reinsured fré&t'S the
liabilities related to a certain block of reinsucarbusiness previously ceded by SRUS to SRD poitihe October
1, 2008 transfer.

Statutory Requirements for U.S. Subsidiaries

Our United States subsidiaries file financial stedats prepared in accordance with statutory acamgnt
practices prescribed or permitted by the Departmé&xtcept as otherwise noted in the statutory firerstatements
of SRUS, the Department adheres to National Astoniaf Insurance Commissioners (the “NAIC”) riskded
capital (“RBC") requirements for Delaware domiciléf and health insurance companies. As of Decenitie
2009 and 2008, SRUS, SRLC and Orkney Re exceetledramum RBC requirements on a Delaware basis. The
maximum amount of dividends that can be paid by SRBRLC and Orkney Re (Delaware domiciled insurance
companies) without prior approval of the State tasge Commissioner (the “Commissioner”) is subjert
restrictions relating to statutory surplus and afieg earnings. The maximum dividend payment thay tive made
without prior approval is limited to the greatertbe net gain from operations for the preceding y#al0% of
statutory surplus as of December 31 of the pregeg@ar not exceeding earned surplus. The applicsthtetory
provisions only permit an insurer to pay a shar@dotlividend from unassigned surplus. SRUS, SRL&C@irkney
Re cannot pay dividends in 2010 without prior appt@f the Commissioner.

The following table presents, for each of our Uensurance subsidiaries, the statutory capitalsamglus as
of December 31, 2009 and 2008, and the statutdrgar@ed income (loss) for the years ended DeceB1he2009,
2008 and 2007. The amounts shown in the tabletterge reflected in each company’s most recent tetgtu
financial statement filings with insurance regutato The 2008 comparables have been updated &ctéfe re-
filing of our statutory financial statements in M2§09.

Statutory Capital & Surplus Statutory Net Earned Income (Loss)
(U.S. dollars in thousands) 2009 2008 2009 2008 2007
Scottish Re (U.S.), Inc............... $ 233,684 $ 167,348 $ 123,149 $ (125,301) $ (389,86
Scottish Re Life Corporatian..... $ 72,808 $ 57,577 $ (4102) $ (19,4050 % 7,396
Orkney Re, INC......ccvvvveeeeennn. $ 912,852  $ 727,890 $ 14,116 $ (185630) $ (55,286)

During 2009, our U.S. reinsurance subsidiaries satbftatement of Statutory Accounting Principles Bi® —
Revised (“SSAP 43R"). SSAP 43R permitted insueanompanies to revise their methodology for recaydi
impairments of structured securities. As a resfilagopting SSAP 43R, we recorded an increase tplusiifor
cumulative effect changes of adoption of accountirigcipal of $57.7 million, $158.6 million and $#1million for
SRUS, SRLC and Orkney Re respectively.
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The company action level risk based capital pesgnat December 31, 2009 as filed with regulatar¥arch
19, 2010 for SRUS, SRLC and Orkney Re was 320%%R&and 2,094%, respectively. The 2009 U.S. statutory
filings are subject to audit and consequently magiibject to further negative or positive adjustisien

All other regulated insurance entities are in egcektheir minimum regulatory capital requiremeats of
December 31, 2009.

SRUS

The statutory financial statements of SRUS aregmtesl on the basis of accounting practices presatrdy
permitted by the Department.

The Department recognizes only statutory accounpinactices prescribed or permitted by the State for
determining and reporting the financial conditiondaresults of operations of an insurance company fan
determining its solvency under Delaware Insuranae.L The AP&P Manual has been adopted as a compofien
prescribed or permitted practices by the State

The Company historically has obtained credit fomsarance on its statutory financial statements for
reinsurance ceded to each of Orkney Re, and ceatdis non-U.S. affiliated reinsurers (each a “f@gbReinsurer”
and, collectively, the “Subject Reinsurers”) to #went of the fair market value of eligible setigs held in the
qualifying reserve credit trust account establishgeach respective Subject Reinsurer, for theusied benefit of
the Company pursuant to and in accordance withvileka Insurance Regulation §1003 (Credit for Reimsce)
(each such eligible security meeting the requirdmen subsection 9.1.2 thereof an “Eligible Sagurand each
such trust account, a “Trust Account”).

In connection with the filing of its statutory finaial statement for the period ending SeptembeR808, the
Company requested and received approval for PednRractice from the Department. In connectiorh white
receipt by SRUS of the Permitted Practice in [@@8 SRUS consented to the issuance of the Ordgupérvision.
Specifically, the Company has received permissiotake as a reduction from liability the reinsumceded by the
Company to each Subject Reinsurer in an amountouput not greater than the specific obligations arnthe
reinsurance agreements with such Subject Reinshatrthe respective Trust Account was establislesleture,
provided that:

1. The original book value of all Eligible Secig# on deposit in the applicable Trust Account (isbook
value to be determined at the time such securitiese deposited to such Trust Account) is, when
combined with any cash on deposit therein, not thas the specific obligations related to such Trus
Account; and

2. The current fair market value of cash and Bl@iSecurities held in the applicable Trust Accasmiot less
than the specific obligations related to such TAistount calculated using the Commissioners Stahdar
Ordinary mortality basis (2001 CSO) for new iss@@®mulgated under Delaware Insurance Regulation
81213 and effective for use in the State as ofdiani, 2004); and

3. The appointed actuary opines that sufficiemteelence exists to demonstrate that such 2001 CS@ality
basis provides reasonable margin relative to ezpee.

In the event any one or more of the foregoing cim (each a “Condition”) is not met, the reductfoom
liability for reinsurance ceded by the Companyfte applicable Subject Reinsurer will be reducedibyamount
equal to the absolute value of the shortfall résglfrom application of the specific Condition fai to be met (or if
more than one Condition is not met, applicatiothefspecific Condition that results in the greasbstrtfall).
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On February 17, 2009, citing, among other thingsntcurrent economic conditions and the uncertahtye
conditions that lay ahead, the Commissioner issuredmergency order amending Delaware Insurancel&&gu
81215 relating to Recognition of Preferred Mortalitables for use in Determining Minimum Reservebiliies
(the “Preferred Mortality Table Emergency Regulatjoand an emergency order amending Delaware Insera
Regulation 81212 relating to Valuation of Life Imaoce Policies (the “X-Factor Emergency Regulaticenid
together with the Preferred Mortality Table Regolat the “Emergency Regulations”). Generally, fheferred
Mortality Table Emergency Regulation allows, upeneipt of the Commissioner’s approval, use of 19@12CSO
Preferred Class Structure Mortality Table as thaimiim valuation standard for policies issued af@nuary 1,
2004. In connection with the Preferred Mortalitable Emergency Regulation, the Company sought and,
February 26, 2009, obtained the Department’s agpriov use of the 2001 CSO Preferred Class StradWortality
Table in accordance with such Emergency Regulatidre X-Factor Emergency Regulation relaxes existing
constraints related to the X-factor assumptionsl irs¢he calculation of statutory reserves.

The Emergency Regulations by their terms becanectfe for valuations on and after December 31,8200
The Emergency Regulations were adopted into laveyant to the Delaware Administrative Procedures dxct
September 1, 2009. Similar regulations were adbptethe NAIC during the 2009 Fall National Meetiagd as
such, the Emergency Regulations no longer are dere a prescribed practice.

A reconciliation of net income (loss) and capitatiasurplus per the Permitted Practice and Prestitractice
(Emergency Regulation) and NAIC prescribed resegrais of December 31, 2009 and December 31, 20k8viol

December 31, 2009
Statutory Net Earned Statutory Capital

(U.S. dollars in thousands) Income (Loss) & Surplus

Financial statements - Delaware basis ..... $ , 1428 $ 233,684
Permitted increase in reserve credit ......... - (152,568)
Financial statements — NAIC basis .......... $ 123,149 $ 81,116

December 31, 2008
Statutory Net Earned Statutory Capital

(U.S. dollars in thousands) Income (Loss) & Surplus

Financial statements - Delaware basis ..... $ 5,3m) $ 167,348
Permitted increase in reserve credit ......... - (197,206)
Permitted mortality table........................ - (43,206)
Prescribed increase in reserve credit........ - (146,662)
Financial statements — NAIC basis .......... $ (125,301) $  (219,726)

SRLC

SRLC did not utilize any permitted or prescribedgtices during and as of the years ended Decenih&089
and 2008.

Orkney Re
Orkney Re is a Special Purpose Captive Insuraneep@ny under the laws of the State of Delaware.surRunt
to its Certificate of Authority issued by the Deaent, Orkney Re establishes and maintains itsrresein

accordance with U.S. GAAP rather than the statutesgrves prescribed by the NAIC Accounting Prastiand
Procedures Manual.
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A reconciliation of net income and capital and fusper the permitted practice established by tedifitate
of Authority and NAIC prescribed reserving as oftBmber 31, 2009 and 2008 follows:

December 31, 2009
Statutory Net Earned  Statutory Capital &

(U.S. dollars in thousands) Income (Loss) Surplus
Financial statements - Delaware basis ..... $ 14,116 $ 912,852
Permitted valuation basis adjustment....... (57,940) (890,898)
Financial statements — NAIC basis .......... $ (43,824) $ 21,954

December 31, 2008
Statutory Net Earned  Statutory Capital &

(U.S. dollars in thousands) Income (Loss) Surplus

Financial statements - Delaware basis ..... $ 6HE5 % 727,890

Permitted valuation basis adjustment....... (81,903) (832,957)

Financial statements — NAIC basis .......... $ (267,533) $ (105,067)
23. Related Party Transactions

In connection with the 2007 New Capital Tsaction on May 7, 2007, MassMutual Capital and €erb hold
in the aggregate approximately 68.7% of our equiiing power at December 31, 2008, along with tightrto
designate two-thirds of the members of our BoarDiodctors.

We incurred $38,238 and $348,650 for legal fees @mbulting fees associated with Cerberus for ey
ended December 31, 2009 and 2008, respectivelgo il connection with the 2007 New Capital Trarisactwe
paid fees totaling $2.6 million to Ableco FinanceQ, a related party of Cerberus, for an interimmtéoan facility
put in place on March 9, 2007 and terminated on Wa3007.

For the year ended December 31, 2009 and 2008ad/@temiums earned of $15.1 million and $118. lioml
respectively with MassMutual Capital. As of Dec&mnB1, 2009 we had a net payable to MassMutualt&lagpi
$9.6 million (as compared to $5.7 million in 2008).

We incurred $15,000 and $244,000 for Board of Doetees payable to Babson Capital Management la.C,
subsidiary of MassMutual Capital for the years ehBecember 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively.

We also incurred $0.4 million and $0.2 million fmvestment management fees payable to Babson Capita
Management LLC for the years ended December 319 206 2008, respectively. The investment managefaesa
incurred in 2008 related to assets held in Cleaw@e. The investment management fees incurre@08 2elated
to the appointment, in the fourth quarter of 208fBabson Capital Management LLC as investment iganfor all
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our invested assets, excluding investments heldsdnuritization structures and certain company thcec
investments

For as long as the Cypress Entities in the aggeelganeficially own at least 2.5% of our outstandwaging
shares on a fully diluted basis, they will be deditto designate at least one individual for etettio the Board of
Directors. The Cypress Entities owned collectivl$% of our outstanding voting shares on a fullytdd basis as
at December 31, 2009 and 2008.

Included in Other Investments are $3.7 million &4d7 million at December 31, 2009 and 2008 respelgti
for Investment in Cypress Sharpridge Investments, Wwhich is an affiliate of the Cypress EntitiBsiring the year
ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, we rec&@et million, $0.4 million and $1 million in divehd
income from our investment in Cypress Sharpridge.

We have been informed by Cerberus that fiag# of Cerberus acquired from one or more uitiatéd third
parties $700 million in aggregate principal amoofithe Orkney Notes in 2009. None of the Comp#@nkney |,
Orkney Re or any of our other subsidiaries werarypo this purchase. No terms of the Orkney Nateany of
the underlying transaction documents were changedrasult of this purchase.

24. Discontinued Operations
Disposal of Wealth Management Business

On July 11, 2008, the sale of the Wealth Managerbasiness closed with respect to Scottish Annuitlit
Insurance Company (Bermuda) Ltd. and Scottish AgntiiLife International Insurance Company (Bermudé].,
and on August 5, 2008, the transaction closed wefipect to The Scottish Annuity Company (Caymand) L¥We
generated proceeds of $9.3 million and recognizeet foss of $4.9 million on this sale.

Disposal of Life Reinsurance International Segment

On July 18, 2008, Pacific Life Insurance Compangataeded the purchase of Scottish Re Holdings Lithi#ed
the U.K. portion of the Life Reinsurance InternaibSegment for $67.1 million after purchase padgistments of
$4.1 million. The purchase of the Asia portiontleé Life Reinsurance International Segment was d¢eteg on
August 20, 2008, for an additional payment by Radiffe Insurance Company of $0.5 million. We reded an
aggregate loss of $31 million on these transactioriscal year 2008. Pre-sale, the Life Reinsoeamternational
Segment incurred a loss from operations of appratéiy $7 million. Additionally, in March 2009, tH&ingapore
branch was closed and $6.1 million of capital wetamed to SALIC.
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The following table presents the assets and ligdsliheld for sale for the Life Reinsurance Intéiovel
Segment and the Wealth Management business ascefiiber 31, 2007:

As of
December 31,
(U.S. dollars in thousands) 2007
Fixed maturity investments, trading at fair value..............cccccoooo oo $ 189,124
Cash and cash eqUIVAIENTS ..........cooi oot ieeeeeee e 68,598
OtNEr INVESIMENES ..uuviiiii ettt e e e e e e e et e e e e erb e e e e eeeeens 6
FUNds WIthNEIH At INTEIEST.......uveeeeie et e e e e e e e s (68)
TOtaAl INVESTMENTS ....oeiiiiiiiee ettt e e e e e e e e e et e e e eebe b e bbb e aeresbanannses 257,660
Accrued INtErest reCEIVADIE ..........uvuii ittt 3,219
Reinsurance balances and risk fees receivable..........cccooeiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiicic e, 119,835
Deferred acqUISItION COSES ...ttt e e e e e 39,634
Amount recoverable frOM FEINSUIEIS ... eeteieeeiie e s eena e e e e eva s 29,519
Present value of IN-fOrCe DUSINESS ... .. cceeemiiiii et 3,701
(@] 1 LT =TT =] £ TR RORRPRTRRR 10,471
Current iNCOME taX rECEIVADIE .............i oottt e e 104
Deferred tax lability..........coooiiii i eeee e 2,045
SEQIEUAEU ASSELS .......eviivieeieeieie et ettt et e te ettt et et e et et et e e et e eteeteeteemete e e naeateans 703,945
TOtal ASSELS NEIA FOF SAIE ... vi ettt et ettt et ee e e et e eeerae s $ 1,170,133
Reserves for future policy benefits ..., $ 226,112
Accounts payable and other liabilities ..., 14,585
Reinsurance balances payable ... 37,233
Segregated HADIIILIES .............cc.iiuiiieeeee ettt em e eaeaaeas 703,945
Total Liabilities held fOr SAIE ..............comeiveveeeeeeeeeieeeeeeeeeeeeee e eeseesee s s $ 981,875

The above activity affected the 2008 ctidated financial statements. There were no diSoaad operations
in 2009.

25. Subsequent Events

The subsequent events disclosed in these notes wohsolidated financial statements have beemuateal by
Company management up to and including the filihthe financial statements on April 30, 2010.

Deferral of Interest Payments on Floating Rate Cégi Securities and Trust Preferred Securities

Subsequent to December 31, 2009, we hasmiedt and deferred payment of an additional $1l6omiof
interest on our floating rate capital securitied st preferred securities. As of April 30, 20%& have accrued
and deferred payment on a total of $7.6 milliomnbdérest.

Non-declaration of Perpetual Preferred Shares Dieitds

In accordance with the relevant financiatdeunder the terms of the Perpetual PreferredeShave were
precluded from declaring and paying dividends @anJanuary 15, 2010 and April 15, 2010 dividend paytndates.
As discussed in Note 13, “Shareholders’ Deficitig tholders of the Perpetual Preferred Shares amntio be
entitled to elect two directors of SRGL's Boardaasesult of dividends on the Perpetual Preferreaté&hhaving not
been declared and paid for six or more dividendbpler This right has not been exercised to date.
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Stingray

Subsequent to December 31, 2009, we acquired fivat@ly negotiated transaction an additional $1@8illion
of aggregate stated amount of Pass-Through Ceaittiic As of April 30, 2010, $80.2 million in aggate stated
amount of outstanding Pass-Through Certificatesweld by third party Holders. This transactiotl wot result
in an additional gain or loss on the consolidatibthe funding arrangement.

Orkney Re I

On the scheduled interest payment dateebfuary 11, 2010, Orkney Re Il was unable to makeduled
interest payments on the Series A-1 Notes. AsaltteAssured made guarantee payments on the SefieNotes
in the amount of $0.7 million.

Orkney Re

As discussed in Note 10, “Collateral Finafeeilities and Securitization Structur@skney Re, Inc. Notices of
Default’, on September 21, 2009, MBIA served a notice &fadlt under the restructuring agreement to Orkrey
Orkney | and SRUS, alleging failure to provide MBWth an actuarial review in accordance with thent of the
restructuring agreement. Such alleged failureabse not cured within five business days of sudiceowould
constitute an event of default under the Orkneyraisce Agreement if ultimately determined to bestadit under
the restructuring agreement. As of the date herdnef parties are in the process of negotiatingtidesnent
agreement related to such event of default.

On February 22, 2010, MBIA served Orkney Re&ney | and SRUS with notices of default underheafcthe
Orkney | indenture and the Orkney Insurance Agre¥nadleging failure by the parties to provide eértrequired
financial statements and other documents requioetdet delivered under these transaction docume®RUS
subsequently caused such documents to be delivéteih the applicable cure periods and, as of thte chereof,
there is no event of default resulting from suctices of default.

Income Taxes

As a result of a recent U.S. tax court rulmegpting to an unaffiliated third party (Contain€orporation v.
Commissioner, 134 T.C. 5 (2010)), we have recomsii®ur position in respect of an uncertain taxitpos and
evaluated the implications of the ruling in accoma with FASB ASC 740-10. We have concluded thatwill
release a tax liability of up to approximately $8iillion in the first quarter of 2010. The releasill occur in the
first quarter of 2010 because tGentainer Corporatiorruling had not occurred at December 31, 2009.

81






